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END NOTES — PAPERBACK EDITION
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
1. Heinrich Bennecke, Hitler und die SA (Giinter Olzog Verlag, Munich, 1962), p. 23.
Hitler’s comment reported in: Joachim C. Fest, Hitler (Weidenfeld and Nicolson,
London, 1974), p. 468.
2. Height and build as a young man: 15 December 1906, Meyer Oberst u.
Regimentskommandeur and others, “Dienst-Zeugnis fiir den Fahnenjunker/i
Unteroffizier Ernst Julius Giinther R6hm der 2. Kompagnie K.10.Infanterie Regiment
Prinz Ludwig”, and “Personalbogen”, p. 1, both in BHSA/KA OP32380. R6hms
struggle with his weight can be seen in his photographs. He was concerned about his
weight, noting that he lost 14 kilos while in Bolivia: 27 July 1929, Ernst R6hm, La
Paz, to Emilie Rohm, R6hm family papers, p. 2. His resemblance to Oliver Hardy
noted: 20 April 1934, Peterborough, “Day by Day: Roehm and Hardy”, The Daily
Telegraph, press clipping, BAK Zsg. 117/435.
3. Descriptions taken from photographs. Green eyes: Alfonso Crespo Rodas, Hernando
Siles, el poder y su angustia (Empresa Editora Siglo, La Paz, 1985), p. 240. The only
color drawing available also shows R6hm’s green eyes. He dressed like a respectable
bourgeois: 25 November 1933, “Stabschef Ernst R6hm vor seinem Wahllokal in
Miinchen am 12. Nov. 1933. Links vom Stabschef seine Mutter.”, Illustrierter
Beobachter, press clipping, BHSA/V Slg P 3653. A smoker: Ernst R6hm, Die
Geschichte eines Hochverriters (Franz Eher Verlag, Munich, 1928), p. 86. Several

photos show him with cigars in hand.
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4. Rohm as representative of “second” revolution: Konrad Heiden, Der Fuehrer:
Hitler’s Rise to Power (Victor Gollancz Ltd., London, 1944), pp. 575, 577, Fest,
Hitler, pp. 450-1. More recent support for this view: George C. Browder,
Foundations of the Nazi Police State: The Formation of Sipo and SD (The University
Press of Kentucky, Lexington, 1990), pp. 81, 138.
5. Conan Fischer, “Ernst Julius R6hm — Stabschef der SA und unentbehrlicher
AuBenseiter” in Ronald Smelser and Rainer Zitelmann (eds), Die braune Elite: 22
biographische Skizzen (Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft, Darmstadt, 1989), pp.
212-22. Rohm as soldier in politics: Heiden, Der Fuehrer, pp. 28-31; Fest, Hitler, pp.
127-8, 473: Joachim C. Fest, “Ernst Rohm and the Lost Generation”, The Face of the
Third Reich (Penguin, Harmondsworth, 1972), pp. 209, 211-12; Peter Longerich, Die
braunen Bataillone: Geschichte der SA (Verlag C.H. Beck, Munich, 1989), pp. 15-22.
Mabire also sees R6hm as marginal despite his being a National Socialist of the first
hour: Jean Mabire, Rohm I”homme qui inventa Hitler (Fayard, Paris, 1983), p. 162.
6. “The man who invented Hitler”: Mabire, R6hm 1”homme qui inventa Hitler.
7. Rohm and attitudes to homosexuality: Burkhard Jellonnek, Homosexuelle unter dem
Hakenkreuz: Die Verfolgung von Homosexuellen im Dritten Reich (Ferdinand
Schoningh, Paderborn, 1990), Ch. 5; Lothar Machtan, Hitlers Geheimnis: Das
Doppelleben eines Diktators (Alexander Fest Verlag, Berlin, 2001), Chs 3 and 5. See
also Suzanne zur Nieden, “Aufstieg und Fall des virilen Méannerhelden: Der Skandal
um Ernst Rohm und seine Ermordung”, Suzanne zur Nieden (ed.), Homosexualitét
und Staatsrdson, Méannlichkeit, Homophobie und Politik in Deutschland 1900-1945
(Campus Verlag, Frankfurt a.M., 2005), pp. 147-92.



181
8. Lack of interest in biography among German historians: lan Kershaw, Hitler 1889-
1936: Hubris (Allen Lane The Penguin Press, London, 1998), pp. xi-xii. Charismatic
leadership as concept for understanding Hitler: Kershaw, Hitler, pp. xxvi-xxvii.
9. Seizure of R6hm’s papers: 16 July 1934, Dr. Erich O. Trutter to the Amtsgericht
Miinchen Nachlassgericht, SAM Amtsgericht Miinchen Nr. 1934/1767, p. 1. Possibly
destroyed 1945: discussions with Dr. Reinhard Weber, Staatsarchiv Miinchen.
10. Few books have been written with greater candor: Ernst Rohm, Geschichte eines
Hochverraters, p. 326. On the autobiography and the changes made in various
editions: Heinrich Bennecke, “Die Memoiren des Ernst Rohm: Ein Vergleich der
verschiedenen Ausgaben und Auflagen”, Politische Studien, 14/1, 1963, pp. 179-88.
11. Ian Kershaw, The Nazi Dictatorship: Problems and Perspectives of Interpretation
(fourth edition, Arnold, London, 2000), p. 5.
CHAPTER 2: THE MAKING OF A YOUNG OFFICER 1887-1914
1. Ernst Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 11.
2. On Ernst R6hm’s birth time and date: advice from Frau Richter-Nachtigal,
Evangelische Kirche Registeramt, Munich, in conversation on 10 September 1997; 25
February 1929, Ernst Rohm, La Paz, Bolivia to Dr Heimsoth, in Dr Helmuth Klotz,
Drei Briefe Ernst R6hms an Dr. Heimsoth, Berlin (Dr. H. Klotz, Berlin, 1932), BAK
Sammlung Schumacher 402, p. 7. Julius R6hm was born on 8 July 1847 in
Langenzenn near Nuremberg: “Familien-Bogen” and “Steuerliste R6hm, Josef Julius
Guido u. Emilie”, Stadtarchiv Miinchen PME R 139/140; advice from Frau Richter-
Nachtigal, Evangelische Kirche Registeramt, Munich, 10 September 1997. Another

official document describes Julius R6hm as born in Nuremberg and Emilie R6hm as
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born in Windsheim: “Legitimation”, Stadtarchiv Miinchen PME R 139/140. Emilie
R6hm was born on 15 December 1857 in Wunsiedel in the Fichtegebirge in northern
Bavaria: J.S., “Zum 15. Dezember Eine deutsche Frau und Mutter feiert ihren 76.
Geburtstag”, Volkischer Beobachter, Nr. 349, 15 December 1933, press clipping in
BHSA/V Slg P 3653. “Steuerliste Rohm, Josef Julius Guido u. Emilie”, Stadtarchiv
Miinchen PME R139/140g gives the birthday as 14 December and Ernst R6hm,
Stammtafel der Familie R6hm abgeschlossen Juni 1927. (Verlag Degener & Co.,
Leipzig, 1927), Bayerischer Landesverein fiir Familienkunde, has 15/X1 but this
appears to be a typographical error. I am grateful to Mrs. Lolo Anwander of the
Landesverein for providing me with a copy of the family tree. After World War 11
Karl Schreyer claimed that R6hm had one Jewish grandparent: 31 January 1952, “30.
Juni 19347, “Vertraulich”, IfZ ZS 357/1 [Schreyer, Karl], p. 1. I have been unable to
trace any evidence to support this claim. The birthplaces and dates of R6hm’s siblings
are recorded in “Legitimation Julius R6hm”, Stadtarchiv Miinchen PME R 139/140.
Robert R6hm died on 31 May 1974: advice from Frau Richter-Nachtigal,
Evangelische Kirche Registeramt, Munich, in conversation on 10 September 1997.

3. R6hm’s baptism: 13 September 1997, “Wortwortlicher Auszug aus dem Taufregister
der protestantischen Stadtpfarrei Miinchen aus dem Jahre 1887 Seite 289 Nr. 11127,
“Nr. 231/97/RN”. On the position of Protestants in Bavaria: Hans Fehn, “I. Das Land
Bayern und seine Bevolkerung seit 18007, in Max Spindler et al, Handbuch der
bayerischen Geschichte Vierter Band Das neue Bayern 1800-1970, Volume 4 Part 2
(C.H. Beck’’sche Verlagsbuchhandlung, Munich, 1975), p. 685; Reinhard Bauer and

Ernst Piper, with the collaboration of Elisabeth Lukas-Gotz, Miinchen: die Geschichte
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einer Stadt (Deutscher Taschenbuch Verlag, Munich, 1996), p. 154. On the social
position of Bavarian Protestants: Friedrich Prinz, “Anndherung an Miinchen:
Postmoderne Riickblicke auf die Geburt einer Grof3stadt”, and Hugo Maser, “Die
protestantische Gemeinde”, in Friedrich Prinz and Marita Krauss (eds), Miinchen,
Musenstadt mit Hinterhofen: die Prinzregentenzeit 1886-1912 (C.H. Beck, Munich,
1988), pp. 16 and 206-12 respectively; Hermann Rumschéttel, Das bayerische
Offizierkorps 1866-1914 (Beitrdge zu einer historischen Strukturanalyse Bayerns im
Industriezeitalter Band 9, Duncker & Humblot, Berlin, 1973), pp. 237-8. R6hm’s own
sensitivity to discrimination against Protestants: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 52.

4. Julius R6hm a railway inspector: 13 September 1997, “Wortwdértlicher Auszug aus
dem Taufregister der protestantischen Stadtpfarrei Miinchen aus dem Jahre 1887
Seite 289 Nr. 11127, “Nr. 231/97/RN”. Position of middle level railway officials:
Sigrid Amedick, Ménner am Schienenstrang: Sozialgeschichte der unteren
bayerischen Eisenbahnbeamten 1844-1914 (Klett-Cotta, Stuttgart, 1997), pp. 235-7;
Ekkehard Wiest, Gesellschaft und Wirtschaft in Miinchen, 1830-1920: die
soziookonomische Entwicklung der Stadt dargestellt anhand historischer
Adressbiicher (Centaurus-Verlagsgesellschaft, Pfaffenweiler, 1991), pp. 42-3, 51.
Rohm’s family had been officials: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 11;
Ernst Rohm “Aus meinem Leben”, BHSA/V/ Slg P 3653. Julius R6hm’s father and
family position: Ernst R6hm, Stammtafel der Familie R6hm. Julius R6hm as a young
man: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 11. Julius R6hm’s position on

retirement: Ernst R6hm, Stammtafel der Familie R6hm. The family lived near the
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railway district at the time of R6hm’s birth: 13 September 1997, “Wortwdrtlicher
Auszug aus dem Taufregister der protestantischen Stadtpfarrei Miinchen aus dem
Jahre 1887 Seite 289 Nr. 11127, “Nr. 231/97/RN”; “Steuerliste Rohm, Josef Julius
Guido u. Emilie”, Stadtarchiv Miinchen PME R139/140.

5. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 11. His comments on his father and
brother: 25 February 1929, Ernst R6hm, La Paz, Bolivia to Dr. Heimsoth, in Klotz,
Drei Briefe, BAK Sammlung Schumacher 402, p. 8; R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverraters, pp. 11-12. As a child he was strong-willed: private information from
the R6hm family.

6. From his childhood he wanted to be a soldier: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 11. The influence of the military on life in Munich and parades no
longer listed: Christian Lankes, Miinchen als Garnison im 19. Jahrhundert: die
Haupt- und Residenzstadt als Standort der bayerischen Armee von Kurfiirst Max IV.
Joseph bis zur Jahrhundertwende (E.S. Mittler, Berlin, 1993), pp. 470-1, 481-2, 492-
4,497, 500. On the pro-military atmosphere in Bavaria, see also Eugen von
Frauenholz, “Erinnerungen an meine militdrische Dienstzeit 1901-1918”, (Munich,
October 1941), BHSA/KA Nachlaf3 Frauenholz/1, p. 20. Munich’s status before 1914:
Bauer and Piper, with Lukas-Gotz, Miinchen: die Geschichte einer Stadt, Ch. XII;
Wiest, Gesellschaft und Wirtschaft in Miinchen, 1830-1920, pp. 15, 17, 46-7, 49.

7. Civil service families’ emphasis on education for their children: Wiest, Gesellschaft
und Wirtschaft in Miinchen, 1830-1920, pp. 42-3. Robert R6hm’s career: R6hm,
Stammtafel der Familie R6hm; Ernst Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 11;

20 March 1926, Salzburg, Emilie R6hm, Eleonore Lippert, Adolf Lippert, Ernst
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Rohm, “Vollmacht.”, SAM Bayer. Amtsgericht Miinchen NR 1926/396. The history
of the Maximiliansgymnasium: Dr. Wecklein, Jahresbericht iiber das K.
Maximiliansgymnasium in Miinchen fiir das Schuljahr 1898/99 (Akademischen
Buchdruckerei, Munich, 1898), SAM, p. 53; Winfried Bauer, “Chronik des
Maximiliansgymnasiums nach den Jahresberichten und Festschriften sowie nach den
Archivunterlagen der Schule”, in Winfried Bauer (ed.), Chronik 150 Jahre
Maximiliansgymnasium 1849-1999 (Maximiliansgymnasium, Munich, 1999), pp. 15,
18-19. School fees: Bauer, “Chronik des Maximiliansgymnasiums”, Bauer (ed.),
Chronik 150 Jahre Maximiliansgymnasium, p. 20. The academic and social prestige
of the school was increased in 1882 when it was chosen as the school of the future
Bavarian Crown Prince Rupprecht: Kurt Sendtner, Rupprecht von Wittelsbach,
Kronprinz von Bayern (Richard Pflaum Verlag, Munich, 1954), pp. 84-90. R6hm”s
father’s social status compared to that of the fathers of other pupils: Dr. Wecklein,
“III. Verzeichnis der Schiiler.”, Jahresbericht iiber das K. Maximiliansgymnasium in
Miinchen fiir das Schuljahr 1897/98 (Akademischen Buchdruckerei, Munich, 1898),
pp. 46-50; Dr. Wecklein, “III. Verzeichnis der Schiiler.”, Jahresbericht iiber das K.
Maximilians-Gymnasium in Miinchen fiir das Schuljahr 1905/06, (Akademischen
Buchdruckerei, Munich, 1906), pp. 27-8, 57.
8. Bavarian education system: A. Reble, “Das Schulwesen”, in Max Spindler et al,
Handbuch der bayerischen Geschichte, Volume 4 Part 2 (Munich, 1975), pp. 970-3;
Karl A. Schleunes, Schooling and Society: The Politics of Education in Prussia and
Bavaria 1750-1900 (Berg, Oxford, 1991), Ch. 7. Each annual report of the

Maximiliansgymnasium listed the curriculum of the compulsory subjects taken by
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boys in each year of schooling as well as the teachers and their qualifications. The
teachers were highly educated with 24 out of 45 possessing doctorates and 6
decorations in the 1904/05 school year: Dr. Wecklein, Jahresbericht {iber das K.
Maximiliansgymnasium in Miinchen fiir das Schuljahr 1904/05 (Akademischen
Buchdruckerei, Munich, 1905), pp. 3-4; Bauer, “Chronik des
Maximiliansgymnasiums”, in Bauer (ed.), Chronik 150 Jahre
Maximiliansgymnasium, p. 19. Compulsory subjects at the Maximiliansgymnasium:
Wecklein, Jahresbericht {iber das K. Maximiliansgymnasium in Miinchen fir das
Schuljahr 1905/06, pp. 6-22; Dr. Wecklein, Jahresbericht iiber das K.
Maximiliansgymnasium in Miinchen fiir das Schuljahr 1897/98, SAM, pp. 5-21.
Rohm played the piano very well: Eberstein, Karl Frhr v., IfZ ZS 539, p. 3.

9. R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 12.

10. K. Maximilians-Gymnasium in Miinchen, “Noten- und Zensurbogen fiir den Schuler
der 9. Klasse Ernst Rohm. Oster=Zeugnis.”, transcript copy attached to 9 September
1998, Hamm, Direktorat, Maximiliansgymnasium to author, p. 3. Blum reads the last
word as childish (kindlich): Wilhelm Blum, “Einige Schiiler und Schiilerinnen des
‘Max’”, in Bauer (ed.), Chronik 150 Jahre Maximiliansgymnasium, p. 124.

11. Dates of his matriculation examinations: Wecklein, Jahresbericht iiber das K.
Maximiliansgymnasium in Miinchen fiir das Schuljahr 1905/06, SAM, p. 57. He
claimed his final results were good: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 12.
Dr Wecklein’s report: Dr. Wecklein and Dr. Wohyek (?), 13 July 1906, “Konigliches
Maximilians-Gymnasium in Miinchen. Gymnasial-Absolutorium.”, BHSA/KA OP
32380, pp. 1-2. Nothing to detract from his honor: 15 March 1906, Dr. Wecklein, K.
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Rektorat des k. Maximilians-Gymnasiums, “LEUMUNDS-ZEUGNIS.”, BHSA/KA OP
32380.
12. Wolfgang Zorn, “Die Sozialentwicklung der nichtagrarischen Welt (1806-1970)” in
Spindler et al, Handbuch der bayerischen Geschichte, Volume 4 Part 2, p. 852. On
these social distinctions, see also Friedrich Prinz, “Annéherung an Miinchen”, in
Prinz and Krauss (eds), Miinchen, Musenstadt mit Hinterhofen, p. 21.
13. R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 13. Outbreak of meningitis: R6hm,
Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 14. Reports of his training: 15 December 1906,
Meyer Oberst u. Regimentskommandeur and others, “Dienst-Zeugnis fiir den
Fahnenjunker/i Unteroffizier Ernst Julius Gilinther Rohm der 2. Kompagnie
K.10.Infanterie Regiment Prinz Ludwig”, BHSA/KA OP 32380.
14. R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 16. Location and conditions of
Kriegsschule: Lankes, Miinchen als Garnison im 19. Jahrhundert, pp. 157, 218.
Training was very strict: Eugen von Frauenholz, “Erinnerungen an meine militérische
Dienstzeit 1901-1918”, (Munich, October 1941), BHSA/KA Nachlal3 Frauenholz/1,
pp. 44, 46, 48; Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters, p. 15. For a further view of
the Kriegsschule (class of 1904-05) from the far more privileged viewpoint of a
prince of the royal house, see Adalbert Prinz von Bayern, Errinerungen 1900-1956
(Langen Miiller, Munich, 1991), pp. 91-3, 96-7. R6hm’s three punishments:
attachment to Abgangs-Zeugnis, BHSA/KA OP 32380; R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 16. Rohm’s difficulties because he arrived late: R6hm, Geschichte

eines Hochverriters, p. 15.
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15. 10 February 1907, Vogel, Hauptmann und Kompagniechef, 2. Kompagnie, 10.
Infanterie Regiment, “Vertrauliche Mitteilungen liber den Fahnenjunker Ernst, Julius,
Giinther R6hm.”, BHSA/KA OP 32380, p. 1.
16. The graduating class is listed in order of merit in 14 December 1908, Fr. v. Horn,
Kriegsministerium, Nr. 2561, “An die K. Generalkommandos und obersten
Waftenbehorden. Verteilt nach Klasse I fiir die Kommandobehdrden und
Truppenteile. Betreff: Offizierspriifung 1908.”, BHSA/KA OP 32380, p. 4. His
graduation results: 25 January 1908, signature [Kiehl?], Major & Kommandeur,
“Abgangs-Zeugnis von der koniglichen Kriegsschule fiir den Fahnrich Ernst R6hm
vom K.10.Infanterie-Regiment.”, BHSA/KA OP 32380; 4 December 1908, K.B.
Kriegsschule, “Ergebnis der Offizierspriifung fiir den Fahnrich R6hm, Ernst,
K.10.Infanterie Regiment”, BHSA/KA OP 32380; 15 February 1908, signature
(Fasbender), Generalmajor und Chef des Generalstab der Armee, “Zeugnis der Reife
zum Offizier fiir den Fahnrich Ernst Rohm”, BHSA/KA OP 32380.
17. 25 January 1908, signature [Kiehl?], Major & Kommandeur, “Abgangs-Zeugnis von
der koniglichen Kriegsschule fiir den Fahnrich Ernst R6hm vom K.10. Infanterie-
Regiment.”, BHSA/KA OP 32380.
18. “VERHANDLUNG aufgenommen bei der Abstimmung des Offiziers-Korps des 10.
Infanterie-Regiments iiber den zur Beforderung zum Leutnant vorzuschlagenden
Féahnrich Ernst Rohm.”, 17 February 1908, BHSA/KA OP 32380. Oath of allegiance:
14 March 1908, K.B.10 Infanterie-Regiment. Prinz Ludwig, ‘“Verhandlung
aufgenommen tiber die Verpflichtung des zum Leutnant beférderten Fahnrichs Ernst

Rohm.”, BHSA/KA OP 32380, pp. 1-3.
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19. Regiment’s history: Mehrere Mitkdmpfer, Das K.B. 10. Infanterie Regiment Konig,
Erinnerungsblétter deutscher Regimenter Bayerische Armee Band 36 (Verlag
Bayerisches Kriegsarchiv, Munich, 1925), p. 9. The different names of the regimental
march: Mehrere Mitkdmpfer, Das K.B. 10. Infanterie Regiment Konig, p. 10. A
version of the march under the name Prinz-Eugen-Marsch can be heard on the CD:
Heeresmusikkorps 4. Regensburg, Unter Bayerns Raufenbanner (Bauer Studios,
BCD 7191, 1998). The regimental music master Schott composed the march: Karl
Batz, “Militdrmusik im biirgerlichen Kulturbetrieb des 19. Jahrhunderts”,
Sammelblatt des Historischen Vereins Ingolstadt 94. Jahrgang 1985 und 95.
Jahrgang 1986 (Ingolstadt, 1986), p. 236. R6hm’s pride in regimental history: R6hm,
Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 13, 17.
20. The following section on the organization and structure of the Bavarian army, and the
composition, status and views of its officer corps is based on Gerhard Heyl,
“Einfithrung Bayern und seine Armee”, in Generaldirektion der Staatlichen Archive
Bayerns, Bayern und seine Armee: Eine Ausstellung des Bayerischen
Hauptstaatsarchivs aus den Bestdnden des Kriegsarchivs (Selbstverlag der
Generaldirektion der Staatlichen Archive Bayerns, Munich, 1987), pp. 8-10; Lankes,
Miinchen als Garnison im 19. Jahrhundert, pp. 18, 54-5; Rumschéttel, Das
bayerische Offizierkorps 1866-1914, pp. 39-74, 94-103; Bernd Steger, Berufssoldaten
oder Pritorianer: die EinfluBnahme des bayerischen Offizierskorps auf die
Innenpolitik in Bayern und im Reich 1918-1924 (Rita G. Fischer Verlag, Frankfurt
a.M., 1980), pp. 19-29; Kai Uwe Tapken, Die Reichswehr in Bayern von 1919 bis
1924 (Verlag Dr. Kova¢, Hamburg, 2002), pp. 45-7; Wolfgang Zorn, Bayerns
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Geschichte im 20. Jahrhundert: Von der Monarchie zum Bundesland (Verlag C.H.
Beck, Munich, 1986), p. 40; Eugen von Frauenholz, “Erinnerungen an meine
militdrische Dienstzeit 1901-1918”, (Munich, October 1941), BHSA/KA Nachlaf}
Frauenholz/1, pp. 75-6, 85, 111.
21. Attachment to royal family: Heyl, “Einfithrung Bayern und seine Armee”, Bayern
und seine Armee, p. 10. Regimental colonel-in-chief: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverraters, p. 23; “Konig Ludwig III von Bayern”, Ingolstiadter Tagblatt, 7
November 1913, 54/259, pp. 1-2. The controversy concerning Ludwig’s ascension to
the throne: Bauer and Ernst Piper, with Lukas-G6tz, Miinchen: die Geschichte einer
Stadt, p. 246.
22. Location of 10th Infantry Regiment: Hans Fegert, Ingolstadt in alten Ansichten
(Europdische Bibliothek, Zaltbommel, 1986), p. 23; Christian Dittmar, Ingolstadt in
alten Ansichtskarten (Flechsig Verlag, Frankfurt a. M., 1979), pp. 68-9. Ingolstadt:
Siegfried Hofmann, Alt Ingolstadt: Bilder einer Donaustadt (Verlag Gebr. Metz,
Tiibingen, 1988), pp. 8-9; B., “Die Landesfestung Ingolstadt”, Bayern und seine
Armee, p. 226. Soldiers almost 25 percent of population: Markus Ingenlath, “ ©...
meinem Ko6nig Otto 1. treu zu dienen . . .” Militirdienst in Miinchen”, Prinz and
Krauss (eds) Miinchen, Musenstadt mit Hinterhofen, p. 146.
23. Rohm’s duty and leave patterns are set out in his personal file BHSA/KA OP 32380
and in the regimental and battalion reports also held in BHSA/KA. His training as an
adjutant: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 24. Revision of the mobilization

timetable: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 24.
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24. Quoted in Rumschoéttel, Das bayerische Offizierkorps 1866-1914, p. 111. R6hm’s
salary in 1908 and 1909: K. 10. Infanterie-Regiment Prinz Ludwig. I1I Bataillon,
“NACHWEISUNG der Gehaltsverhiltnisse des Ernst R6hm Leutnant im 10.
Infanterie-Regiment, Patent vom 9. Mérz 1909.”, and 25 September 1909,
Kriegsministerium No. 18194, Abteilung fiir Personliche Angelegenheiten,
“Gehaltseinweisung und Festsetzung des Besoldungs-Dienstalters.”, BHSA/KA OP
32380, p. 2. The financial and social position of a junior officer: Rumschéttel, Das
bayerische Offizierkorps 1866-1914, pp. 111, 116-20.
25. Rohm’s comments on financial position of officers: Rohm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, pp. 22-3. Regiments expected officers to require additional support:
Rumschéttel, Das bayerische Offizierkorps 1866-1914, pp. 120-1; Eugen von
Frauenholz, “Erinnerungen an meine militdrische Dienstzeit 1901-1918”, (Munich,
October 1941), BHSA/KA Nachlal Frauenholz/1, pp. 27, 30, 94.
26. Rohm’s idyllic picture of life in pre-war Ingolstadt: Rohm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, pp. 17, 19-24. On Schott and the regimental band: “Kgl.
Obermusikmeister Max Schott.”, Ingolstiadter Tagblatt, 54/240, 15 October 1913, p.
4; “Nachrichten aus Ingolstadt und Umgebung.”, Ingolstadter Tagblatt, 54/54, 6
March 1913, p. 4; “Nachrichten aus Ingolstadt und Umgebung.”, Ingolstidter
Tagblatt, 54/251, 28 October 1913, p. 3. Ingolstadt papers of the period: Ingolstadter
Tagblatt, 1910-1914, passim and Ingolstiddter Zeitung, 1910-1914, passim. R6hm
kept up friendships with Ingolstadt families: 7 May 1934, “Stabschef R6hm in
Ingolstadt Gewaltige Beteiligung aus Stadt und Land”, Ingolstadter Zeitung, 75/104,
p. 2. Miss Liesl Schneider maintained contact: 23 April 1929, Ernst Rohm, La Paz,
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Bolivia to Emilie R6hm, R6hm family papers, p. 2; information from the R6hm
family.
27. R6hm’s comments on individual officers: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp.
20-22. Officer with whom he clashed mentioned by name: R6hm Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 17. He became calmer: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p.
18.
28. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 19. This may have been a conventional
sentiment, as Frauenholz expressed the same view: Eugen von Frauenholz,
“Erinnerungen an meine militdrische Dienstzeit 1901-1918”, (Munich, October
1941), BHSA/KA NachlaB Frauenholz/1, p. 74. R6hm found guilty: “K.B. Gericht
der 6. Division empf. 9.3.11 Nr. 284.”, Regensburg, 9 March 1911, BHSA/KA OP
32380. He was sentenced to three days imprisonment but the sentence was
suspended: “Vormerkungen zur Personal-Akte: Ernst R6hm”, BHSA/KA OP 32380,
p- 1. R6hm could not pay the costs: 14 March 1911, Weil}, Oberstltn. U. Regts. Kdr.,
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friend: Bergmann, “Von kleinen Dingen aus groBer Zeit”, Der S.A.-Mann, 24 June
1933, p. 4. More generally on trench warfare and its effects: Hancock, “Ernst R6hm
and the Experience of World War 17, pp. 46-7.
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pp- 261-2.
21. Undated, signature (Frhr v. Wiirtzburg), “Beschreibung der Tat des Oberleutnants
Ernst Rohm im 10. Infanterie-Regiment.”, BHSA/KA MMIJO VII K 24/9, p. 1.
22. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters, p. 47. Fighting at Verdun a battle of small
units: Herwig, The First World War: Germany and Austria-Hungary 1914-1918, pp.
192-4. R6hm’s company was torn apart: signature (Geiger), Hauptmann and Batls.-
Fiihrer, “Abschrift der Gefechtsberichte vom Freitag, 23. Juni 1916. b) der 10.
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Hochverriters, pp. 89.
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28. Numbers of battalion on 10 April: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 87-88.
Most were students from Erlangen: “Unterredung mit General Ritter von Horauf am
10. Nov. 1951.”, IfZ ZS 70, p. 1. The official history of the suppression of the
Council Republic also recorded the strength of the Freikorps Epp as 700 men:
“Anlage 1. Kriegsgliederungen.”, Im Auftrage des Oberkommandos der Wehrmacht
bearbeitet und herausgegeben von der Kriegsgeschichtlichen Forschungsanstalt des
Heeres, Die Niederwerfung der Réteherrschaft in Bayern, 1919 (Vierter Band,
Darstellungen aus den Nachkriegskdmpfen deutscher Truppen und Freikorps, Verlag
von E. S. Mittler & Sohn, Berlin, 1939), p. 200. Earlier for 14 April 1919 it had
recorded an overall strength of 883: Kriegsgeschichtliche Forschungsanstalt des
Heeres, Die Niederwerfung der Réteherrschaft in Bayern, p. 47. Overall number of
troops moving against Munich: Bauer and Piper, with Lukas-G&tz, Miinchen: die
Geschichte einer Stadt, p. 264. Operations against Munich: Hermann Giehrl, Major
im Generalstab des Generalkommando Oven, “Die Tatigkeit der Reichstruppen bei
der Niederwerfung des Kommunistenaufstandes in Miinchen.”, BHSA/KA
RWGrKdo4 Bd. 2, pp. 2-10; 19 May 1919, signature, Generalmajor, der
Oberbefehlshaber, Bayer. Gruppenkommando Nr. 4, Ia Nr. 7373 op. an das
Ministerium fiir militdrische Angelegenheiten, enclosing 13 May 1919,
Generalleutnant von Oven, Generalkommando Oven, Abteilung Ia, “Bericht {iber die
Befreiung Miinchens.”, BHSA/KA RWGrKdo 4/No. 48, pp. 1-6; Koch, Der deutsche
Biirgerkrieg, Ch. IV; Kriegsgeschichtliche Forschungsanstalt des Heeres, Die

Niederwerfung der Rateherrschaft in Bayern, passim.
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29. Rohm’s appointment: 1 May 1919, von Epp, Bayr. Schiitzenkorps, “Befehl.”,
BHSA/KA Sch. Brig. 21/Nr. 6; Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverrters, p. 90. He
drove into Munich to the Hotel Vierjahreszeiten: Rohm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 90. As many as 1,000 killed: Bauer and Piper, with Lukas-Goétz,
Miinchen: die Geschichte einer Stadt, p. 266; Heinrich Hillmayr, “Miinchen und die
Revolution von 1918/1919” in Bosl (ed.), Bayern im Umbruch, p. 492; Hillmayr,
Roter und Weiller Terror in Bayern nach 1918, pp. 120-157.
30. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 91-2.
31. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 93. He allegedly met opposition from the
Bavarian government but support from the local SPD: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverraters, pp. 92- 94. Schober noted however that the foundation of the Munich
Einwohnerwehr on 5 May 1919 occurred with the approval of SPD Minister Endres:
Schober, Geschichte der Einwohnerwehren, Band I, BHSA/KA HS 920, p. 45. On the
origins of the Biirgerwehr in Munich, see also Steger, Berufssoldaten oder
Pritorianer, pp. 101-103. Problems with troop discipline: see an order drafted by
R6hm and signed by von Epp, 20 June 1919, Bayer. Schiitzenbrigade 21, “Betreff:
Verhalten in der Oeffentlichkeit.”, BHSA/KA Sch. Brig. 21 Bd. 93.
32. R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 96, 99.
33. R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 98. See also p. 97.
34. R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 98.
35. Frederic Raphael and Kenneth McLeish, The List of Books (Mitchell Beazley,
London, 1981), p. 22.
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CHAPTER 5: “MACHINE-GUN KING” OF BAVARIA 1919-22
1. Adolf Hitler in a speech to the SA on 7 March 1931, quoted in “P.N.D. Nr. 727
Appell der SA.-Brigade Miinchen-Oberbayern am 7.3.31 im Hackerkeller.”, SAM
Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 6809, p. 2.
2. Quoted in R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 140. R6hm’s report of the
Miinchener Post article on him: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters, pp. 140-142.
A typed transcript of the story is held in BHSA/V Slg P 3653, pp. 1-3.
3. On the political atmosphere in Munich, see reports in BHSA/KA RWGrKdo 4/No.
316; and on the political role and influence of the army in Bavaria at this time:
Tapken, Die Reichswehr in Bayern von 1919 bis 1924, pp. 337-356.
4. On the progressive reduction of the size of the army and the implementation of these
policies in Bavaria: papers on BHSA/KA Sch. Brig. 21/18 and Tapken, Die
Reichswehr in Bayern von 1919 bis 1924, pp. 165-268. The purge of the left in the
army: Tapken, Die Reichswehr in Bayern von 1919 bis 1924, pp. 321-331; Steger,
Berufssoldaten oder Prétorianer, pp. 117-118.
5. R6hm’s formal administrative duties: undated (1919), v. Epp, Bayer. Schiitzenbrigade
21, “INr.12517”, “Bestimmungen {iber den Dienstbetrieb beim Brigadekommando.”,
BHSA/KA, Sch. Brig. 21/Nr. 38, p. 3. Von Epp’s orderly officer: “Tagebuch” entry
for 1 September 1920, BHSA/KA Sch. Brig. 21/1 u. 2, p. 16. His responsibilities
extended to drafting routine and important correspondence: see for examples R6hm”’s
handwritten draft in August 1922 of a memorandum for von Epp’s signature on the

Heimatlandbriefe, BAK NL1101/92; handwritten drafts on various issues for von Epp
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as commander of the Schiitzenbrigade in BHSA/KA Sch.Brig. 21/ Nr. 38, 69, 88, 92,
102, 111, 126, and BAK NL101/3, 38.
6. For R6hm’s administrative workload, see 24 December 1919, R6hm, handwritten
draft, to Gruppenkommando 4, “Betreft: Neuorganisation der Heeresverwaltung.”,
and the final version signed by von Epp on the same date, both on BHSA/KA Sch.
Brig. 21/Nr. 38. For a further example see the papers on financial provisions
(wirtschaftliche Anordnungen) for the 150,000 man army on BHSA/KA Sch. Brig.
21/ Nr. 88. Headquarters in Prince Leopold barracks: see the charts in BHSA/KA
Sch.Brig.21/Nr. 51. R6hm lived in the Pension Isabella from July 1919 to July 1920:
“Ledigen-Liste”, Stadtarchiv Miinchen PME R 139/140. Evidence that R6hm drafted
most if not all the orders he countersigned can be seen from the survival of his
handwritten drafts for several. In July 1920 he drafted one order which went out
under von Botzheim’s name, setting out instructions for guarding barracks in the
event that Reichswehr troops withdrew. A unit under the leadership of officers was to
be left behind. The securing and guarding of the barracks area was to be the
responsibility of the leader of this command assisted by the EWW: draft in R6hm”s
handwriting and final, 8 July 1920, Frhr von Botzheim, Oberstleutnant und stellv.
Brigadefiihrern, Bayer. Schiitzenbrigade 21, “Ia Nr. 16707 to the Kommandant des
Kasernenviertels and others “Betreff: Bewachung der Kasernen im Falle des
Abriickens der Reichsw. Truppen.”, BHSA/KA Sch. Brig. 21/Nr. 9.
7. 24 April 1949, Karl Schreyer, “Eidesstattliche Erklarung.”, Amtsgericht Miinchen
HKN/574, p. 1.
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8. Theodor Endres, “Charakterbild des Hauptmann R6hm.”, Endres memoirs,
BHSA/KA HS 925, p. 17. Von Epp’s indecisiveness: Endres, “Charakterbild des
Generals Ritter von Epp”, Endres memoirs, BHSA/KA HS 925, pp. 15-16. Von Epp
left all work on the Einwohnerwehr to Rohm: Rohm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 100.
9. The first Bavarian Einwohnerwehr: David Clay Large, The Politics of Law and
Order: A History of the Bavarian Einwohnerwehr, 1918-1921 (Transactions of the
American Philosophical Society, Volume 70, Part 2, Philadelphia, 1980), pp. 9-17,
19-21. For a biography of Escherich, see Franz Schober, Geschichte des
Landesverbandes der Einwohnerwehren Bayerns und seine Landesleitung (1918/22),
Band I, BHSA/KA HS 920, pp. 61-66a; Clay Large, The Politics of Law and Order,
pp. 17-19. Escherich’s proposals won support: Clay Large, The Politics of Law and
Order, pp. 9-17, 19-21. Government wanted Einwohnerwehr built up on basis of
widest possible support: 26 July 1919, Endres, Staatsministerium des Innern, “Nr.
2700g 298.” to the Regierungen, Kammern des Innern, des rechtsrheinischen Bayern,
“Vertraulich!” “Betreff: Einwohnerwehren.”, BHSA II Minn 66135, pp. 3-4. SPD
supporters reluctant to join: 23 July 1919, signature, i.V. Armee-Abteilung,
Ministerium fiir mil. Angelegenheiten Nr. 98910A to the Staatsministerium des
Innern, “Betreff: Einwohnerwehren”, BHSA II MInn 66135, p. 1, see also p. 3.
Einwohnerwehr strongest in countryside and even middle class reluctant to join in
cities: Clay Large, The Politics of Law and Order, p. 34. Escherich and Kriebel want
Einwohnerwehr to play an independent political role: Clay Large, The Politics of Law

and Order, pp. 24-25, 31, 34, 39.
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10. R6hm’s role with respect to volunteer units: 17 September 1920, R6hm, i.V. Der 1
Generalstabsoffizier fiir die Brigade, Bayer. Schiitzenbrigade 21, Abtlg. Ib, M.G.O.
Nr. 22472/3884, “Betreff: M.G. Ausstattung”, BHSA/KA Sch. Brig. 21/ Bd. 97; 21
July 1919, R6hm, Hauptmann im Generalstab, Bayer. Schiitzenbrigade 21 to
Gruppenkommando 4, “Eilt sehr! Durch Offizier!”, “Ib nr. 81 geh.”, “Betreff:
Austausch von Geschiitzen.”, BHSA/KA Sch. Brig. 21/Nr. 126. R6hm placed one of
his officers in Einwohnerwehr administrative section: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 100. Epp agreed Schiitzenbrigade would pass on weapons: Clay
Large, The Politics of Law and Order, pp. 29-30. R6hm accompanied Epp on
journeys of inspection: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 100. R6hm
concerned to maintain army control: 12 September 1919, Epp, Bayer.
Schiitzenbrigade 21, “Ib. Nr. 16552”, to Gruppenkommando 4, “Betreff: Waffen.”,
BHSA/KA Sch. Brig. 21 Bd. 99, p. 1. Recognized that the work had to be concealed:
27 November 1919, Generalmajor v. Mohl, Oberbefehlshaber Reichswehrgruppen,
Kommando No. 4 to Schiitzen Brig. 21 and others, “Id No. 8699, “Betreft:
Einwohnerwehren.”, BHSA/KA RWGrGKdo4/No. 20; undated, Kriebel, Stabsleiter
fiir die Landesleitung der Einw.W. and Saur, Major, fiir das Reichswehrgruppenkdo
der Chef des Gen. Stabes i.V., “Vereinbarung der Reichswehrgruppenkommandos 4
und der Landesleitung der Einwohnerwehren tliber das Dienstverkehr zwischen
Reichswehr und Einwohnerwehr.”, BHSA/KA Infanteriefiihrer 21 Bd. 1, pp. 1-2.
Recognized that the Einwohnerwehr against the Treaty: 20 July 1919, K&berle 1.V.,

Ministerium f. militarische Angelegenheiten an den Wehrkommissar fiir Oberbayern-
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Miinchen and others, “Betreft: Einwohnerwehren.”, BHSA/II M Inn 66135; Clay
Large, The Politics of Law and Order, pp. 47-48.
11. Einwohnerwehr the one civil guard independent of state control: Clay Large, The
Politics of Law and Order, p. 31. Its strength in February 1920: 12 February 1920,
Endres, Staatsministerium des Innern to Reichsministerium des Innern, “Betreff:
Einwohnerwehren.”, BHSA/KA EW Bd. 3/Ic. First Allied demands and national
government response: Clay Large, The Politics of Law and Order, pp. 66-67. Conflict
about the dissolution of the Einwohnerwehr: Steger, Berufssoldaten oder Pratorianer,
pp. 137-150.
12. The politicization of the Bavarian Army can be seen by the distribution of anti-
Semitic leaflets within the Reichswehr: 8 September 1919, Mohl, Generalmajor, Der
Oberbefehlshaber, Bayer. Gruppenkommando Nr. 4 Ib Nr. 5125 BHSA/KA Infanterie
Fiithrer 21/Bund 1 Akt 7. On anti-Semitism in the Bavarian army: Tapken, Die
Reichswehr in Bayern von 1919 bis 1924, pp. 333-335. R6hm drafted memorandum
calling on government to take psychology of troops into account more: 24 January
1920, v. Epp, Bayer. Schiitzenbrigade 21 an Gruppenkommando 4, “Ia No. 21197,
“Betreff: Wert der Truppe.”, BHSA/KA Sch. Brig. 21/Nr.13, pp. 1-2. R6hm’s draft of
the same date is also on the same file.
13. Reichswehr officers banned from political activity: Harold J. Gordon, jr., The
Reichswehr and the German Republic, 1919-1926 (Princeton University Press,
Princeton, 1957), p. 165. R6hm joined and then rejected DNVP: R6hm, Geschichte

eines Hochverriters, p. 107.
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14. Rohm joined the German Workers’ Party and claimed to have been among the first 70
members: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 107. The list of party members
does not indicate the date R6hm joined: “Adolf Hitlers Mitkdmpfer 1919-1921”, BAR
NS 26/230. The numbers themselves were not related to the date a member joined but
were allocated alphabetically in January 1920: A. Joachimsthaler, Korrektur einer
Biographie: Adolf Hitler 1908-1920 (Herbig, Munich, 1989), p. 252. R6hm claimed
to have attended: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 108. R6hm’s party
membership: Tapken, Die Reichswehr in Bayern von 1919 bis 1924, pp. 316-317.
R6hm was a member by autumn 1919: Bennecke, Hitler und die SA, p. 23.
15. R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 108. The “Free Working Committee for a
Good Peace” founded in March 1918: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters, p. 108.
But a note prepared for the NSDAP Hauptarchiv in 1939 or later described the
Arbeitszirkel as formed in the winter of 1918-19: unsigned undated note, “Anton
Drexler”, BAR NS26/76, p. 1. First public meeting in October 1918: R6hm,
Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 108. Deutsche Arbeiter Partei founded on 5
January 1919: unsigned undated note, “Anton Drexler”, BAR NS26/76, p. 1. Hitler
visited a party meeting on 12 September 1919: unsigned undated note, “Anton
Drexler”, BAR NS26/76, p. 1; Joachimsthaler, Korrektur einer Biographie, p. 251,
notes that other witnesses suggested the first meeting Hitler attended was in August
1919. Hitler’s first speech and other developments to March 1920: Phelps, “Hitler and
the Deutsche Arbeiterpartei”, American Historical Review, 68/4, 1963, pp. 979-982.
Party speakers strongly anti-Semitic: Phelps, “Hitler and the Deutsche
Arbeiterpartei”, American Historical Review, 68/4, 1963, pp. 978-979.
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16. Georg Franz, “Munich: Birthplace and Center of the National Socialist German
Workers” Party”, The Journal of Modern History, 29/4, 1957, p. 331. This assessment
is supported by the report of an unnamed informant forwarded on 15 May 1923 to
Reichsminister Gessler by the Reich Commissioner for the Surveillance of Public
Order and quoted in “Niederschrift iiber die 4. Sitzung des Ausschusses zur
Untersuchung der Vorgidnge vom 1. Mai 1923 und der gegen Reichs- und
Landesverfassung gerichteten Bestrebungen vom 26. September bis 9. November
1923 vom 12. Oktober 1927 nachmittags 4. Uhr.”, BHSA/II MA 103476, p. 41. On
the origins of the SA: Bennecke, Hitler und die SA, pp. 25-34. R6hm claimed to have
had a particular interest in the SA: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 108. He
may have been intermediary with Ehrhardt: Andreas Werner, “SA und NSDAP: SA:
‘Wehrverband’, ‘Parteitruppe’ oder ‘Revolutionsarmee’ Studien zur Geschichte der
SA und der NSDAP 1920-1933”, Inaugural Dissertation der Philosophischen Fakultét
der Friedrich-Alexander-Universitdt zu Erlangen-Niirnberg, 1964, pp. 22-23. Von
Epp provided the money for the party to buy the Volkischer Beobachter: Bennecke,
Hitler und die SA, p. 23; see also von Epp’s correspondence on BAK N1101/42.
17. R6hm met Hitler at meetings of “Iron Fist”: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters,
pp. 100-101. Karl Mayr: Benjamin Ziemann, “Wanderer zwischen den Welten — Der
Militarkritiker und Gegner des entschiedenen Pazifismus Major a.D. Karl Mayr
(1883-1945)” in Wolfram Wette, with the collaboration of Helmut Donat (ed.),
Pazifistische Offiziere in Deutschland 1871-1933, (Donat Verlag, Bremen, 1999), pp.
273-285; “Mayr, Karl”, in Werner Roder and Herbert A. Strauss (eds),

Biographisches Handbuch der deutschsprachigen Emigration nach 1933 Band I
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Politik, Wirtschaft, Offentliches Leben (K.G. Saur, Munich, 1980) p. 486. On Mayr as
Hitler’s promoter: Tapken, Die Reichswehr in Bayern von 1919 bis 1924, pp. 313-
316.
18. 25 September 1952, Dr. Georg Franz, “Niederschrift der Unterredung von Frau
Eleonore Lippert (Schwester Ernst Rohms) und deren Sohn, Dr. ing. Ernst Lippert,
wohnhaft in Salzburg, Fabergasse 6, durchgefiihrt in Salzburg am 13. Mérz 1952 mit
Dr. Georg Franz im Auftrag des Instituts fiir Zeitgeschichte Miinchen.”, IfZ ZS 263,
p- L.
19. R6hm was approached from circles around Kapp: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 101. Kapp and Ludendorft’s plans and the support of Liittwitz:
Eberhard Kolb, The Weimar Republic (Unwin Hyman, London, 1988), pp. 36-7; Hans
J. Reichardt, Kapp-Putsch und Generalstreik Marz 1920 in Berlin “Tage der Torheit,
Tage der Not”: Eine Ausstellung des Landesarchivs Berlin 26. Mérz bis 31. Oktober
1990 (Berlin, Nicolai, 1990), pp. 7-10; Koch, Der deutsche Biirgerkrieg, Ch. VI;
Schulze, Freikorps und Republik 1918-1920, Ch. 111, especially pp. 244-304 .
20. The course of the Kapp Putsch: Kolb, The Weimar Republic, p. 37. The causes of the
collapse of the putsch and the role of the military leadership are disputed: Kolb, The
Weimar Republic, p. 37; Schulze, Freikorps und Republik 1918-1920, pp. 297-301.
Communist uprisings: Kolb, The Weimar Republic, pp. 37-38. Proclamation of
Socialist Republic in the Ruhr: BAR R 43 1/2715, 2716, 2717 and 2718.
21. There were indications of greater Bavarian involvement than R6hm was willing to
admit. Waldemar Pabst had contact with Escherich as well as R6hm in the lead up to

the putsch: Clay Large, The Politics of Law and Order, p. 36. Epp and R6hm took
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part in meetings that led Mohl to approach Hoffmann and force resignation of his
government: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters, pp. 102-104; Clay Large, The
Politics of Law and Order, p. 36. See also Franz Schober, Geschichte des
Landesverbandes der Einwohnerwehren Bayerns und seine Landesleitung (1918/22),
Band I, BHSA/KA HS 920, pp. 224-338. Appointment of M6hl and Kahr: “Die
Vorgénge im Reich u. in Bayern vom 13. Mérz 1920 — Allgemeines a. Bayern.”,
BHSA II MInn 66286, pp. 1-2.

22. National Government forced to use army to suppress Ruhr Republic: Kolb, The
Weimar Republic, p. 38. On the deployment of Bavarian troops, see BHSA/KA
RWGrKdo 4/No. 11, Sch. Brig. 21/Nr. 143, 317; Schulze, Freikorps und Republik
1918-1920, pp. 304-318. Epp and his staff travelled to Rehda: entry for 19 March
1920, “Tagebuch”, BHSA/KA Sch. Brig. 21/1, pp. 2, 8. Final transport arrived and
troops called Bayerische Schiitzen-Brigade Epp: von Epp, “Kriegstagebuch.”, BAK
N1101/33, pp. 1-2.

23. Resistance encountered at Pelkum before Dortmund occupied: entries for 31 March-2
April 1920, von Epp, “Kriegstagebuch.”, BAK N1101/33, pp. 4-6. R6hm part of the
Brigade’s mobile staff: 19 March 1920, Detachement Epp, “Mobiler Brigadestab!”,
BHSA/KA Sch. Brig. 21/Nr. 56, p. 1; 1 April 1920, R6hm, Hauptmann im
Generalstab fiir die Brigade A.B., Bayer. Schiitzenbrigade Epp to Regt. Finsterer and
others, “Ib No. 372.”, BHSA/KA Sch. Brig. 21/Nr. 42.

24. Anti-Semitic incidents by Bavarian troops led to complaints: 8 April 1920, Haas,
Gruppe Haas, “Abt. Ib Nr. 467 mob.”, “Vertraulich”, BHSA/KA Sch.Brig. 21/Nr. 59.

The temporizing response of the Brigade staft: 14 April 1920, Oberst Bayer,
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Schiitzen-Brig. Epp Abt. Ic to Gruppe Haas, “Betr. Antisemitische Hetze.”,
BHSA/KA Sch. Brig. 21/Nr. 56.
25. Rohm claimed the army could have taken charge: Rohm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, pp. 106-107. His outrage at press criticisms of the role of the
Reichswehr: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 105.
26. Seeckt protected the army from attempts to introduce republican values into it: Kolb,
The Weimar Republic, p. 38. Seeckt concerned to reduce the overt politicization of
the army: 28 October 1920, v. Seeckt, Chef der Heeresleitung,
Reichswehrministerium, “No. 1059.10.20. T.Z.I11.”, BHSA/KA RWGrKdo 4/No. 28.
As early as December 1919 his office had recognized that young officers had been
given too much independence: 5 December 1919, L. A. v. Seeckt,
Reichswehrministerium, T.1. Nr. 3882b an das Wehrkreiskommando I, BHSA/KA
RWGrKdo 4/No 25, p. 2. Mohl’s temporary concern about the politicization of young
officers: 9 April 1920, v. Mohl, Reichswehrgruppenkommando Nr. 4, “Ia Nr. 510
geh.”, BHSA/KA RWGrKdo 4/No. 282, pp. 1-2. R6hm sent as liaison officer: R6hm,
Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 104.
27. April 1920 R6hm received 500 marks in support: 20 April 1920, signature
(Bressendorf?), Heeresabwicklungsamt Bayern, Pers. I No. 2794 to Abw. Stelle
bayer. General-Militar-Kasse, “Betreff: Unterstiitzungen.”, BHSA/KA RWGrKdo
4/No. 837. He received further support from the military funds commission: 2 July
1920, “zu No. 5453 Militiar-Fonds-Kommission”, BHSA/KA OP 32380.
28. “Niederschrift der Unterredung von Frau Eleonore Lippert (Schwester Ernst R6hms)

und deren Sohn, Dr. ing. Ernst Lippert, wohnhaft in Salzburg, Fabergasse 6,
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durchgefiihrt in Salzburg am 13. Mérz 1952 mit Dr. Georg Franz im Auftrag des
Instituts fiir Zeitgeschichte Miinchen.”, IfZ ZS 263, p. 1. R6hm’s activities with
“Schwarz-Weiss-Rot”: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters, p. 110. Seydel
Rohm’s inseparable friend: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 110. Seydel’s
position in the Einwohnerwehr: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 118.

29. Formation of Orgesch and Orka: Clay Large, The Politics of Law and Order, pp. 49-
66. Epp and Rohm strong supporters, and Rohm provided weapons: Werner, “SA und
NSDAP: SA: “Wehrverband”, “Parteitruppe” oder “Revolutionsarmee” “, p. 15.

Large scale weapons transports to Austria: Werner, “SA und NSDAP: SA:

99 ¢

“Wehrverband”, “Parteitruppe” oder “Revolutionsarmee” “, p. 16. Formation of
Einwohnerwehr border protection: 16 July 1920, von Kahr, Staatsministerium des
Innern to sdmtliche Regierungen and others, “Nr. 2700g 464 Betreff:
Einwohnerwehren; hier Grenzschutz.”, “Vertraulich!” BHSA/KA RWGrKdo 4/Bd.
499, p. 1.

30. Orgesch banned nationally and only continued in Bavaria: Clay Large, The Politics of
Law and Order, p. 52. Bavarian Government refused federal request to dissolve
Einwohnerwehr: 14 May 1920, von Kahr, Staatsministerium des Innern, Nr.
2700g374 an Reichsministerium des Innern, “Betreff: Aufldsung der
Einwohnerwehren.”, BHSA/KA RWGrKdo 4/No. 499, pp. 1-3; Clay Large, The
Politics of Law and Order, p. 67. Allied pressure: 11 December 1920, General Nollet,
Interallierte Militdr-Kontroll-Kommission Nr. 1251 to Reichsminister, BHSA/II
Minn 66139, pp. 1-2. Allied concerns can be traced in the papers of TNA FO

371/4740, 4757, 4758, 4759, 5855, 5856, and 5865. For discussions between Bavaria
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and the Reich concerning disarmament and the IMKK, see papers in BHSA/KA
RWGrKdo 4/No. 60, 61, BHSA/II M Inn 66139; for the reduction of size of the army
see papers in BHSA/KA RWGrKdo 4/No. 68, 78, 76; “Clauses Militaires”, 30
January 1921, “Telegramm Paris”, BHSA/II MA 104087, p. 2. May 1921 central
government banned unauthorized formation of military-style units: 24 June 1921, Dr.
Wirth, die Reichsregierung, “Bekanntmachung.”, “Betreff: Auflosung der
bayerischen Einwohnerwehren.”, BHSA/II M Ju 10973; Steger, Berufssoldaten oder
Préatorianer, pp. 137-147. Disarmament of Orgesch and dissolution of Orka: Andreas
Werner, “SA und NSDAP: SA: “Wehrverband”, “Parteitruppe” oder
“Revolutionsarmee” , p. 18; Clay Large, The Politics of Law and Order, pp. 52-3,
63.

31. Bavarian armaments offices to be closed: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters, p.
117. Réhm won Epp’s support to set up the Feldzeugmeisterei: Rohm, Geschichte
eines Hochverriters, pp. 117-118. Nominal superior von Botzheim but R6hm was in
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235
Mohl kept the patriotic movement united: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch,
pp- 19, 90.
35. Death of King Ludwig and his burial: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp.
122-123. The king was born on 7 January 1845: Wilhelm Liebhart, Kénigtum und
Politik in Bayern (Peter Lang, Frankfurt am Main, 1994), p. 199. R6hm disappointed
Crown Prince Rupprecht did not announce he was resuming the throne: R6hm,
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Radlmaier case: 16 January 1923, R6hm to Freiherr von Berchem, “Betreff:



240
Meldung”, BA MA RH 53-7/v. 394a, pp. 1-3; 15 January 1923, L. von Radlmaier,
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Bestrebungen vom 26. September bis 9. November 1923 am 5. Oktober 1927 nachm.
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Bestrebungen vom 26. September bis 9. November 1923 am Donnerstag den 6.
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Oktober 1927.”, BHSA/II MA 103476, p. 136. R6hm told Seydel and Faber:
“Niederschrift {iber die 2. Sitzung des Ausschusses zur Untersuchung der Vorginge
vom 1. Mai 1923 und der gegen Reichs- und Landesverfassung gerichteten
Bestrebungen vom 26. September bis 9. November 1923 am Donnerstag den 6.
Oktober 1927.”, BHSA/Il MA 103476, p. 136.
33. Lossow’s orders not always followed: “Niederschrift {iber die 2. Sitzung des
Ausschusses zur Untersuchung der Vorgédnge vom 1. Mai 1923 und der gegen
Reichs- und Landesverfassung gerichteten Bestrebungen vom 26. September bis 9.
November 1923 am Donnerstag den 6. Oktober 1927.”, BHSA/II MA 103476, p. 190.
Rohm had already ordered an armoured car: “Niederschrift tiber die 2. Sitzung des
Ausschusses zur Untersuchung der Vorgédnge vom 1. Mai 1923 und der gegen
Reichs- und Landesverfassung gerichteten Bestrebungen vom 26. September bis 9.
November 1923 am Donnerstag den 6. Oktober 1927.”, BHSA/II MA 103476, p. 189.
Cars with weapons driven to Faber firm: “Niederschrift {iber die 2. Sitzung des
Ausschusses zur Untersuchung der Vorgénge vom 1. Mai 1923 und der gegen
Reichs- und Landesverfassung gerichteten Bestrebungen vom 26. September bis 9.
November 1923 am Donnerstag den 6. Oktober 1927.”, BHSA/II MA 103476, p. 190.
34. National Socialists and Reichsflagge assembled: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, pp. 180-181. Distribution of weapons, and the role of Kriebel and
Hitler: “Niederschrift iiber die 2. Sitzung des Ausschusses zur Untersuchung der
Vorgéinge vom 1. Mai 1923 und der gegen Reichs- und Landesverfassung gerichteten
Bestrebungen vom 26. September bis 9. November 1923 am Donnerstag den 6.

Oktober 1927.”, BHSA/II MA 103476, pp. 195-196. See also police interviews of
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various participants in SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6705 and Hitler”’s 1926 testimony in
SAM STAW 3073.

35. Rohm claimed he held aloof: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 181. Lossow
stationed an officer at the WKK switchboard: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall

Putsch, p. 198. Rohm claimed to have declined Nortz”s requests to intervene: Rohm,
Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 181. Otto Strasser’s claim that Lossow sent RGhm
out to the Oberwiesenfeld to stop Hitler personally from taking action is not

supported by any other witnesses. The claim was made in Otto Strasser and Michael
Stern, Flight from Terror (New York, 1943) and is repeated in Charles Bracelen

Flood, Hitler the Path to Power (Houghton Mifflin, Boston, 1989), p. 375 and note

41 p. 632. The Kampfverbande moved off: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p.
181. Rohm claimed they removed the pressure from the left: Rohm, Geschichte eines
Hochverraters, p. 181. Later historians suggested the opposite: Gordon, Hitler and

the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 200.

36. 1 May a trial of strength: Steger, Berufssoldaten oder Pritorianer, p. 191. It revealed
extent of support for patriotic organizations within Reichswehr and Landespolizei:
“Niederschrift {iber die 2. Sitzung des Ausschusses zur Untersuchung der Vorginge
vom 1. Mai 1923 und der gegen Reichs- und Landesverfassung gerichteten
Bestrebungen vom 26. September bis 9. November 1923 am Donnerstag den 6.
Oktober 1927.”, BHSA/II MA 103476, pp. 197, 199, 200. The results of 1 May in
Lossow’s attitude, the replacement of Nortz and Bavarian Government legal
proceedings, which Gordon suggested that Justice Minister Giirtner failed to

prosecute vigorously: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, pp. 201-202, 204.
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37. Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 202. Lossow told R6hm of his transfer:
Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 182. Lossow’s reasons for the transfer: 14
May 1923, von Lossow, “Erklarung.”, BA MA RH 53-7/v. 394a, pp. 1-2.
38. Lossow rejected R6hm’s complaint: 14 May 1923, von Lossow, “Erklédrung.”, BA
MA RH 53-7/v. 394a, p. 2. R6hm asked for release from the army and Lossow agreed
to his leave: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 182; 8 May 1923, Endres i.V.
der Chef des Stabes, Bayer. Wehrkreiskommando VII Hpt. Nr. 15 309/I1a Nr. 3144 to
the Reichswehrministerium-Heeres-Personalamt, “Betreff: Hauptmann R6hm.”,
BHSA/KA RWGrKdo4/No. 784. Seydel and Faber resigned: 6 May 1923, Seydel to
Chef des Stabes, BA MA RH 53-7/v. 394a, pp. 1-4; R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverraters, pp. 182-183. This made it easier for Lossow to bring it back under
control: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 204.
39. R6hm withdrew his resignation request: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p.
184; 30 May 1923, Der Chef des Stabes, Bayerisches Wehrkreiskommando VII Ila
Nr. 3504 to Wehrministerium Personalamt, BHSA/KA RWGrKdo4/No. 784. R6hm
on leave in Bad Reichenhall: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters, p. 184. He
attended a Reichsflagge evening: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, pp. 190-
191.
40. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 184-185.
41. Ban on Reichswehr participation: Steger, Berufssoldaten oder Prétorianer, pp. 200-
201. Rohm led Reichsflagge Siidbayern: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p.
191.
42. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 191-194.
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43. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 185, 196. Rohm’s renewed request to
leave the army: 27 September 1923, signature, i.V. Der Chef des Stabes, Bayer.
Wehrkreiskommando VII to the Reichswehrministerium-Heeres-Personalamt, Berlin,
“ITa Nr. 5337.”, BHSA/KA RWGrKdo4/No. 784. Request approved on 16 November
1923: 16 November 1923, Heerespersonalamt telegram to Wehrkkdo Muenchen,
BHSA/KA RWGrKdo4/No. 784.
44. Kahr’s appointment and its consequences: Kraus, Grundziige der Geschichte
Bayerns, p. 226. Scheubner-Richter’s position: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall
Putsch, p. 94. Hitler wanted immediate action: Steger, Berufssoldaten oder
Pritorianer, p. 199.
45. Crown Prince Rupprecht’s support for von Kahr: 29 September 1923, Kriebel, der
militérische Fiihrer, Deutscher Kampfbund B.B. Nr. 242 to General Achter,
Hauptmann Heiss, Hauptmann Goring, “Betreff: Befehl seiner Majestit des Konigs.”,
SAM STAW 1/3103, pp. 1-2. On the Crown Prince’s role in the 1923 Bavarian
political crisis: Weif,, Kronprinz Rupprecht von Bayern (1869-1955), pp. 211-18.
Heiss’s response and R6hm’s reaction: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p.
199.
46. Promotion glacial: Gordon, The Reichswehr and the German Republic 1919-1926,
pp- 196-7. Most political officers removed: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch,
pp. 514-15.
CHAPTER 7: PUTSCHIST SEPTEMBER 1923-1 APRIL 1924
1. “S. Verhandlungstag: Samstag, den 1. Marz 1924, Vormittag.”, Lothar Gruchmann

and Reinhard Weber (eds), with the collaboration of Otto Gritschneder, Der Hitler-
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Prozess 1924: Wortlaut der Hauptverhandlung vor dem Volksgericht Miinchen Teil 2
5.-11. Verhandlungstag (K.G. Saur, Munich, 1998), p. 380.
2. Rohm’s Iunch: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 208. Germans in economic
distress and fear: Kershaw, Hitler, p. 202. National Government proclaimed state of
emergency after attempted communist uprisings: Kolb, The Weimar Republic, p. 48.
Stresemann government revoked passive resistance and resumed paying reparations:
Kolb, The Weimar Republic, p. 47. The process of bringing hyper-inflation under
control continued on 15 November when the government introduced the Rentenmark
at the value of 1 billion (million million) paper marks: Kolb, The Weimar Republic,
pp- 47, 199.
3. Knilling hoped to weaken right wing: Kershaw, Hitler, p. 202. Kahr invalidated law
to protect republic: Kraus, Grundziige der Geschichte Bayerns, p. 226. Began policy
of deporting non-Bavarians: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 224. He
prevented execution of arrest warrants: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p.
204.
4. Lossow executive officer of Bavarian government: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall
Putsch, p. 150. Conflict over Volkischer Beobachter: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer
Hall Putsch, pp. 228-229; Kraus, Grundziige der Geschichte Bayerns, p. 226.
Bavarian government appointed Lossow state commandant and had troops swear an
oath of loyalty to Bavaria: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 204; Lothar
Gruchmann, “Der Weg zum Hitler-Putsch: Das Reich und Bayern im Krisenjahr
1923, Lothar Gruchmann and Reinhard Weber (eds), with the collaboration of Otto

Gritschneder, Der Hitler-Prozess 1924: Wortlaut der Hauptverhandlung vor dem
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Volksgericht Miinchen Teil 1: 1.-4. Verhandlungstag (K.G. Saur, Munich, 1998), p.
LVIIL
5. Reichsflagge meeting at Nuremberg: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp.
199-200. Heiss proclaimed support for Kahr influenced by Crown Prince: R6hm,
Geschichte eines Hochverréters, pp. 202-3. Crown Prince supported Kahr: Sendtner,
Rupprecht von Wittelsbach, p. 522.
6. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 200.
7. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, pp. 202-203. On the founding of RKF: 11
October 1923, signatures, “Griindungsversammlung des Vereins “Reichskriegsflagge
e.V.”, SAM AG Miinchen 19209, pp. 1-5; 11 October 1923, “Kdmpfende
Kampfverbande.”, Volkische Zeitung, 48, press clipping in ZStAP/R 15.07/67185 file
Nr. 374.
8. SPD left coalition: Lothar Gruchmann, “Der Weg zum Hitler-Putsch: Das Reich und
Bayern im Krisenjahr 1923”, Der Hitler-Prozess 1924 Teil 1, p. LIX; Kolb, The
Weimar Republic, p. 48 gives the date of 3 November for this development. Plans for
an independent Reich directory: Lothar Gruchmann, “Der Weg zum Hitler-Putsch:
Das Reich und Bayern im Krisenjahr 1923, Der Hitler-Prozess 1924 Teil 1, pp. LIX-
LX. Seeckt wanted to act legally: Lothar Gruchmann, “Der Weg zum Hitler-Putsch:
Das Reich und Bayern im Krisenjahr 19237, Der Hitler-Prozess 1924 Teil 1, p. LX.
Others wanted less constitutional action: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p.
247. Negotiations between north Germans and Bavarians: Gordon, Hitler and the
Beer Hall Putsch, p. 249. The triumvirs sought to use the North German organisations

to pressure Seeckt: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 247.
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9. Parallel negotiations with Kampfbund: Lothar Gruchmann, “Der Weg zum Hitler-
Putsch: Das Reich und Bayern im Krisenjahr 1923, Der Hitler-Prozess 1924 Teil 1,
p. LXII-LXIII. Lossow called conference of the Verbande: Lothar Gruchmann, “Der
Weg zum Hitler-Putsch: Das Reich und Bayern im Krisenjahr 1923”, Der Hitler-
Prozess 1924 Teil 1, p. LXI; Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, pp. 252-253.
Lossow issued secret order: Lothar Gruchmann, “Der Weg zum Hitler-Putsch: Das
Reich und Bayern im Krisenjahr 1923, Der Hitler-Prozess 1924 Teil 1, p. LXI. On
the ambiguity of Lossow”s policies: Steger, Berufssoldaten oder Pratorianer, pp.
202-213. R6hm advised Augsburg RKF: 27 October 1923, R6hm,
Reichskriegsflaggekommando Gr.B. Nr. 26 an Kommando Augsburg, “Geheim! Nur
fiir den Fiihrer!”, “Betr. Vorbereitungen.”, BAR NS 26/125, p. 1.
10. Pressure from their followers: Kershaw, Hitler, pp. 202-203. Mustapha Kemal’’s
consolidation of his rule: Alan Palmer, Kemal Atatiirk (Makers of the Twentieth
Century, Cardinal, London, 1991), pp. 54, 70-71. Mommsen argues R6hm in
particular favoured Ankara solution: Hans Mommsen, Die verspielte Freiheit: Der
Weg der Republik von Weimar in den Untergang 1918 bis 1933 (Propylden, Frankfurt
a.M., 1990), p. 177, but gives no source for his claim.
11. Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, pp. 249, 251, 257; Steger, Berufssoldaten
oder Prétorianer, pp. 213-217.
12. R6hm held RKF inspections and oath ceremonies: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 207. RKF probably better armed and drilled: Gordon, Hitler and
the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 103. RKF strength: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters,
p. 201; Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 102. R6hm claimed its members
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came from all classes: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 201-202. They
were predominantly young men from the middle classes: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer
Hall Putsch, p. 103. R6hm’s nephew was a member: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 202. Rohm and Rossbach worked through student groups: 13
February 1924, unheaded and unsigned report of the interrogation of Karl Osswald,
SAM STAW 3101, pp. 1-2; Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 442.

13. 6 December 1923, Vla, unheaded memorandum, containing a letter written by
Osswald to R6hm on 18 November 1923, a copy of which was found in a police
search, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 10162, p. 1. R6hm operated RKF through Seydel

and Osswald: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, pp. 101-102.

14. Organisational structure of the RKF: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, pp.
201-202; Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 102. RKF Miinchen trained in
Reichswehr barracks: 2 February 1924, Polizeidirektion Miinchen, “Vorfiithrungs-
Note.” (interrogation of Karl Osswald), SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6712, p. 3.

15. Possible plans to kidnap Bavarian leaders: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch,
p. 259. On 6 November Kahr, Lossow and Seisser spoke: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer
Hall Putsch, pp. 255-6.

16. Hitler’s decision: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 259; Kershaw, Hitler,
p- 205. In Endres’ opinion R6hm was an instigator of the Putsch: Endres, memoirs,
BHSA/KA HS 925, p. 25.

17. “2. Verhandlungstag: Mittwoch, den 27. Februar 1924 vorm.”, Der Hitler-Prozess
1924 Teil 1, p. 81. Meeting of 7 November in Kriebel’s house: Gordon, Hitler and the
Beer Hall Putsch, pp. 259-260; Kershaw, Hitler, p. 205. 3 January 1924, unsigned,
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“Rohm. — Die Zusammenstellung fasst auf den Sonderakten R6hm und die mir sonst
gekommenen Schriftstiicken. Ergdnzungen werden die Zusammenstellungen der
Collegen Dresse und Ehard bringen.”, SAM STAW 3108 p. 1 claimed the meeting at
Kriebel’s house took place in the afternoon of 7 November. Denial that R6hm was
present: “2. Verhandlungstag: Mittwoch, den 27. Februar 1924 vorm.”, Der Hitler-
Prozess Teil 1, pp. 80-81. This may have been to protect Rohm’s legal position:
Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 260 and footnote 67 p. 260. 1937
account: December 1937, Johann Aigner, former man-servant of Scheubner-Richter,
“Ein Beitrag zur Geschichte der nationalen Erhebung im November 1923. Als
Ordonnanz bei Hochverrétern.”, BAR NS 26/116, pp. 3-4. Prosecutor’s office agreed
with Weber that “Réhm was kept informed throughout by Hitler about his strivings to
create a black-white-red Germany from Bavaria, and he was also informed of the
discussions cultivated by Hitler in this connection”: 3 January 1924, unsigned,
“Rohm. — Die Zusammenstellung fasst auf den Sonderakten R6hm und die mir sonst
gekommenen Schriftstiicken. Ergdnzungen werden die Zusammenstellungen der
Collegen Dresse und Ehard bringen.”, SAM STAW 3108, p. 1.
18. Lossow called a meeting of senior commanders: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall
Putsch, p. 274 and footnote 16 pp. 274-275. He warned against falsified orders and a
number of officers present declared support for Ludendorff and Hitler: Endres,
memoirs, BHSA/KA HS 925, p. 37.
19. Putschists may have believed triumvirs would cooperate: Kraus, Grundziige der
Geschichte Bayerns, p. 227. Decision to strike on evening of 8 November: Kershaw,

Hitler, p. 205. Planning was sketchy: 3 January 1924, unsigned, “Réhm. — Die
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Zusammenstellung fasst auf den Sonderakten R6hm und die mir sonst gekommenen
Schriftstiicken. Ergdnzungen werden die Zusammenstellungen der Collegen Dresse
und Ehard bringen.”, SAM STAW 3108, p. 3; Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall
Putsch, pp. 260-262. Leaders of paramilitary groups met on 7 November and R6hm
probably attended: 3 January 1924, unsigned, “Réhm. — Die Zusammenstellung fasst
auf den Sonderakten R6hm und die mir sonst gekommenen Schriftstiicken.
Ergidnzungen werden die Zusammenstellungen der Collegen Dresse und Ehard
bringen.”, SAM STAW 3108, p. 2. Kampfbund leaders received sealed written orders
to be opened on evening of 8 November: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch,
pp- 260-1.
20. Quoted in Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 267. The plan was to force the
cooperation of the triumvirs: Kershaw, Hitler, p. 205. Goals of the new nationalist
government: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, pp. 264-267.
21. The forces at the disposal of the Kampfbund and the government: Gordon, Hitler and
the Beer Hall Putsch, pp. 270-272.
22. Osswald ordered RKF to attend meeting at Lowenbréaukeller: 6 November 1923,
Osswald, Reichskriegsflagge Kommando Miinchen, “Befehl Nr. 1.”, BAR NS
26/125. He ordered weapons be brought to the Corps Palatia: 6 November 1923,
Osswald, Kommandeur, Reichskriegsflagge Sturmabteilung., “Abteilungsbefehl”,
BAR NS 26/125; 2 February 1924, Polizeidirektion Miinchen, “Vorfiithrungs-Note.”,
(Karl Osswald), SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6712, p. 5; 11 February 1924, unheaded
note signed by Hans Feil, Kriminal Kommissar, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6712.
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23. The night was dark and starless: “Vertraulich!”, “Der Putsch am 8. November 1923
Vorgeschichte und Verlauf.”, “Anlage 4.”, “Vorginge beim Stab der 7. Division am
8.11. abends u. 9.11. vom Verlassen des Biirgerbraukellers bis zur
Wiedereinbesitznahme des Kriegs-Ministeriums.”, BHSA/KA HS 2401, p. 13. The
first snow: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 209. Kahr spoke to a full
house: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 282. The account of the Nazi
takeover of the meeting is based on Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, pp.
283-91.
24. RKF meeting at Lowenbraukeller, attendance and R6hm”s speech: 27 November
1923, signatures (Rudolf Schmaéling and Lorenz Reithmeier), “VId/131.”, “Betreft:
Versammlung der ‘Reichskriegsflagge’ im Lowenbraukeller am Donnerstag, den 8.
November 1923 abends 8 Uhr.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 6.709, pp. 1-2. R6hm’s
\ speech: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 210. Esser took Hitler’s place:
John Dornberg, Munich 1923: the Story of Hitler”s First Grab for Power (Harper &
Row, New York, 1982), pp. 25-26. Esser was Dornberg’s source. R6hm interrupted
Esser’s speech: 27 November 1923, signatures (Rudolf Schméling and Lorenz
Reithmeier), “VId/131.”, “Betreff: Versammlung der ‘Reichskriegsflagge’ im
Lowenbraukeller am Donnerstag, den 8. November 1923 abends 8 Uhr.”, SAM Pol.
Dir. Miinchen Nr. 6.709, p. 2. Rolf Reiner had telephoned the news: “Vertraulich!”,
“Der Putsch am 8. November 1923. Vorgeschichte und Verlauf.”, “C. Die Ereignisse
am 8.1.1 abends in den Kasernen usw. bis zur Uebernahme der Leitung der
Gegenmassnahmen durch den Befehlshaber.”, BHSA/KA HS 2401, p. 9; Dornberg,

Munich 1923, p. 72. Esser’s announcement: 27 November 1923, signatures (Rudolf
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Schmiling and Lorenz Reithmeier), “VId/131.”, “Betreff: Versammlung der
‘Reichskriegsflagge’ im Lowenbraukeller am Donnerstag, den 8. November 1923
abends 8 Uhr.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 6.709, p. 2; Dornberg, Munich 1923, p.
83. Kampfbund members called on to march to the Biirgerbraukeller: 27 November
1923, signatures (Rudolf Schméling and Lorenz Reithmeier), “VId/131.”, “Betreft:
Versammlung der ‘Reichskriegsflagge’ im Lowenbraukeller am Donnerstag, den 8.
November 1923 abends 8 Uhr.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 6.709, pp. 2-3;
Dornberg, Munich 1923, p. 84; R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 211.
Timing: 27 November 1923, signatures (Rudolf Schmaéling and Lorenz Reithmeier),
“VId/131.”, “Betreff: Versammlung der ‘Reichskriegsflagge’ im Lowenbréaukeller am
Donnerstag, den 8. November 1923 abends 8 Uhr.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr.
6.709, pp. 2-3; Dornberg, Munich 1923, pp. 84, 105.
25. Rohm received orders: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 211; Dornberg,
Munich 1923, pp. 118-119. Main body of RKF went to Corpshaus Palatia to collect
weapons. It is not clear from the conflicting testimonies whether this was all or only
part of RKF: 2 February 1924, Polizeidirektion Miinchen, ‘“Vorfiihrungs-Note.”
(interrogation of Karl Osswald), SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6712, p. 8. See also the
testimony of Andreas Mutz, corps servant at Korpshaus Palatia, 8 February 1924,
Abteilung VI a F 317/24., unheaded, “Abschrift!”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6.712, p.
3. Other Kampfbund forces moved off to other tasks: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer
Hall Putsch, pp. 291-292. R6hm and RKF, Batterie Lembert and Kampfbund
Miinchen arrived at WKK: testimony of Lembert in 3 January 1924, Rottl, Kr. Skr.,

Polizeidirektion Abteilung VI a F, “Betreff: Umsturzversuch vom 8./9.11.1923. — zu



259
A.V. XIX 421/23. =7, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6.712, p. 5. Daser ordered the men let
in: 19 November 1923, Harzenetter, unheaded statement, SAM STAW 3099. Daser
had already alerted Ruith: 13 November 1923, “Abschrift von Abschrift. Hauptmann
Daser, Offz.v.Dienst 8./9.X1.”, “Bericht iiber die Vorgénge 8./9.11.23 im
Wehrkreiskommando.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 10066, p. 1.
26. Allocation of forces in WKK: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, pp. 211-212.
27. Quoted in 13 November 1923, “Abschrift von Abschrift. Hauptmann Daser,
Offz.v.Dienst 8./9.X1.”, “Bericht {iber die Vorgédnge 8./9.11.23 im
Wehrkreiskommando.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 10066, p. 2. The timing of Hitler’s
arrival was disputed. Daser suggested 10.40 p.m.: 13 November 1923, “Abschrift von
Abschrift. Hauptmann Daser, Offz.v.Dienst 8./9.X1.”, “Bericht iiber die Vorginge
8./9.11.23 im Wehrkreiskommando.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 10066, p. 1. R6hm
wrote 11.00 p.m.: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 212. According to
Rohm: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters, p. 212. Hitler’s speech: 13 November
1923, “Abschrift von Abschrift. Hauptmann Daser, Offz.v.Dienst 8./9.X1.”, “Bericht
iiber die Vorginge 8./9.11.23 im Wehrkreiskommando.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen
10066, p. 2. Arrival of Ludendorff and Péhner: 22 November 1923, Polizeidirektion
Abteilung VIaF., “Betreff: Umsturzversuch in der Nacht vom 8. auf 9.11.1923.”,
(interrogation of Seydel), SAM Pol. Dir. 6713, pp. 8-10; arrival of Kriebel: R6hm,
Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 212.
28. This account of developments elsewhere in the Putsch is based on Gordon, Hitler and
the Beer Hall Putsch, pp. 289, 317-318, 320, 322-324, 332-335.
29. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 212-213.
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30. R6hm claimed his men were disciplined: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p.
212. Schwandner supported this: 23 January 1960, Max Schwandner to H.J. Gordon
Jr, BAMA Sg 1/91 963, p. 4. Other accounts differed: 15 November 1923, Lt.
Biechele an das Wehrkreiskommando VII, “Betreff: Vorgdnge im Wehrkreis-Kdo. in
der Nacht vom 8./9.11.23.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6712, p. 1; Stabsarzt Dr.
Muntsch, “Bericht iiber meine am 9.11.23 im WehrkreisKdo. VII empfangenen
Eindriicke.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6712, pp. 1-2. R6hm seemed depressed: 3
January 1924, unsigned, “Réhm. — Die Zusammenstellung fasst auf den Sonderakten
R6hm und die mir sonst gekommenen Schriftstiicken. Ergdnzungen werden die
Zusammenstellungen der Collegen Dresse und Ehard bringen.”, SAM STAW 3108,
p. 5. He ordered the Reichswehr officers be placed in protective custody: 3 January
1924, unsigned, “Roéhm. — Die Zusammenstellung fasst auf den Sonderakten R6hm
und die mir sonst gekommenen Schriftstiicken. Ergdnzungen werden die
Zusammenstellungen der Collegen Dresse und Ehard bringen.”, SAM STAW 3108,
p. 5.
31. 16 November 1923, Georg [Raithel] to Richard [Reinhardt], “Brief-Abschrift.”, SAM
Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6.712, p. 1. R6hm sent out patrols: 13 February 1924, unheaded
and unsigned report of the bringing forward (Vorfithrung) of Karl Osswald, SAM
STAW 3.101, p. 7. He called the officers to him and barricaded Schonfeldstrasse:
Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 214; 5 July 1941, Endres’ memoirs,
BHSA/KA HS 925, p. 48; 13 February 1924, unheaded and unsigned
Vorfiihrungsreport of Karl Osswald, SAM STAW 3101, p. 7; Gordon, Hitler and the
Beer Hall Putsch, p. 344. Phones were cut off: 13 February 1924, unheaded and



261
unsigned bringing forward of Karl Osswald, SAM STAW 3101, p. 8. Leaders
explained to the men: 16 November 1923, Georg [Raithel] to Richard [Reinhardt],
“Brief-Abschrift.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6.712, p. 1. R6hm ordered the men and
himself took up position: 3 January 1924, unsigned, “Réhm. — Die Zusammenstellung
fasst auf den Sonderakten Rohm und die mir sonst gekommenen Schriftstiicken.
Ergidnzungen werden die Zusammenstellungen der Collegen Dresse und Ehard
bringen.”, SAM STAW 3108 pp. 6-7.

32. Landespolizei and Reichswehr forces moved towards Wehrkreiskommando: Gordon,
Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, pp. 343-344. Note that R6hm exaggerated the

strength of the attacking force in his autobiography: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, pp. 215-216. Haselmayr and von Krausser visited R6hm and then

went to Lossow: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 346. Hofmann won
Lossow”’s permission to offer Rohm: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p.

346. Haselmayr and Krausser returned to find Epp and Horauf urging R6hm to
surrender: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 217-218. R6hm agreed to two-
hour armistice and left to negotiate with Danner: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall
Putsch, p. 346.

33. Gordon followed Endres’ account here rather than R6hm’s because he judged it to be
less tendentious: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, pp. 346-347 and note 109

p. 346; 5 July 1941, Endres, memoirs, BHSA/KA HS 925, pp. 51-52. While Endres

as a witness was hostile to R6hm, Gordon’s overall assessment of his evidence seems

justified.
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34. Police officer brought news: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 347. March
through Munich and shootings at Feldherrenhalle: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall
Putsch, pp. 350-365.
35. Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, pp. 347-348.
36. Rohm had to hold back some of his forces and the formal surrender terms: Gordon,
Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, p. 348. At 1.30 p.m. the occupiers assembled to
surrender: Dornberg, Munich 1923, p. 304. Faust’s body carried to his home:
testimony of Karl Osswald: 2 February 1924, Polizeidirektion Miinchen,
“Vorfiihrungs-Note.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6712, p. 13. R6hm placed under arrest
and driven: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 221.
37. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 228-229.
38. RKF, NSDAP and other organizations banned: 13 November 1923, Dr. Kahr, der
Generalstaatskommissar, “Verordnung tiber die Auflésung der
Nationalsozialistischen Partei, der Biinde Oberland und Reichskriegsflagge.”, Bay.
Staatsanzeiger, No. 264, 14 November 1923, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6721. Osswald
continued to lead: “Beilage zum Briefe an R6hm Ernst, datiert vom 18.11.23.”, 11
November 1923, Karl Osswald, Kommandeur, Reichskriegsflagge to various 6rtliche
Kommandos, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 1062, p. 1; and 6 December 1923, Vla,
unheaded memorandum, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 10162, pp. 1-3. On the
underground continuation of the organisations, see also Gordon, Hitler and the Beer
Hall Putsch, pp. 427-436. R6hm’s statement to RKF members: R6hm, Geschichte
eines Hochverriters, pp. 255-256. His message of 3 December: Gordon, Hitler and

the Beer Hall Putsch, pp. 434-435.
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39. Quoted in 16 February 1924, signature (Munz?), “Herrn Ersten Staatsanwalt
wiedervorgelegt.”, SAM StAW 3108, p. 2. Rohm was well treated and had many
visitors: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 243-244, 248. He did not
cooperate with his interrogators: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 241; 9
November 1923, “Nachmittags 3 Uhr.”, Polizeidirektion Miinchen, “Haft!
Vorfiihrungs-Note. R6hm Ernst.”, SAM StAW 3101, pp. 1-3; 6 December 1923, “VIa
F2586/23”, unheaded report of R6hm’s interrogation, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6713,
pp. 1-3. R6hm was status conscious: 16 February 1924, signature (Munz?), “Herrn
Ersten Staatsanwalt wiedervorgelegt.”, SAM STAW 3108, p. 2. He paid other
prisoners: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 234.
40. Trial location: unheaded plan of the trial building and “Skizze des Sitzungssaales fiir
den Hitlerprozess in der Infanterieschule Blutenburgstr. 3/1.”, both in SAM STAW
3099. Rohm overjoyed to shake Hitler’s hand again: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 272.
41. On the history of the People’s Court (Volksgericht) and the legal weaknesses of the
conduct of the trial, see Otto Gritschneder, “Das miflbrauchte bayerische
Volksgericht”, Der Hitler-Prozess 1924 Teil 1, pp. XIX-XLI, and Otto Gritschneder,
Bewihrungsfrist fiir den Terroristen Adolf H. Der Hitler-Putsch und die bayerische
Justiz (Verlag C.H. Beck, Munich, 1990), Part II Chapters 4 and 5. On Neithardt, see
Otto Gritschneder, Der Hitler-Prozef3 und sein Richter Georg Neithardt:
Skandalurteil von 1924 ebnet Hitler den Weg (Verlag C.H. Beck, Munich, 2001),
passim. Hitler allowed to dominate the court: Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall

Putsch, p. 479. Prosecutors chosen by Giirtner not forceful: Gordon, Hitler and the
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Beer Hall Putsch, pp. 479-485. See Giirtner’s responses to comments by ministers
during the course of the trial: “No. 13/1924. Vertraulich! Niederschrift aufgenommen
in der Ministerratssitzung vom 4. Mérz 1924 im Staatsministerium des AuBern zu
Miinchen.”, BHSA/II MA 99518, pp. 3-6; “No. 17/1924. Niederschrift aufgenommen
in der Ministerratssitzung vom 17. Mirz 1924 im Staatsministerium des AuBern zu
Miinchen.”, BHSA/II MA 99518, pp. 11-12; 10 March 1924, Haniel, Vertretung der
Reichsregierung Miinchen an das Auswirtige Amt (durch die Reichskanzlei), “Inhalt:
Militarische und aussenpolitische Zusammenhéange im Hitlerprozess.”, “A.Nr. 82.”,
BAR R431/2219, pp. 1-2.
42. “4, Verhandlungstag: Freitag, den 29. Februar 1924 nachm. 3 Uhr.,” Der Hitler-
Prozess 1924 Teil 1, p. 281. R6hm’s lawyer: Gritschneder, Der Hitler-Prozef3 und
sein Richter Georg Neithardt, p. 164. His fellow defendants provided mitigating
testimony: see the testimony of Weber, ‘2. Verhandlungstag: Mittwoch, den 27.
Februar 1924 vorm.,” Der Hitler-Prozess 1924 Teil 1, pp. 80-81; testimony of
Kriebel, “4. Verhandlungstag: Freitag, den 29. Februar 1924 vorm.,” Der Hitler-
Prozess 1924 Teil 1, p. 215.
43. “5. Verhandlungstag: Samstag, den 1. Mérz 1924, Vormittag.”, Der Hitler-Prozess
1924 Teil 2, p. 378. R6hm’s testimony: “5. Verhandlungstag: Samstag, den 1. Mérz
1924, Vormittag.”, Der Hitler-Prozess 1924 Teil 2, pp. 370-395. Schramm praised
Rohm’s selflessness and patriotism: “22. Verhandlungstag: Dienstag, den 25. Mérz
1924 vorm.”, Der Hitler-Prozess 1924 Teil 4, pp. 1427, 1448.
44, “24. Verhandlungstag: 27. Mérz 1924, vorm. 9. Uhr.”, Der Hitler-Prozess 1924 Teil

4, p. 1592. Rohm stressed he created RKF as a purely military organization: “5.
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Verhandlungstag: Samstag, den 1. Méarz 1924, Vormittag.”, Der Hitler-Prozess 1924
Teil 2, p. 380. He presented himself as uninvolved in the preparation but a willing
supporter of the new government: “S. Verhandlungstag: Samstag, den 1. Marz 1924,
Vormittag.”, Der Hitler-Prozess 1924 Teil 2, pp. 380-382, 387-388.
45. “10. Verhandlungstag, Samstag, den 8. Marz 1924, vorm. 1/2 9 Uhr.”, Der Hitler-
Prozess 1924 Teil 2, p. 692. R6hm criticized Braun in his testimony: 5.
Verhandlungstag: Samstag, den 1. Mérz 1924, Vormittag.”, Der Hitler-Prozess 1924
Teil 2, p. 386. Schramm continued these criticisms despite the testimony of senior
officers and Braun: Schramm?s claims on “7. Verhandlungstag:
Nachmittagssitzung.”, pp. 507-508; testimony of von Kref3, Braun and Major a.D.
Alexander Siry, “9. Verhandlungstag: Freitag, den 7. Mérz 1924 Nachmittag.”, pp.
638-651, 664-668; evidence of von Berchem, “10. Verhandlungstag, Samstag, den 8.
Mairz 1924, vorm. 1/2 9 Uhr.”, pp. 692-693, 695-696; Schramm on Casella again;
“11. Verhandlungstag: Montag, den 10. Mérz 1924, vormittags.”, pp. 725-726, all in
Der Hitler-Prozess 1924 Teil 2. R6hm’s challenge to von Berchem settled by a court
of inquiry: 22 April 1924, signature (Fasselberg?), unheaded note, BA MA RH
37/602, p. 1. Commission of inquiry into Braun’s conduct: 14 March 1924,
signatures, “Gutachten der Kommission zu den Fragen 1-3 des Oberstleutnant von
Berchem. Beurteilung des Verhaltens des Oberlt. Braun”, BA MA RH 37/602, pp. 1-
10. Schramm continued to bring charges and accusations against Braun: 7 April 1924,
Schramm to Wehrkreiskommando VII Abt. IC Nr. 1872, “Betreff: Hauptmann
Braun.”, BA MA RH 37/602, pp. 1-8; 9 July 1924, Fritz, Eichhorn, Burkhardt,
Strafesenat des Oberlandesgerichts Miinchen, “Reg. No. 26/1924.”, SAM STAW
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3099, pp. 1-5. In 1933, like some others involved in the suppression of the putsch,
Braun had to leave Germany, and served in the Turkish army: Bujard, “5.
Bemerkungen zu Gordon, H.J.: Hitlerputsch 1923”, BA MA Msg 2/2069, p. 20.
46. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 219-228, 269.
47. Gordon, Hitler and the Beer Hall Putsch, pp. 520-521.
48. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 225.
49. Delivery of the verdict: Gritschneder, Bewahrungsfrist fiir den Terroristen Adolf H.,
pp. 67-94. Reception of the verdict: Gritschneder, Der Hitler-Prozefl und sein Richter
Georg Neithardt, pp. 55-57. Similar light sentences in parallel trials: 16 April 1924,
Leyendecker, Salberg, Kobel, Knott, Michel, Volksgericht fiir den
Landgerichtsbezirk Miinchen I, unheaded judgement, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr.
15540, pp. 1-2.
50. Quoted in 10 September 1924, signature (Kundt), Krim.-Kommissar, “VIa 2500/23”,
“Betreff: Erscheinen in Uniform im Sitzungssaal des Volksgerichts Miinchen I
gelegentlich der Urteilsverkiindung in Sachen: - Hitler Adolf und Genossen wegen
Hochverrats —am 1. April 1924.”, SAM STAW 14344, p. 1. Violation of presidential
guidelines: 10 September 1924, signature (Kundt), Krim.-Kommissar, “VIa 2500/23”,
“Betreff: Erscheinen in Uniform im Sitzungssaal des Volksgerichts Miinchen I
gelegentlich der Urteilsverkiindung in Sachen: - Hitler Adolf und Genossen wegen
Hochverrats —am 1. April 1924.”, SAM STAW 14344, pp. 1-2. With permission of
trial judge R6hm, Briickner, Ludendorff and others appear in uniform: 10 September
1924, signature (Kundt), Krim.-Kommissar, “VIa 2500/23”, “Betreff: Erscheinen in

Uniform im Sitzungssaal des Volksgerichts Miinchen I gelegentlich der
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Urteilsverkiindung in Sachen: - Hitler Adolf und Genossen wegen Hochverrats — am
1. April 1924.”, SAM STAW 14344, p. 1. R6hm excited and distressed by
questioning: 10 September 1924, signature (Kundt), Krim.-Kommissar, “VIa
2500/23”, “Betreff: Erscheinen in Uniform im Sitzungssaal des Volksgerichts
Miinchen I gelegentlich der Urteilsverkiindung in Sachen: - Hitler Adolf und
Genossen wegen Hochverrats —am 1. April 1924.”, SAM STAW 14344, p. 2.
51. R6hm and others released on probation: “Anhang Dokument 10 Urteil des
Volksgerichts Miinchen I vom 1. April 1924 im Hitler-Prozef3”, Hitler-Prozess Teil 1,
pp. 342-343. Contemporary legal criticisms of the judgement: Gritschneder,
Bewéhrungsfrist fiir den Terroristen Adolf H., pp. 94-96; Gritschneder, Der Hitler-
ProzeB und sein Richter Georg Neithardt, pp. 57-69; on the failings of the verdict:
Gritschneder, Der Hitler-Prozefl und sein Richter Georg Neithardt, pp. 49-55. R6hm
vowed to continue the political struggle: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters, pp.
275-6.
CHAPTER 8: FRONTBANN LEADER APRIL 1924-MAY 1925
1. R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 289.
2. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 289; 1 April 1925, Adolf Hitler,
handwritten card, BAK NS 26/1258.
3. Against Hitler’s wishes volkisch movement decided to contest elections: David
Jablonsky, The Nazi Party in Dissolution: Hitler and the Verbotzeit 1923-1925 (Frank
Cass, London, 1989), p. 85; Kershaw, Hitler, pp. 228-9. R6hm saw himself as a
representative of the front fighter: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 283. He

spoke in Ansbach: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 283. R6hm and 31
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others elected to Reichstag: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 277. Reichstag
deputies had free rail travel: Roger Manvell and Heinrich Fraenkel, Doctor Goebbels
(New English Library, London, 1968), p. 8§3.

4. Rohm attended every session: “Urlaubsliste 1924 - Mai 1924 — Sept. 1924”, BAR
R0O1.01/3708, p. 25. He only spoke once: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p.
283. The British Embassy later claimed that Rohm’s one speech was greeted by
general laughter: “Enclosure in No. 26. Record of Leading Personalities in
Germany.” in 16 January 1934, Sir E. Phipps to Sir John Simon, TNA FO 408/64, p.
67. Rohm persuaded his party to submit claims: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, pp. 283-4.

5. Hitler appointed Alfred Rosenberg: Kershaw, Hitler, p. 225. On 1 January 1924
Rosenberg formed the Gro3deutsche Volksgemeinschaft: Kershaw, Hitler, p. 226.
Setting up of Volkisch Bloc: Jablonsky, The Nazi Party in Dissolution, p. 55. DVFP
founded: Kershaw, Hitler, p. 227.

6. Kurt G.W. Ludecke, I Knew Hitler: The Story of a Nazi Who escaped the Blood
Purge (Charles Scribner”’s Sons, New York, 1937, 1982 facsimile reprint by AMS
Press, New York) p. 245. R6hm saw his task: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters,
p. 289. He held discussions aided by Prosch and Liidecke: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 290; Ludecke, I Knew Hitler, pp. 245-246. R6hm’s prison visits on
10 April: Festungshaftanstalt Landsberg a/L., “Besuche fiir den Festungsgefangenen
Adolf Hitler.”, SAM St.Anw./14358, pp. 1, 4, 5, 7, 8, 9; Festungshaftanstalt
Landsberg a/L., “Besuche fiir den Festungsgefangenen Dr. Friedrich Weber”, SAM
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St.Anw./14358, p. 1; Festungshaftanstalt Landsberg a/L., “Besuche fiir den
Festungsgefangenen Oberstlt. a.D. Hermann Kriebel.”, SAM St.Anw./14358, p. 1.
7. Rohm’s talks with Goring and Rossbach in Austria: Rohm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, pp. 291-292. Rossbach could not return to take up the position of
Chief of Staff: 26 July 1924, Gerhard Rossbach, Salzburg, to R6hm, SAM Pol. Dir.
Miinchen 10138; Jablonsky, The Nazi Party in Dissolution, footnote 180 pp. 201-202.
8. 24 May 1924, R6hm, “Abschrift. Streng geheim!”, “Richtlinien fiir die
Neuorganisation der S.A. der N.S.D.A.P.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 10138, pp. 1-
2; Longerich, Die braunen Bataillone, p. 46. Goring hosted a SA leaders’ conference
in Salzburg: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Angeschuldigten-Vernehmung in der
Voruntersuchung gegen OBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen und 6 Genossen wegen
Geheimbiindelei im Gerichtsgefangnisse Miinchen am Neudeck am 27ten Oktober
1924.”, SAM STAW 14358, pp. 7-8; 16 September 1924, Polizeidirektion Miinchen,
“Vorfiihrungs-Note”, “Fortsetzung der Vernehmung am 16.9.1924 nachmittags 3.
Uhr.”, SAM STAW 14353, p. 4; Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 292;
Jablonsky, The Nazi Party in Dissolution, p. 90. Briickner stated that Goring was not
present but this appears to have been designed to conceal the fact that the Salzburg
meeting envisaged a continuation of the banned organization: “Fortsetzung der
Vernehmung am 16.9.1924 nachmittags 3. Uhr.”, SAM STAW 14353, p. 6. R6hm
claimed to prosecutors that he had no significant connection with the SA:
Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Angeschuldigten-Vernehmung in der Voruntersuchung
gegen OBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen, und 9 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei.

Aufgenommen: am 14. November 1924 im Justizpalast in Miinchen”, SAM STAW
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14359, p. 3. Distinctive SA shirts adopted: Georg Franz, “Unterredung mit Gerhard
Rossbach am 31. Okt. 1951.”, IfZ ZS 128, p. 3. R6hm’s directives for the SA: 20
April 1924, R6hm, 1.V., Der Kommandeur, “Abschrift. Befehl.”, pp. 1-2, and 24
May 1924, “Abschrift. Streng geheim”, “Richtlinien fiir die Neuorganisation der S.A.
der N.S.D.A.P.”, pp. 1-2, both in SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 10138; Jablonsky, The
Nazi Party in Dissolution, p. 90; R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 292.
Rohm attended NSDAP meetings: “Abschrift. Niederschrift iiber die Tagung der
Vertreter der N.S. D. A. P. am 20.7.24 im Hotel “Hohenzollern” zu Weimar.”, SAM
Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 15540, pp. 1-3. He led the SA in march past: 27 January 1925,
Stiitzel, Staatsministerium des Innern to the Untersuchungsrichter des
Staatsgerichtshofs zum Schutze der Republik an Landgericht Miinchen I,
Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Betreff: Osswald Karl, Student in Miinchen, und 8
Genossen wegen Geheimbiindelei.”, SAM STAW 14361, p. 2.
9. Altreichsflagge formed in Nuremberg: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-
Vernehmung mit Hauptmann a.D. HeiB3 [in der Vor]untersuchung gegen OBwald
Karl, Student in Miinchen und 9 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei [ Auf]genommen
zu Niirnberg am 29.ten November 19247, SAM STAW 14360, p. 2; Landgerichtsrat
Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung mit nachbenannten Personen in der Voruntersuchung
gegen OBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen, und 9 Gen. wegen Geheimbiindelei.
Aufgenommen zu Niirnberg, Justizpalast, Fiirtherstrasse am 28ten November 1924”,
SAM STAW 14360, p. 9 [testimony of Liebel]. By April 1924 Ritter von Krausser
led a Munich branch. The various sources differ as to whether this was founded

towards the end of 1923 or at the beginning of 1924: 28 October 1924,
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Polizeidirektion Abt. Vla., “Betreff: Karl OBwald und 6 Gen. wegen
Geheimbiindelei.”, SAM STAW 14359, p. 1; or sometime in spring 1924: 4
November 1924, Polizeidirektion, Abt. Vla., “Betreff: OBwald und 6 Gen. wegen
Geheimbiindelei.”, SAM STAW 14359, p. 3. Almost all former RKF members joined
and dominated: 31 October 1924, Polizeidirektion, Abt. VIa, “Betreff: Ofwald und 6
Gen. wegen Geheimbiindelei.”, [Vorladung of Max Graf], SAM STAW 14359, p. 2;
28 October 1924, Polizeidirektion Abt. VIa., “Betreff: Karl Owald und 6 Gen.
wegen Geheimbiindelei.”, [ Vorladung of Karl von Kapff] SAM STAW 14359, p. 1.
Osswald’s testimony varied on whether leadership was transferred to R6hm in late
May or early June. Late May: 16 September 1924, Polizeidirektion Miinchen
Abteilung VIa, “Vorfiihrungs-Note”, SAM STAW 14353, p. 2. Early June:
“Angeschuldigten=Vernechmung in der Voruntersuchung gegen Owald Karl, Student
in Miinchen und 6 Genossen wegen Geheimbiindelei am 29. Oktober 1924, am 30.
Oktober 1924 u. am 31. Oktober 24 im Gerichtsgefiangnisse Miinchen am Neudeck
vor dem Untersuchungsrichter des Staatsgerichtshofs zum Schutze der Republik
Landgerichtsrat Kellerer und dem Gerichtsschreiber Landgerichtsekretar Huber 1.,
SAM STAW 14358, p. 3.
10. R6hm’s speech at the Biirgerbraukeller: 7 May 1924, signature (Rosenecker?),
Kriminal Assistent, Polizeidirektion, Abteilung VIaF 715/24, “Betreff: 2. deutsche
Feier zur Ehren Adolf Hitler’s im Biirgerbrdu am 6.5.1924.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen
6692, pp. 2-3. The Deutsche Tag and related meetings: Rohm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 292; Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung mit Graf

Helldorff in der Voruntersuchung gegen OBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen, und 9
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Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu Naumburg am 26ten November
1924.”, SAM STAW 14360, p. 2. R6hm”s more public role also led to him speaking
in Amberg at a “German family evening” on behalf of Altreichsflagge: 12 August
1924, “Hauptmann R6hm in Amberg.”, Amberger Tageblatt No. 186, press clipping,
BHSA/Slg P 3653.
11. Kampfbund parallel: Bruce Campbell, The SA Generals and the Rise of Nazism (The
University Press of Kentucky, Lexington, 1998), p. 27; Longerich, Die braunen
Bataillone, p. 46.
12. Rohm’s visits at Landsberg on 31 May: 1 December 1924, signature, Direktion der
Gefangenenanstalt und der Festungshaftanstalt Landsberg am Lech an den Herrn
Untersuchungsrichter des Staatsgerichtshofes zum Schutze der Republik am
Landgerichte Miinchen I Herrn Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, SAM St.Anw./14360.
“Landsbergers” rejected Rohm”s draft without any coordination of their responses:
Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung mit Hermann Kriebel in der
Voruntersuchung gegen OBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen und 9 Genossen, wegen
Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen in der Gefangenen= und Festungshaftanstalt
Landsberg am Lech am 1. Dezember 1924”, SAM STAW 14360, pp. 1-2;
“Beglaubigte Abschrift.”, 6 June 1924, letter from Fr[iedrich] Weber to R6hm, SAM
Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 6724, p. 1; Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung
mit Adolf Hitler in der Voruntersuchung gegen Osswald Karl, Student in Miinchen
und 9 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen in der Gefangenen= und
Festungshaftanstalt Landsberg am Lech am 1. Dezember 1924”, SAM STAW 14360,

pp. 1-2; Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung mit Dr Weber Friedrich in
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der Voruntersuchung gegen Ofwald Karl, Student in Miinchen, und 9 Gen. wegen
Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu Landsberg a.Lech Gefangenen- und
Festungshaftanstalt am 2ten Dezember 1924”, SAM STAW 14360, pp. 2-4. Hitler
and Rohm’s discussion: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung mit Adolf
Hitler in der Voruntersuchung gegen Osswald Karl, Student in Miinchen und 9
Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen in der Gefangenen= und
Festungshaftanstalt Landsberg am Lech am 1. Dezember 1924”, SAM STAW 14360,
pp. 1-2. Weber expressed similar views to Rohm: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-
Vernehmung mit Dr. Weber Friedrich in der Voruntersuchung gegen Owald Karl,
Student in Miinchen, und 9 Gen. wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu
Landsberg a.Lech Gefangenen- und Festungshaftanstalt am 2ten Dezember 19247,
SAM STAW 14360, p. 2. Rohm’s account of the Landsbergers’ views in his
autobiography is misleading: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 293.
Ludendorff visited that afternoon: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung
mit Hermann Kriebel in der Voruntersuchung gegen Ofiwald Karl, Student in
Miinchen und 9 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen in der
Gefangenen= und Festungshaftanstalt Landsberg am Lech am 1. Dezember 1924”,
SAM STAW 14360, p. 3. They presented him with a counter-draft: Landgerichtsrat
Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung mit Adolf Hitler in der Voruntersuchung gegen
Osswald Karl, Student in Miinchen und 9 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei.
Aufgenommen in der Gefangenen= und Festungshaftanstalt Landsberg am Lech am
1. Dezember 1924”, SAM STAW 14360, pp. 2-3. Ludendorff told them R6hm

already had the matter correctly under way: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-
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Vernehmung mit Adolf Hitler in der Voruntersuchung gegen Osswald Karl, Student
in Miinchen und 9 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen in der
Gefangenen= und Festungshaftanstalt Landsberg am Lech am 1. Dezember 1924”,
SAM STAW 14360, p. 3.
13. Rohm admitted to Karl Schramm and Helldorf: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-
Vernehmung mit Graf Helldorff in der Voruntersuchung gegen Ofwald Karl, Student
in Miinchen, und 9 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu Naumburg
am 26ten November 1924”, SAM STAW 14360, pp. 7-8; Landgerichtsrat Kellerer,
“Angeschuldigten-Vernehmung in der Voruntersuchung gegen Of3wald Karl, Student
in Miinchen, und 6 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei am 21ten Oktober 1924 im
Strafvollstreckungsgefangnisse in Stadelheim”, [Karl Schramm] SAM STAW 14358,
p. 4. He told Helldorf that he had nonetheless created the Frontbann: Landgerichtsrat
Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernechmung. mit Graf Helldorff in der Voruntersuchung gegen
OBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen, und 9 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei.
Aufgenommen zu Naumburg am 26ten November 1924”, SAM STAW 14360, p. 8.
To others he was evasive: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung mit
nachbenannten Personen [Liebel] in der Voruntersuchung gegen OBwald Karl,
Student in Miinchen, und 9 Gen. wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu
Niirnberg, Justizpalast, Fiirtherstrasse am 28ten November 1924.”, SAM STAW
14360, pp. 2-3.
14. Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernechmung mit Adolf Hitler in der

Voruntersuchung gegen gegen OfBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen und 9 Genossen,
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wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen in der Gefangenen= und Festungshaftanstalt
Landsberg am Lech am 1. Dezember 19247, SAM STAW 14360, p. 3.

15. Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernechmung mit Dr Weber Friedrich in der
Voruntersuchung gegen OBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen, und 9 Gen. wegen
Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu Landsberg a.Lech Gefangenen= und
Festungshaftanstalt am 2ten Dezember 1924”, SAM STAW 14360, p. 6.

16. Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernechmung mit Adolf Hitler in der
Voruntersuchung gegen gegen OfBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen und 9 Genossen,
wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen in der Gefangenen= und Festungshaftanstalt
Landsberg am Lech am 1. Dezember 19247, SAM STAW 14360, p. 4. Hitler let
Rohm know via other visitors that it would be pointless: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer,
“Zeugen-Vernehmung mit Adolf Hitler in der Voruntersuchung gegen gegen Ofwald
Karl, Student in Miinchen und 9 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen
in der Gefangenen= und Festungshaftanstalt Landsberg am Lech am 1. Dezember
1924”7, SAM STAW 14360, p. 5.

17. Summer 1949, Robert Holtzmann, “Tragik zweier {iberragender Personlichkeiten.”,
BAK NL 79/21/1, p. 6.

18. R6hm continued his discussions: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung.
mit Generalmajor a.D. Achter [in] der Voruntersuchung gegen OBwald Karl, Student
in Miinchen, und 9 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu Miinchen,
Justizpalast am 14ten November 19247, SAM STAW 14359, pp. 1-3; Landgerichtsrat
Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernechmung mit der nachbezeichneten Person [Konstantin Hierl]

in der Voruntersuchung gegen OBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen, und 9 Genossen,
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wegen Geheimbiindelei, Aufgenommen zu Miinchen Justizpalast - am 6.ten
November 19247, SAM STAW 14359, pp. 1-3. Weiss’s claim that he first heard of
the Frontbann in June does not seem believable however: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer,
“Angeschuldigten-Vernehmung mit Weil Wilhelm in der Voruntersuchung gegen
OBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen und 9 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei
abgehalten den 5. November 1924 in Miinchen — Justizpalast —°, SAM STAW 14358,
p. 2; 27 October 1924, Polizeidirektion Abt. Vla., “Betreff: OBwald Karl und 6
Genossen wegen Geheimbiindelei.”, SAM STAW 14359, pp. 2-3. On the meeting at
the Haus am Frauenplatz: Karl Osswald, “Abschrift. Bericht. Betreft: Besprechung
am 10.7. liber Frontring, Frontbann.”, SAM STAW 14344, pp. 1-6; 20 September
1924, Tenner 1.V., Polizeidirektion Miinchen an das Staatsministerium des Innern,
Miinchen, “Betreff: Frontbann und Frontring.”, SAM STAW 14344, p. 5; R6hm,
Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 293. Meyding rejected the proposals, aware of the
opposition of the “Landsbergers”: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung
mit Dr. Eugen Meyding in der Voruntersuchung gegen OBwald Karl, Student in
Miinchen, und 9 Genossen wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu Miinchen,
Justizpalast am 17ten November 19247, SAM STAW 14360, pp. 3-6. The only
Verbénde that agreed: Karl Osswald, “Abschrift. Bericht. Betreff: Besprechung am
10.7. iiber Frontring, Frontbann.”, SAM STAW 14344, p. 3. Bayerischer Wehrwolf
joined at this meeting but had left by 5 August: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-
Vernehmung. mit Lautenbacher Fritz in der Voruntersuchung gegen Of3wald Karl,
Student in Miinchen, und 9 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu

Miinchen — Justizpalast - am 6. u. 7. November 1924, SAM STAW 14359, pp. 4-6.
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19. “Aufruf des Frontringes und Frontbannes”, SAM STAW 14344, p. 3. Schramm
drafted the proclamation: 21 November 1935, Schramm to Hauptarchiv der NSDAP,
Munich, SAM STAW 14354, p. 1. On the background to the proclamation and the
care taken in drafting it: 1 July 1924, Osswald letter (presumably to Seydel), SAM
STAW 14344, p. 1. R6hm met with Stiitzel and submitted the proclamation to him.
R6hm’s own account is vague as to the dates but the meeting took place before 29
July: 29 July [1924], R6hm to Stiitzel, BAK NS 26/1258. He stated that he hoped for
a well-meaning neutrality on the part of the Bavarian government: R6hm, Geschichte
eines Hochverriters, p. 294. The goal of the Frontbann was to free Germany from its
internal and external enemies: “Der Frontring.”, “Abdruck zu Nr. 2019h18.”, attached
to 27 January 1925, Stiitzel, Staatsministerium des Innern an den
Untersuchungsrichter des Staatsgerichtshofs zum Schutze der Republik am
Landgericht Muenchen I, Herrn Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Betreff: Osswald Karl,
Student in Muenchen, und 8 Genossen wegen Geheimbuendelei.”, “Nr. 2019h18.”,
SAM STAW 14361, p. 2.
20. “Nr. 33/1924. Niederschrift aufgenommen in der Ministerratssitzung vom 2. August
1924 im Staatsministerium des Aeuern zu Miinchen.”, BHSA MA 99519, pp. 5-6.
21. Planned meeting with Stiitzel fell through and meeting with Zetlmeier: 5 August
1924, Rohm to Minister des Innern Stiitzel, BAK NS 26/1258, pp. 1-2.
22. Rohm left registering the Frontbann as a society to Weber. The founding members
met at the office of the notary Dr. Liebenow on 15 August when the statutes were
read out: Untersuchungsrichter Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung mit

Hauptmann a.D. Weber Fritz in der Voruntersuchung gegen Owald Karl, Student in
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Miinchen, und 9. Gen. wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu Berlin, Alt-Moabit
am 22ten November 19247, SAM STAW 14360, pp. 3-4. Rohm and Helldorf spoke
at a meeting at the German Day: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernechmung mit
Graf Helldorff in der Voruntersuchung gegen Ofiwald Karl, Student in Miinchen, und
9 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu Naumburg am 26ten
November 1924.”, SAM STAW 14360, pp. 2-3. The Stahlhelm refused to become
involved and in Eberstein’s opinion this doomed Frontbann Gruppenkommando
Mitte: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung mit Frhr. von Eberstein in der
Voruntersuchung gegen OBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen, und 9 Gen. wegen
Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu Halle a. Saale am 25ten November 1924.”, SAM
STAW 14360, p. 2.
23. Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernechmung mit nachbenannten Personen in der
Voruntersuchung gegen Ofwald Karl, Student in Miinchen, und 9 Gen. wegen
Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu Niirnberg, Justizpalast, Flirtherstrasse am 28ten
November 1924”, SAM STAW 14360, p. 5.
24. Frontbann spread, structure and leaders: Campbell, The SA Generals and the Rise of
Nazism, pp. 27-28; Bennecke, Hitler und die SA, p. 111; R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, pp. 297-298. Frontbann membership: Jablonsky, The Nazi Party in
Dissolution, p. 115. On the paramilitary style of the Frontbann: 2 February 1925,
“Vertraulich.”, “N./No. 24.”, “Frontring-Frontbann.”, BHSA/II MA 101235/1, p. 15.
25. Osswald’s comments to Karl Schramm: 19 August 1924, Osswald to Schramm, SAM
STAW 14364, pp. 1-3. R6hm over-optimistic: 1 July 1924, Osswald to Seydel, SAM
STAW 14344, p. 2.
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26. Rohm wrote to Stiitzel: 27 August 1924, Rohm to Staatsminister Stiitzel, BAK NS
26/1258. R6hm issued a short proclamation in East Prussia: text reproduced in “Zum
Landgericht Miinchen I Haftbeschwerde des Rechtsanwalts Dr. Alfred Holl, in
Miinchen Kaufingerstr. 25/1 in Sachen Dr. Karl Schramm und Hauptmann v. Krausser
wegen Fortfiihrung verbotener Verbiande.”, SAM STAW 14353, p. 7. Stiitzel replied:
5 September 1924, Stiitzel to Rohm, BAK NS 26/1258.
27. Organizational and recruiting activity for the Frontbann intensified: 25 September
1924, Kriminalpolizei Regensburg, unheaded questioning of Friedrich Ritter von
Stadtler, SAM STAW 14357, p. 2; 4 November 1924, Polizeidirektion Abt. Vla.,
“Betreff: OBwald und 6 Gen. wegen Geheimbiindelei.”, [von Thiingen], SAM STAW
14359, pp. 5-6. R6hm reached an agreement on 5 September: Jablonsky, The Nazi
Party in Dissolution, p. 131. R6hm’s organizational staff order: 12 September 1924,
Ro6hm, Frontbann Oberkommando, “Stabsbefehl.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr.
15540.
28. Rohm accompanied Ludendorff to Elberfeld and Miinster: Rohm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 297. Helldorf raised the possibility with Ludendorft:
Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung mit Graf Helldorff in der
Voruntersuchung gegen OBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen, und 9 Genossen, wegen
Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu Naumburg am 26ten November 1924”7, SAM
STAW 14360, p. 5. The various accounts of this meeting are contradictory as to its
date. Eberstein’s testimony was that the meeting took place on 12 September 1924:
Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung. mit Frhr. von Eberstein in der

Voruntersuchung gegen OBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen, und 9 Gen. wegen
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Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu Halle a. Saale am 25ten November 1924”, SAM
STAW 14360, p. 5. Helldorf initially put the date at 14 September, then corrected it
to 13 September: Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Zeugen-Vernehmung mit Graf Helldorff
in der Voruntersuchung gegen OBwald Karl, Student in Miinchen, und 9 Genossen,
wegen Geheimbiindelei. Aufgenommen zu Naumburg am 26ten November 19247,
SAM STAW 14360, pp. 5-6. Ludendorff recalled the meeting as being in Halle and
on 12 September, and claimed he spoke to R6hm in Elberfeld the same day:
Untersuchungsrichter Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, “Angeschuldigten=Vernehmung mit
Exzellenz Ludendorff in der Voruntersuchung gegen OBwald Karl, Student in
Miinchen, und 9 Genossen, wegen Geheimbiindelei. abgehalten den 11. November
1924 in Minchen, Justizpalast Zimmer 131/1”, SAM STAW 14359, pp. 3-4 and p. 5
of a further unheaded unsigned questioning (Vernehmung) of Ludendorff, dated 10
November 1924, SAM STAW 14359. Ludendorff raised the matter with R6hm who
issued a special decree on 15 September: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p.
299. Beglaubigte Abschrift of this order by R6hm: 15 September 1924, “Abschrift.”,
R6hm, Oberleitung des Frontbanns Nr. 219 pers. “An die Gruppenleitungen in Berlin,
Miinchen, Halle und Salzburg” attached to 26 September 1924, “An den
Oberreichsanwalt beim Staatsgerichtshof zum Schutze der Republik Leipzig
Haftbeschwerde des Rechtsanwalts Justizrat Karl Kohl, in Miinchen,
Herzogspitalstrasse 14/2 in der Untersuchungssache Dr. Carl Schramm und Gen.
wegen Fortfiihrung verbotener Verbande.”, SAM STAW file 14353, p. 11.
29. Police searches on 16 September: 20 September 1924, Tenner 1.V. Polizeidirektion

Miinchen an das Staatsministerium des Innern, Miinchen, “Betreff: Frontbann und
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Frontring.”, SAM STAW 14353, pp. 1-3. The next day Osswald and others arrested:
Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 299. The police concluded: 20 September
1924, Tenner 1.V. Polizeidirektion Miinchen an das Staatsministerium des Innern,
Miinchen, “Betreff: Frontbann und Frontring.”, SAM STAW 14353, p. 6.
30. Rohm returned to call on Stiitzel with Gregor Strasser: undated, (October 1924), “von
Hptm R6hm”, “Denkschrift {iber den Frontbann.”, SAM STAW 14360, pp. 7, 13;
Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 301. R6hm’s statement published in the
Volkische Kurier: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, pp. 300-301;
“Verhaftungstollwut!”, Volkischer Kurier, 21-22 September 1924, press clipping in
BHSA MA 100423. Schramm claimed that he suggested this press statement to
Rohm: 23 August 1935, signature, Mitarbeiter im Hauptarchiv der N.S.D.A.P.,
“Bericht”, BAR NS 26/116, pp. 1-2. R6hm tried unsuccessfully to seek a meeting
with Schleicher: 13 November 1924, signature (Habbe?), i.A. Reichswehrminister to
the Untersuchungsrichter des Staatsgerichthofs zum Schutze der Republik am
Landgericht Miinchen I, “Betr.: O.R.A. 12 J 854/24 vom 4.11.24. Oswald Karl,
Student-Geheimbiindelei.”, SAM STAW 14359, p. 1.
31. Authorities convinced Frontbann a continuation of banned organizations: 19
September 1924, signature, der Staatsanwalt bei dem Landgericht Miinchen 1. an den
Herrn Oberreichsanwalt beim Staatsgerichtshof in Leipzig, “Betreff: Osswald Karl
und Gen. wegen Vergehens gegen das Republikschutzgesetz.”, “Filt sehr!”,
“Haftbeschwerden!”, SAM STAW 14353, p. 1. Rohm saw the arrests as an attempt to
delay the release of the Landsberg prisoners: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters,

p. 302. Statement of leaders in Landsberg: 26 September 1924, Adolf Hitler, Dr. Fr.
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Weber, Hermann Kriebel, “Erklarung.”, SAM STAW 14344, pp. 1-2. Court decided
to hold the Landsberg prisoners: Jablonsky, The Nazi Party in Dissolution, p. 147.
R6hm unsuccessful in winning any support from Landtag volkisch faction: R6hm,
Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 301.
32. Rohm’s memorandum justified the Frontbann as helping the army fight Germany’s
external enemies: undated, (October 1924), “von Hptm R6hm”, “Denkschrift tiber
den Frontbann.”, SAM STAW 14360, pp. 1-2. National Socialist ideology alone
promised the liberation: undated, (October 1924), “von Hptm R6hm”, “Denkschrift
iiber den Frontbann.”, SAM STAW 14360, p. 3.
33. R6hm and Ludendorff issued public statements: 15 October 1924, R6hm, Munich,
“Erklarung.”, SAM STAW 3099; 15 October 1924, Ludendorff, Munich,
“Erklarung.”, SAM STAW 14344; “Eine Erklarung des Generals Ludendorff u. des
Hauptmanns R6hm zum Frontbannverfahren”, Volk. Kurier v. 16.10.24 Nr. 215, press
clipping in BHSA/II MA 100423; R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 304. By
October the criminal proceedings were extended to Rohm and Ludendorff: R6hm,
Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 304. Proceedings eventually discontinued:
undated [probably 26 September 1925 from internal evidence] Lorenz, Conze,
Maenner, “Beschluf3.”, “St.R.Tgb.1128/25.”, SAM STAW 14361.
34. Reichstag dissolved: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 296. Paramilitary
units began to be used in campaigning: Longerich, Die braunen Bataillone, p. 50.
Rohm unsuccessful in getting paramilitary leaders prominent positions on list: R6hm,
Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 307. He himself was not re-elected: Jablonsky,

The Nazi Party in Dissolution, p. 151; R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 307.
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Rohm lost immunity and temporarily took shelter with Helldorf: 29 October 1924,
Haniel, Vertretung der Reichsregierung Miinchen to Reichskanzlei Berlin, “A. Nr.
417. Inhalt: Verfahren gegen den Frontbann.”, BAR R 43 1/2236; Eberstein, Karl
Frhr.v., IfZ ZS 539, p. 2. Eberstein”s testimony was confused in its chronology as he
recalled that they hid R6hm before he was elected to the Reichstag. At this time there
was no investigation of R6hm’s activities.
35. R6hm’s poor financial situation: 7 November 1924, Ernst Rohm, Salzburg, to
Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, Untersuchungsrichter des Staatsgerichtshofes zum Schutz
der Republik, SAM STAW 14359, p. 1. Lore Lippert claimed: 25 September 1952,
Dr. Georg Franz, “Niederschrift der Unterredung von Frau Eleonore Lippert
(Schwester Ernst R6hms) und deren Sohn Dr. ing. Ernst Lippert, wohnhaft in
Salzburg, Fabergasse 6, durchgefiihrt in Salzburg am 13. Mérz 1952 mit Dr. Georg
Franz im Auftrag des Instituts fiir Zeitgeschichte Miinchen.”, IfZ ZS 263, p. 1. He
had moved back to live with his parents in 1922: Stadtarchiv Miinchen PME R
139/40 “Ledigen-Liste Rohm Ernst”, p. 2. He applied to Reichswehr Ministry for
support but money provided appeared to be used for Frontbann: 2 June 1931, “Der
Stabschef als Nutznieer der Republik.”, Miinchener Post Nr. 124, press clipping in
BHSA Slg P 3653.
36. Financial position had not improved by November: 7 November 1924, Ernst R6hm,
Salzburg, to Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, Untersuchungsrichter der Staatsgerichtshofes
zum Schutz der Republik, SAM STAW 14359, p. 1. Under medical care of Dr.
Ketterer: 14 October 1924, Ketterer, “Arztl. Zeugnis”, SAM STAW 14359. R6hm

could not afford to go to a sanatorium but went to Austria: 7 November 1924, Ernst
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Rohm, Salzburg, to Landgerichtsrat Kellerer, Untersuchungsrichter des
Staatsgerichtshofes zum Schutz der Republik, SAM STAW 14359, p. 1.
37. R6hm set out the guiding principle: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 307.
Ludendorff did not agree and Hitler did not want to take a decision: R6hm,
Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 308. Hitler released from prison: Jablonsky, The
Nazi Party in Dissolution, p. 152. R6hm asked Hitler to release him in January:
Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 308.
38. On 12 February 1925 Ludendorff, Graefe and Strasser resigned: R6hm, Geschichte
eines Hochverriters, p. 308. Decision of the Frontbann leaders at Wohlmirstedt:
Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, pp. 308-309. Hitler had refounded the
NSDAP and asked R6hm to lead the SA: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p.
309. Hitler’s new guidelines: Jablonsky, The Nazi Party in Dissolution, p. 170.
Hitler”s directive: 29 March 1925, Adolf Hitler, “Anordnung”, Voélkischer
Beobachter Nr. 10, 8 April 1925, press clipping in SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6805;
undated report extract, “2.) Die Volkischen Wehrverbédnde. A) Frontbann und
national-sozialistische S.A.”, BAR R 15.01/462, p. 2. The prospect of R6hm leading
the SA on Hitler’s terms: “P.N.D. Nr. 546. Komp.-Appell der S.A. Schwabing der
N.S.D.A.P. am 21. Juli im Féustlergarten.”, [1926], SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6810, p.
1.
39. R6hm’s strong support for Ludendorff”s candidacy for President: R6hm, Geschichte
eines Hochverriters, p. 309. R6hm’s election proclamations: 28 March 1925, “Fiir
die deutsche Opposition: R6hm”, “Soldaten der alten Armee!”, Volkischer Kurier,

Nr. 88, press clipping, BAR R 15.07/462; 24 March 1925, R6hm, “Kameraden der
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Verbénde! Frontsoldaten!”, Kurier fiir Niederbayern, press clipping, BHSA/Slg P
3653; Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters, pp. 309-311. Frontkriegerbund
meeting: “Auszug aus dem P.N.D. Bericht vom 15.4.25 Nr. 501”, SAM Pol. Dir.
Miinchen 1020.
40. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 313. Hitler’s attitude at Weimar: R6hm,
Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 312.
41. R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 314.
42. R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 314. Rohm’s further correspondence with
Hitler and Ludendorff: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 314-315.
Ludendorff replied but not Hitler: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 316.
43. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters, p. 316. Press statement: R6hm, Geschichte
eines Hochverriters, p. 315. On R6hm’s departure, 5 May 1925, “Zum Riicktritt des
Hauptmanns R6hm.”, Vélkischer Kurier, Nr. 122, press clipping, Stadtarchiv
Miinchen ZA Pers. Rohm. See also 1 May 1925, R6hm, Munich, Frontbann
Oberkommando, “No. 274 pers.”, to Kommandeure der Gruppen Nord, Mitte, Stid
and Ost, BAK NL 79/28. Briickner resigned with R6hm: 2 May 1925, “Aus der
Bewegung Erklarung”, Volkischer Kurier, Nr. 110, press clipping, BHSA/II MA
103475.
44. The interpretation that parallels 1924-5 and 1933-4: David Jablonsky, “Roéhm and
Hitler: The Continuity of Political-Military Discord”, Journal of Contemporary
History, 23 (1988), pp. 367-386. R6hm had not yet adjusted: Longerich, Die braunen

Bataillone, p. 48; Diehl, Paramilitary Politics in Weimar Germany, p. 160.
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45. Hitler’s status: Kershaw, Hitler, pp. 224-225, 261, 267. Hitler’s dealings with R6hm
showed his determination: Jablonsky, The Nazi Party in Dissolution, p. 171.
CHAPTER 9: “HUMAN, ALL TOO HUMAN”: PRIVATE LIFE — 1925-8
1. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 320.
2. Rohm’s initial employment: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 320. Gerda
Walther, Zum anderen Ufer: Vom Marxismus und Atheismus zum Christentum (Der
Leuchter, Otto Reichl Verlag, Remagen, 1960), pp. 517-518 also wrote that R6Ghm
struggled through for a time as a door to door salesman selling patriotic publications.
Walther did not state her source but it was probably R6hm’s sister, Lore Lippert. Du
Moulin-Eckart helped him with these sales and described Rohm’s financial
circumstances as poor: Graf Carl Léon Du Moulin-Eckart, “Mein Lebenslauf 1921 bis
1946.”, IfZ Sp. 2/1, p. 1. R6hm assessed the period as unpleasant: 11 June 1929, Ernst
Rohm, La Paz, to Emilie Rohm, R6hm family papers, p. 2.
3. Employment in factory: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters, p. 320. The position
in the factory can be dated to late 1926 as Rohm stated later that he was called before
the Reichstag committee at the time he was working there: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 321. Considered for a leading position: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, p. 320. R6hm was employed for a time as a manual laborer. Du
Moulin-Eckart’s post-war lawyer made this claim, which was presumably based on
information from Du Moulin-Eckart: 15 December 1947, K. Meindl, Munich an die
Spruchkammer Neuburg/Donau, “Betrifft: Akt.Z.391/46/1073-9439 Dr. jur. Karl
Leon Graf Du Moulin-Eckart aus Bertoldsheim, geb. am 11.1.1900, wegen
Verf.n.d.Befr.Ges.”, IfZ Sp 2/1, p. 5. Articles for Vilkischer Beobachter: see for
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example 24 November 1928, Ernst Rohm, “PlanméBige Bespitzelung der Wehrmacht
durch den Marxismus”, Volkischer Beobachter, press clipping, Stadtarchiv Miinchen
ZA Pers. Rohm.

4. Rohm’s pension: 2 June 1931, “Der Stabschef als NutznieBer der Republik.”,
Miinchener Post, press clipping, BHSA/V Slg P 3653. His repeated requests for
financial assistance: 2 June 1931, “Der Stabschef als NutzniefSer der Republik.”,
Miinchener Post, press clipping, BHSA/V Slg P 3653. R6hm’s first attempt to go to
Bolivia: Ernst Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters (5. Auflage, Volksaufgabe,
Eher Verlag, Munich, 1934), p. 358. Julius R6hm died on 3 March 1926:
“Todesanzeige.”, SAM Bayer. Amtsgericht Miinchen Nr. 1926/396, Akten betreffend
den Nachlal de(s) R6hm Julius, Eisenbahnoberinspektor. On 25 March 1926 the
Guardianship and Estate Court (Vormundschafts- und NachlaBBgericht) decided each
heir (Robert R6hm, Ernst R6hm, Lore Lippert and Emilie R6hm) should receive a
quarter of the estate: 25 March 1926, Amtsgericht Miinchen, Vormundschafts- und
Nachlaf3gericht, “I. BeschluB3.”, SAM Bayer. Amtsgericht Miinchen Nr. 1926/396.
Continued living in the apartment at Herzogstrasse: “Todesanzeige.”, SAM Bayer.
Amtsgericht Miinchen Nr. 1926/396, Akten betreffend den NachlaBl de(s) R6hm
Julius, Eisenbahnoberinspektor.

5. 20 February 1926, Reichskommissar [fiir] Ueberwachung der 6ffentlichen Ordnung
Nr. 1272/26 1 to Reichsminister des Innern, BAR R 15.01/13508, pp. 3-6. On the
committee: Bernhard Sauer, Schwarze Reichswehr und Fememorde: Eine
Milieustudie zum Rechtsradikalismus in der Weimarer Republik (Metropol, Berlin,

2004), pp. 302-304.
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6. The committee’s meetings in Munich and Bavarian hostility: 8 July 1926, Haniel,
Vertretung der Reichsregierung Miinchen to the Reichskanzlei, Berlin, “A. Nr. 3537,
“Inhalt: Der Femeuntersuchungsausschuss in Miinchen”, BAR R431/2242, pp. 1-3.
Witnesses claimed lapses of memory: 7 October 1926, Haniel, Vertretung der
Reichsregierung Miinchen to the Reichskanzlei, Berlin, “A. Nr. 526.”, “Inhalt:
Femeausschuss in Miinchen.”, BAR R 15.01/13508, p. 1; 8 October 1926, Haniel,
Vertretung der Reichsregierung Miinchen to the Reichskanzlei, Berlin, “A. Nr. 527.”,
“Inhalt: Femeausschuss in Miinchen.”, BAR R 15.01/13508? p. 1; 10 October 1926,
Haniel, Vertretung der Reichsregierung Miinchen to the Reichskanzlei, Berlin, “A.
Nr. 530.”, “Inhalt: Femeausschuss in Miinchen.”, BAR R 15.01/13508, p. 1. Levi
made clear the relevant murders could be traced back to the Einwohnerwehr’s
business office: 10 December 1926, “Die bayerischen Fememorde. Ergebnisse der
AuschuBBuntersuchungen”, Berliner Tageblatt, #583, press clipping, BAR R 72/1874.
7. Rohm and Epp admitted to helping Schweikart: 11 October 1926, Haniel, Vertretung
der Reichsregierung Miinchen to the Reichskanzlei, Berlin, “A. Nr. 531.”, “Inhalt:
Femeausschuss in Miinchen.”, BAR R431/2243, p. 1. R6hm refused to answer further
questions and was fined for contempt: 11 October 1926, Haniel, Vertretung der
Reichsregierung Miinchen to the Reichskanzlei, Berlin, “A.Nr. 531.”, “Inhalt:
Femeausschuss in Miinchen.”, BAR R431/2243, p. 1. R6hm’s anti-Semitic attacks on
Levi: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 322.
8. R6hm did not pay the fine: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverraters, p. 322. He
refused to allow others to pay it for him: 27 February 1927, “Warum ich nach
Stadelheim ging! Ein Dokument der Zeit”, Volkischer Beobachter, Nr. 44, BHSA/V
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Slg P 3653. He and Nazi press publicized his serving the sentence: 11 February 1927,
“Hauptmann Réhm in Stadelheim Der Dank des Vaterlandes”, press clipping,
Volkischer Beobachter, Nr. 34, BHSA/V Slg P 3653. He claimed he wanted to make
an impression on front veterans who did not support the volkisch movement: 27
February 1927, “Warum ich nach Stadelheim ging! Ein Dokument der Zeit”,
Volkischer Beobachter, Nr. 44, press clipping, BHSA/V Slg P 3653. Haniel
recognized that R6hm refused to pay the fine for propaganda effect: 10 February
1927, Haniel, Vertretung der Reichsregierung Miinchen to the Reichskanzlei, Berlin,
“ANr. 130.”, “Inhalt: Hauptmann R6hm in Haft.”, BAR R431/2245.
9. Rossbach Bicycle Section joined SA: 21 March 1927, “N/No. 55.”, “Vertraulich!”,
subheading “S.A. und S.S.”, BHSA/II MA 101235/2, p. 23. Exercises near
Firstenfeldbruck: 21 March 1927, “N/No. 55.”, “Vertraulich!”, subheading “S.A. und
S.S.”, BHSA/II MA 101235/2, pp. 23-24. Met Rohm in Pocking: 21 March 1927,
“N/No. 55.”, “Vertraulich!”, subheading “S.A. und S.S.”, BHSA/II MA 101235/2, p.
24. Rohm attended SA meeting on 15 May 1927: “P.N.D. Nr. 573. Zusammenkunft
der Stiirme I und IX der S.A. der N.S.D.A.P. am 15. Mai 1927 im roten Saal des
“Augustiner”, Neuhauserstrasse.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 6809, p. 1. Heines
was expelled for his activist inclinations. Hitler’s views are set out in “P.N.D. No
575. General-appell der S.A. Miinchen der N.S.D.A.P. am 25. Mai 1927 im
Hirschbraukeller.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 6809, p. 1; the reasons for Heines’
expulsion in: 9 June 1927, “N/No. 57.”, “Vertraulich!”, BHSA/II MA 101235/2, pp.
16-17; 25 January 1928, signature (Wenzel), Krim. Kom., Polizeidirektion Abt. Via,
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“Auszug aus dem Personalakt des Kaufmanns Edmund Heines, geb. 21.7.97 in
Miinchen.”, BHSA/II M Inn 71525, pp. 6-7.
10. In 1927 R6hm agreed to Rossbach’s request that he head a committee to investigate
criticisms of Rossbach: 27 January 1928, R6hm, letter to an unnamed addressee, BAP
61 Sta 1/66. Heines’ sentence: 6 May 1928, “Zuchthaus fiir die Fememorder”, Berl.
Tageblatt; 4 May 1928, “Strafantrag im Stettiner ProzeB3.”, Vorwdérts, press clippings
in BAR R 72/1874. Heines was free by October 1929: 8 October 1929, signature
(H&usler), Polizeisekretir, “Bericht iiber den Sprechabend der NSDAP. Am 7.10.29
in Mathéserbrau-Festsaal.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6739, p. 1; Sauer, Schwarze
Reichswehr und Fememorde, footnote 74 p. 38. Rohm’s defence of Heines: 17 April
1928, Hauptmann a.D. R6hm-Miinchen, “Helden oder Heloten.”, Deutsche Zeitung,
Nr. 90, press clipping, BHSA/V Slg P 3653. A biography of Heines, of whom
contemporary accounts conflict widely, is needed. For a characterization of Heines at
this time, see Friedrich Grimm, “18. Der Heinesprozef3”, “LEBENSERINNERUNGEN
eines deutschen Rechtsanwalts Band V: Um die innere Befriedigung”, BAK N1120/3,
pp- 25-9.
11. 13 June 1928, “N/No. 67.”, “Vertraulich!”, “Nationalsozialistische Deutsche
Arbeiterpartei (N.S.D.A.P.)”, BHSA/Il MA 101235/2, p. 12.
12. Dr Max Werner quoted in “Befragungsprotokoll iiber eine Unterredung mit Herrn Dr.
Alfred Martin, Berchtesgaden, Stanggass 19, am 29.1.1952 und drei Unterredungen
mit Herrn. Dr. Alfred Martin und Herrn Dr. Max Werner, Miinchen 19,
Scharingerplatz 13, Tel. 62 183, am 5., 12. und 19. Februar 19527, IfZ ZS 268, p. 20.
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13. Giuseppe Renzetti, draft memoirs, chapter “Dall” Albania, all”Alta Silesia ¢ a
Berlina”, BAK N 1235/16, p. 6. Renzetti dated the meeting at 1929 but it must have
been later.
14. Renzetti, draft memoirs, chapter “Dall” Albania, all”Alta Silesia e a Berlina”, BAK N
1235/16, p. 1. His mother’s photo stood on his night table in Bolivia: 28 February
1929, Ernst Rohm, Uyuni, Bolivia to Emilie R6hm, p. 1; 5 October 1929, Ernst
R6hm, Oruro, Bolivia to Emilie R6hm, p. 1; both in R6hm family papers. Emilie
Rohm kept open house for his friends: 15 December 1933, J.S. [presumably Josef
Seydel], “Zum 15. Dezember. Eine deutsche Frau und Mutter feiert ihren 76.
Geburtstag”, Volkischer Beobachter, Nr. 349, press clipping in BHSA/V Slg P 3653.
On his relations with his mother, see also “Der Stabschef und sein Heim”, Miinchner
Ilustrierte Presse, Nr. 51/1933, undated press clipping [December 1933], BHSA/KA
OP 32380. Rohm gave his mother flowers and went to church with her: Walther, Zum
anderen Ufer, p. 528. R6hm did not discuss politics with the women in his family: 7
May 1949, Eleonore Lippert, GroBgmain to the Generalstaatsanwalt Miinchen, Herr
Staatsanwalt Weiss, SAM STAW 28793.
15. Engravings and reading of the classics: private information from the R6hm family.
Rohm’s friendship with Reichel: 13 April 1929, Reichel to Crown Prince Rupprecht,
BHSA/III Geh. Hausarchiv Nachlall Kronprinz Rupprecht 820, p. 1. His friendship
with the opera singer Hans Beer: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, p. 324. His
piano recitals: Eberstein, Karl Frhr v., IfZ ZS 539, p. 3.
16. R6hm is mentioned as the contact point between the Crown Prince and the Wagners

for the Crown Prince’s proposed stay at Bayreuth: 28 July 1928, Reichel to Crown
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Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III Geh. Hausarchiv NachlaB3 Kronprinz Rupprecht 819, p.
1; and 27 August 1928, Reichel to Crown Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III Geh.
Hausarchiv Nachlafl Kronprinz Rupprecht 820, pp. 1-2; Georg Wacha, “Zu Carl
Anton Reichl Der Briefwechsel mit Kronprinz Rupprecht von Bayern”,
Kunstjahrbuch der Stadt Linz, 1976, BHSA/III NL Kronprinz Rupprecht 84, p. 56;
Weip3, Kronprinz Rupprecht von Bayern (1869-1955), p. 250. R6hm’s friendship with
Siegfried Wagner: 27 August 1928, Reichel to Crown Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III
Geh. Hausarchiv Nachla3 Kronprinz Rupprecht 820, p. 1. Rohm on Wagner and
Bayreuth: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 324-325. No correspondence
between Rohm and the Wagners has survived: 25 August 2000, Mr. Giinter Fischer,
Bibliothek und Archiv, Richard-Wagner-Museum, Bayreuth, to the author. R6hm
possessed a collection of Schmidt’s recordings, which is still in the possession of his
family, and the recordings of other artists in his collection: private information from
the R6hm family.
17. 14 May 1949, Robert Bergmann, Altdorf to the Generalstaatsanwalt Miinchen zu
Hénden des Herrn Staatsanwaltes Weiss, SAM STAW 28793, p. 5.
18. Bennecke, “Die Memoiren des Ernst R6hm”, pp. 180-181. Darré’s testimony:
Walther Darré, “Drehbiihne mit Niirnberger Aufzeichnungen”, “Dr. Merkel”, BAK
NL 94 1/28, reverse of p. 65.
19. Eberstein, Karl Frhr v., IfZ ZS 539, p. 12.
20. The memoirs mention by name almost forty friends and families who stood by him in
the period 1926 to 1928: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 323-4. On his

loyalty to his friends, see also his defence of Rossbach against Nazi attacks: 20



293
February 1931, Der Chef des Stabes to the Verlag des “Nationalsozialistischer
Kurier”, Stuttgart, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 10138. His friends remained loyal
even when this meant they were publicly accused of homosexuality themselves, as
Du Moulin-Eckart and Reiner were. On Du Moulin: 8 October 1932, “Abschied vom
Braunen Haus.”, Miinchener Post, Nr. 242, press clipping in SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen
6781, and 12 November 1932, “Noch einer.”, Flammenzeichen Nr. 46, press clipping
in BHSA/V Slg P 3653. On Reiner, 30 June 1931, “Hauptmann R6hms Berliner
Abenteuer Ein Zwischenfall im Hotel”, Berliner Volkszeitung, press clipping, LAB
Rep. 58/517.
21. Luetgebrune made this comment to Ernst von Salomon in 1935: Ernst von Salomon,
The Answers of Ernst von Salomon to the 131 Questions in the Allied Military
Government “Fragebogen” (Putnam, London, 1954), p. 271. It is substantiated by
Schoeps: Hans-Joachim Schoeps, Ja — Nein — und Trotzdem: Erinnerungen —
Begegnungen - Erfahrungen (v. Hase & Koehler Verlag, Mainz, 1974), pp. 129-130.
Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, pp. 285, 326 and 226, 239 respectively
stressed his good relations with Schmitt and Communist Reichstag deputies, and his
willingness to see the strengths of the Communist point of view. He may have been
making a similar point in stressing his good relations in the war with
Obermusikmeister Kohn: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 43. Heinrich
Karl Kohn: Dienstalters-Liste der Musikmeister des Deutschen Reichsheeres und der
Kaiserlichen Marine am 1. April 1913 (Berlin, 1913), BHSA/KA R 63, p. 31;
“Kriegsstammrolle 13.1.R. b.k.p.”, BHSA/KA Kriegsstammrollen 1347, p. 123.

Rohm could listen to strong criticism and take it on board: 6 October 1932, K. Mayr,
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“FEine Gegenerkldrung”, Miinchener Post, press clipping, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen
6783.
22. Sefton Delmer, Trail Sinister. An Autobiography (Volume One, Secker & Warburg,
London, 1961) p. 120. His enemies accused him of an inability to keep his mouth
shut: “Niederschrift {iber die 4. Sitzung des Ausschusses zur Untersuchung der
Vorgéinge vom 1. Mai 1923 und der gegen Reichs- und Landesverfassung gerichteten
Bestrebungen vom 26. September bis 9. November 1923 vom 12. Oktober 1927
nachmittags 4 Uhr.”, BHSA/IIl MA 103476, p. 56.
23. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 241. He presented himself as a traitor to
the Weimar Republic: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 239, 240, 248,
249, 318; and as a radical: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 282. One-
sidedness: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 9. Inclination to disorder and
unrest: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 12. Marked aversion to “prudent”
and “mature”: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 10, 229, 327. He claimed
he always spoke frankly: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 27, 59, 313,
326. Rather than compromise on an issue he would walk away: R6hm, Geschichte
eines Hochverriters, p. 96.
24. R6hm would engage in provocations: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 76-
7; Endres memoirs, BHSA/KA HS 925, p. 16. Mabire also noticed the tension
between Rohm’s praise of discipline and his indiscipline: Mabire, R6hm I”’homme qui
inventa Hitler, p. 207.

25. Sendtner, Rupprecht von Wittelsbach, p. 515.
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26. Sendtner, Rupprecht von Wittelsbach , p. 643. On R6hm’s monarchism, see also the
testimony of his hairdresser: 17 June 1947, August Weisman, Munich,
“Eidesstattliche Erklarung.”, IfZ Sp. 2/1, p. 1; Adalbert Prinz von Bayern,
Erinnerungen 1900-1956, pp. 300, 334. The Crown Prince recognized the
genuineness of RGhm’s monarchism: Robert S. Garnett, Jr., Lion, Eagle, and
Swastika: Bavarian Monarchism in Weimar Germany, 1918-1933 (New York, 1991),
p. 256. On R6hm’s monarchism and relations with the Crown Prince, see also Weil3,
Kronprinz Rupprecht von Bayern (1869-1955), pp. 249-253, 279, 283, 284-286.
27. Rohm refused to accept that he could not unite his loyalties to the Wittelsbachs,
Ludendorff and Hitler: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 319. Yet he took
Ludendorff’s side in Ludendorftf’s conflict with the Crown Prince: Rohm, Geschichte
eines Hochverriters, pp. 231-233. On the dispute see the papers on BHSA/KA HS
2401; Weif, Kronprinz Rupprecht von Bayern (1869-1955), pp. 221-222. R6hm and
Ludendorff had fallen out by 1931: 28 December 1931, Rohm, Der Chef des Stabes,
der Oberste SA-Fihrer, “Pr. Nr. 7579/31. Betrifft: General Ludendorff.”, BHSA/II
MA 101235/3, pp. 1-2.
28. R6hm a bon vivant and man of the world: Delmer, Trail Sinister, p. 105; Darré,
“Drehbiihne mit Niirnberger Aufzeichnungen”, “Dr. Merkel”, BAK NL 94 1/28, pp.
64, 65. Criticism led his family to claim that he lived modestly: Library of Congress
Recorded Sound Section RYH 8616 John Toland Collection Interview with Robert
and Annalies R6hm on 14 October 1971 at Socking.
29. Heinrich Hoffmann, Hitler wie ich ihn sah: Aufzeichnungen seines Leibfotografen

(Herbig, Munich, 1974), p. 69. Some found him ugly or were viscerally repelled by
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his homosexuality: Sir John Wheeler-Bennett, Knaves, Fools and Heroes in Europe
between the Wars (Macmillan, London, 19740, p. 80; Friedrich Grimm,
“LEBENSERINNERUNGEN eines deutschen Rechtsanwalts Band V: Um die innere
Befriedigung”, BAK N1120/14, p. 132.

30. Hitler’s attitude: Hancock, “ ‘Only the Real, the True, the Masculine Held Its Value’
”, p. 632. Some accepted his sexuality without really understanding it: Hancock,
‘Only the Real, the True, the Masculine Held Its Value’ ”, pp. 632-633. Others were
strongly hostile: 2 August 1931, “Rechtsbewegung.”, “Vertraulich!”, “I. Nr. 103.”,
BHSA/II MA 10235/3, p. 1.

31. He first recognized: 25 February 1929, Ernst R6hm, La Paz, Bolivia to Dr. Heimsoth,
Klotz, Drei Briefe, BAK Slg Schumacher 402, p. 7.

32. The Marien-Kasino: Wolfgang Theis and Andreas Sternweiler, “Alltag im
Kaiserreich und in der Weimarer Republik”, Berlin Museum, Eldorado:

Homosexuelle Frauen und Ménner in Berlin 1850-1950 (Frolich and Kaufmann,

Berlin, 1984), p. 63. The details of the stolen suitcase: 26 August 1931, der
Generalstaatsanwalt bei dem Landgericht I an den Herrn Preussischen Justizminister
durch den Herrn Generalstaatsanwalt bei dem Kammergericht Berlin., “I. pol. J. 1271
.31.7, “Betrifft: Strafsache gegen R6hm und Genossen wegen Vergehens gegen

§175. Str. G. B. Erlass vom 15. Juli 1931.”, LAB Rep. 58/517, pp. 1-4. The
memorandum indicates that the case was as depicted in 26 July 1931, “Liebliches aus
dem Braunen Hauses Der Stabschef mit seiner ‘Braut’ ”, Frankisches Tagespost,
64/171, press clipping in LAB Rep. 58/517. See also Helmuth Klotz, “Wir gestalten
durch unser Fiihrerkorps die Zukunft!” (Berlin, May 1932), pp. 26-7; Helmuth Klotz,
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Ehrenrangliste (Berlin, 1932), pp. 34-35; 30 June 1931, “Der Stabschef auf Reisen”,
Miinchener Post, Nr. 147, set out in Herbert Heinersdorf, “Akten zum Falle R6hm (1.
Teil)”, SMB Mitteilungen des wissenschaftlich-humanitdren Komitees E.V., Nr. 32,
January/March 1932, p. 367.
33. 11 August 1929, Ernst Rohm, Uyuni, Bolivia, to Dr. Heimsoth, Klotz, Drei Briefe,
BAK Slg Schumacher 402, p. 16. Section 175 of the German Criminal Code:
Christian Schulz, Paragraph 175. (abgewickelt). Homosexualitit und Strafrecht im
Nachkriegsdeutschland- Rechtsprechung, juristische Diskussionen und Reforme seit
1945 (Hamburg, 1994, MannerschwarmSkript Verlag), pp. 8-9. In police
interrogations Rohm admitted to sexual relations with young men that were not
punishable under Section 175: 7 October 1949, Landpolizei Oberbayern Bez. Insp.
Landsberg/L. LP.-Posten Kaufering, ““Vernehmungsniederschrift!”, Gritschneder
Papiere Rohm Akten Band 2, p. 1. On R6hm’s sexuality, his attitude to it and the
scandals surrounding it: Hancock, “ ‘Only the Real, the True, the Masculine Held Its
value’”, pp. 616-641. German society hostile to homosexuality: Manfred Herzer,
“Communists, Social Democrats and the Homosexual Movement in the Weimar
Republic” in Gert Hekma, Harry Oosterhuis, and James Steakley (eds), Gay Men and
the Sexual History of the Political Left (Harrington Park Press, New York, 1995), p.
209. The country had the largest homosexual rights movement and the most open
homosexual life: Andreas Sternweiler, “II1.6 Schwules Selbstbewusstsein”, in
Andreas Sternweiler and Hans Gerhard Hannesen (eds), Goodbye to Berlin? 100
Jahre Schwulenbewegung: eine Ausstellung des Schwulen Museums und der

Akademie der Kiinste, 17. Mai bis 17. August 1997 (Verlag Rosa Winkel, Berlin,
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1997), pp. 123-128. Rohm described Berlin as unique: 11 August 1929, Ernst R6hm,
Uyuni, Bolivia, to Dr. Heimsoth, Klotz, Drei Briefe, BAK Slg Schumacher 402, p.
15.
34. Delmer, Trail Sinister, p. 122. There are photos of Eldorado in Wolfgang Theis and
Andreas Sternweiler, “Alltag im Kaiserreich und in der Weimarer Republik”, Berlin
Museum, Eldorado, pp. 71-2. His family did not appear to have understood or
accepted his sexuality: interview with Frau Annalies Rohm in the BBC documentary,
Night of the Humming Bird, Hitler”s 1934 Massacre (BBC TV, first broadcast 30
June 1981); telephone conversation with Dr. Grafin Eva du Moulin-Eckart in
September 1997. She remembered a conversation between Lore Lippert and Du
Moulin-Eckart after the war in which they stated that they could not believe that so
masculine a man was homosexual. Since there can be no doubt by 1945 that Du
Moulin-Eckart himself knew of R6hm’s homosexuality, he must have been saying
this to spare Lore Lippert’s feelings. Du Moulin-Eckart strenuously denied that he
was homosexual, both in 1934 and after the war. Du Moulin-Eckart’s own pre- and
post-war claims about R6hm’s sexuality were disingenuous. In 1929 R6hm entrusted
Du Moulin-Eckart with his contacts with Dr. Heimsoth, a prominent volkisch
homosexual rights activist: 25 February 1929, R6hm to Heimsoth, Klotz, Drei Briefe,
BAK Slg Schumacher 402, pp. 7-10. R6hm did not conceal his sexual inclinations: 1
January 1952, “30. Juni 19347, “Vertraulich” [Schreyer, Karl], IfZ ZS 357/1, p. 2;
“Besprechung des Generalmajor a.D. von Horauf Bayerisch Gmain, Stieglbauerlehen,
Tel. Bad Reichenhall 2570 mit Herrn Dr. Frhr. von Siegler auf 12. Nov. fiir das

Institut fiir Zeitgeschichte.”, IfZ ZS 70, p. 3. Manfred Herzer has noted that Heines,
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Ernst, Rohrbein, Zehnter, Gauleiter Helmut Briickner, Du Moulin-Eckart, and
Rossbach were all accused of homosexuality by the left-wing press but that only in
the case of R6hm was there clear evidence: Herzer, “Communists, Social Democrats,
and the Homosexual Movement in the Weimar Republic”, Hekma, Oosterhuis and
Steakley (eds), Gay Men and the Sexual History of the Political Left, note 45 pp. 224-
5. In the case of Zehnter and a friend not mentioned by Herzer, Gerhard von Prosch,
there was evidence in a court case after 30 June 1934: November 1934, Dr Paulus,
Amtsrichter, Das Schoffengericht bei dem Amtsgerichte Miinchen Abteilung
Strafgericht, “URTEIL. in dem Strafverfahren gegen Granninger Peter, Du Moulin
Eckart Karl Leon, Holtsch Johann und von Prosch Gerhard wegen widernatiirlicher
Unzucht und Kuppelei”, BAR NS 26/324, pp. 1-50; and material on von Prosch’s
own police file, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 15540.
35. This will be dealt with in greater detail in Chapter Ten.
36. See for example Warum SA? Rede des Reichsministers Stabschef R6hm in Berlin am
7.XII. 1933 vor dem Diplomatischen Korps (Munich, undated — 1933), BAK Slg
Schumacher/402, p. 10.
37. R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, pp. 237-238. He expressed similar views in 8
September 1933, “Ch. Nr. 149/33”, “Betreff: Ausbreitung des Muckertums.”, BAK
Slg Schumacher/414. R6hm’s membership: 3 December 1928, R6hm, Munich to Dr.
Heimsoth, Klotz, Drei Briefe, BAK Slg Schumacher 402, p. 6. Size of the
organization: Andreas Sternweiler, “II1.3 Die Freundschaftsbiinde — eine
Massenbewegung”, in Sternweiler and Hannesen (eds), Goodbye to Berlin?, p. 100.

The three homosexual rights organizations were the Scientific-Humanitarian Institute
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(Wissenschaftliches-Humanitéres Institut) founded in 1897, the League for Human
Rights (Bund der Menschenrechte) and the Society of the Individual (Gemeinschaft
der Eigene): “III. Die Schwulenbewegung in der Weimarer Republik”, Sternweiler
and Hannesen (eds), Goodbye to Berlin?, passim.
38. R6hm’s response to Heimsoth: 3 December 1928, Rohm, Munich to Dr. Heimsoth,
Klotz, Drei Briefe, BAK Slg Schumacher 402, p. 6. R6hm and Heimsoth then met at
the Kleist Kasino in Berlin: 28 July 1931, unheaded interrogation of R6hm, LAB
Rep. 58/517, p. 27. On Heimsoth: Manfred Herzer, “34. Asexuality as an element in
the self-presentation of the right wing of the German gay movement before 1933.
(Elisar von Kupfer, Benedict Friedlaender, Hans Bliiher, Karl Giinther Heimsoth.”,
Matthias Duyves et al (eds), Among Men, among Women Sociological and Historical
Recognition of Homosocial Arrangements (Gay-studies and women’s studies,
University of Amsterdam Conference, 22th-26th June 1983, Oudemanhuispoort,
Amsterdam), pp. 319-321, 581; Manfred Herzer, “IIl. 2 Die Gemeinschaft der
Eigenen”, in Sternweiler and Hannesen (eds), Goodbye to Berlin?, caption on p. 91.
Both Manfred Herzer and James Steakley are currently conducting further research
on Heimsoth; personal information from Manfred Herzer and James Steakley. In
1927 Heimsoth attempted to interest German intelligence in using Egon von Navarini
as a double agent against Czech intelligence: 20 December 1927, 1. A. gez. Bauer,
[Po]lizeidirektion Miinchen [Zen]tralpolizeistelle Bayern to Reichswehrministerium,
Marineleitung, A. St-Berlin and others, “[Be]treff: 1.) Dr. Egon von Navarini,
Kaufmann, geb. 6.5.82 in Hermannstadt, und 2.) Dr. med. Karl Giinther Heimsoth,

Arzt, geb. 4.12.99 in Charlottenburg.”, BAP 15.01/165/4, pp. 1-2. Until August 1931
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Heimsoth was a member of Otto Strasser’s Kampfgemeinschaft Revolutiondrer
Nationalsozialisten: Markus Josef Klein, Ernst von Salomon (Limburg a.d. Lahn,
1994), p. 181 note 431; Dr. K.G. Heimsoth, “Schluss mit Strasser-Stennes-Ehrhardt
Der Schwindel der ‘Schwarzen Front’ ”, Sonderdruck, Der Vorkdmpfer, September
1931, pp. 1-4, BDC Ehrhardt, Hermann. R6hm made no secret of his position: 3
December 1928, R6hm, Munich to Dr. Heimsoth, Klotz, Drei Briefe, BAK Slg
Schumacher 402, p. 6.
39. R6hm”s hostility to what he saw as women’s excessive influence: R6hm, Geschichte
eines Hochverriters, p. 258. He reflected views shared by many contributors to Der
Eigene: Harry Oosterhuis, “V. Political Issues and the Rise of Nazism Introduction”
and “VI. Epilogue Male Bonding and Homosexuality in German Nationalism”, in
Harry Oosterhuis and Hubert Kennedy (eds), Homosexuality and Male Bonding in
Pre-Nazi Germany: The Youth Movement, the Gay Movement, and Male Bonding
Before Hitler”’s Rise: Original Transcripts from Der Eigene, The First Gay Journal
in the World (Harrington Park Press, New York, 1991), pp. 185-7 and 243-4
respectively.
40. Undated [1946], Graf Carl Léon Du Moulin-Eckart, “Zeugen-Vernehmung in der
Untersuchung gegen Kuchler Ludwig aus Rosenheim wegen Mordes”, IfZ Gt
01.02/1, p. 2. Rohm on the role of Jews in Germany: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, pp. 256-259. His emphasis on the rough war hero as a measure of
national greatness: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, p. 258. This passage may
have been influenced by an article in Der Eigene that suggested Napoleon was

bisexual: G.P. Pfeiffer, “Male Heroes and Comrade-Love in War: A Study and



302
Collection of Materials”, in Oosterhuis and (eds), Homosexuality and Male Bonding
in Pre-Nazi Germany, pp. 222, 226.
41. Schoeps, Ja — Nein — und Trotzdem, pp. 129-130.
42. Rohm on the workers’ conditions: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, pp. 320-
321. Officers in the pre-war army: Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, pp. 259.
43. Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, pp. 55, 59-60.
44. The book had been published by November 1928: 29 November 1928, “Erklarung”,
Volkischer Beobachter, Nr. 278, press clipping in BHSA/V Slg P 3653. An extract
from the book had appeared in the Volkischer Beobachter in June: 3-4 June 1928,
Ernst R6hm, “Soldat und Politik.”, Volkischer Beobachter, press clipping in BHSA/V
Slg P 3653. Ro6hm’s interest in its sales: 5 April 1929, Ernst R6hm, La Paz, Bolivia,
to Emile R6hm, pp. 1-2; 26 February 1930, Ernst R6hm, Oruro, Bolivia, to Emilie
Rohm, p. 1, R6hm family papers.
45. Rohm played the main part in persuading Epp: 13 June 1928, “N/No. 67.”,
“Vertraulich!”, subheading “Nationalsozialistische Deutsche Arbeiterpartei
(N.S.D.A.P.)”, BHSA/II MA 101235/2, p. 12; 12 February 1930, Ernst R6hm, Oruro,
Bolivia to Emilie R6hm, R6hm family papers, p. 2. Propaganda victory and resulting
rise in NSDAP vote: Garnett, Lion, Eagle, and Swastika, p. 247.
46. Sendtner, Rupprecht von Wittelsbach, p. 515. In Sendtner’s account this is dated
“some years” after 1923. Differing dates given for this audience by Soden: 19 May
1949, signatures, unheaded statement of Graf Josef Maria von Soden-Fraunhofen,
SAM STAW 28793, p. 2; Alfons Beckenbauer, “Wie Adolf Hitler durch einen

niederbayerischen Grafen zu einem Wutausbruch gebracht wurde: Aus den
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unverdftentlichen Memoiren des Joseph Maria Graf von Soden-Fraunhofen —
zugleich ein Beitrag zur Geschichte des monarchischen Gedankens in Bayern
wiahrend der Weimarer Zeit”, Sonderdruck aus Verhandlungen des Historischen
Vereins fiir Niederbayern, Band 103, Landshut, 1977, p. 27. The Nazis used both the
Austrian artist Carl Anton Reichel and R6hm as go-betweens in an effort to win the
Crown Prince’s support for a referendum in Bavaria to return its railways to Bavarian
control: see Reichel’s letter of 27 August 1928 to Crown Prince Rupprecht in Georg
Wacha, “Zu Carl Anton Reichel: Der Briefwechsel mit Kronprinz Rupprecht von
Bayern”, Kunstjahrbuch der Stadt Linz, 1976, BHSA/III Geheimes Hausarchiv NL
Kronprinz Rupprecht 820, p. 58. On the origins of Reichel’s friendship with the
Crown Prince: Sendtner, Rupprecht von Wittelsbach, p. 439.

47. 19 May 1949, signatures, unheaded statement of Graf Josef Maria von Soden-
Fraunhofen, SAM STAW 28793, p. 2.

48. 28 November 1928, “N/Nr. 71.”, “Vertraulich!”, subheading “Versammlungen und
Veranstaltungen.”, BHSA/II MA 101235/2, p. 19. On 25 July 1928 original section of
ARF Miinchen: “Auszug aus dem P.N.D. Bericht vom 28.7.28 Nr. 623. Geheim!
Zusammenkunft der Stammabteilung der Altreichsflagge Miinchen am 25.7.28 im
Arzbergerkeller.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 10162. Reunion celebration on 18
October 1928: “Auszug aus dem P.N.D. Bericht vom 23.10.28 Nr. 632. Geheim!
Wiedersehensfeier ehem. Angehdriger der Reichskriegsflagge Miinchen am 18.10.28
im Restaurant Biirgerbrau.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 10162. R6hm’s speech at the
NSDAP meeting at the Mathéserfestsaal: 28 November 1928, “N/Nr. 71.”,
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“Vertraulich!”, subheading “Versammlungen und Veranstaltungen.”, BHSA/Il MA
101235/2, p. 19.
49. 28 November 1928, “N/Nr. 71.”, “Vertraulich!”, subheading “Nationalsozialistische
Deutsche Arbeiterpartei (N.S.D.A.P.)”, BHSA/Il MA 101235/2, p. 17.
50. 28 November 1928, “Abschrift!” Ernst Rohm, “Wehrpolitische Vereinigung.”, SAM
Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 6874, p. 2. See also a police report based on this: 17 December
1928, “N/Nr. 72.”, “Vertraulich!”, subheading ‘“Wehrpolitische Vereinigung.”,
BHSA/II MA 101235/21, pp. 10-11.
51. 28 November 1928, “Abschrift!” Ernst Rohm, “Wehrpolitische Vereinigung.”, SAM
Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 6874, p. 1.
52. “Auszug aus dem P.N.D. Bericht v. 21.12.1928 Nr. 640. Geheim! Erste
Versammlung der “Wehrpolitischen Vereinigung” am 12.12.1928 im
Wittelsbachergarten.”, SAM Pol. Dir. 10.080, p. 1.
CHAPTER 10: LIEUTENANT-COLONEL IN BOLIVIA 1928-30
1. 7 February 1929, Ernst R6hm, La Paz, Bolivia, to Crown Prince Rupprecht,
BHSAV/III Geh. Hausarchiv Nachlall Kronprinz Rupprecht (1 1955) 822, p. 1. In his
letters R6hm always addressed the Crown Prince as “Your Majesty”.
2. 11 January 1928, signature (F. Guzman?), Ministro de Guerra to the Ministerio de
Estado en el Despacho de Relaciones Exteriores y Culto, enclosing letter from the
Chief of the General Staff, Archivo Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores MIN-1-70.
Ro6hm only had 48 hours notice: 7 February 1929, Ernst Rohm, La Paz, Bolivia, to
Crown Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III Geh. Hausarchiv Nachlafl Kronprinz Rupprecht
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(f 1955) 822, p. 1. Rohm finalized the administrative arrangements: 31 December
1928, Ernst Rohm am Cap Polonio to Mrs Emilie R6hm, R6hm family papers, p. 3.
Du Moulin-Eckart left in charge: Graf Carl Léon Du Moulin-Eckart, “Mein
Lebenslauf 1921 bis 1946.”, IfZ Sp. 2/1, p. 2.
3. 14 October 1930, Martin Schitzl, Sachsen, to Frau Kéte Schétzl, SAM STAW 28792,
pp. 1, 2. R6hm decided to take a companion: 25 February 1929, Ernst Rohm, La Paz,
Bolivia, to Dr. Heimsoth, Klotz, Drei Briefe, BAK Sammlung Schumacher 402, p. 8.
Schatzl: “Hoy, a las 11, Inaugura su Exposicion de Pintura el Maestro Aleman Martin
Schaetzl, en un Salon del C. Bancario”, El Diario, 27 September 1930, p. 7. R6hm
and Schitzl met in Straubing in 1928: 27 April 1949, signatures,
“Vernehmungsniederschrift.”, (interrogation of Mrs. Katharina Schétzl), SAM STAW
28793, p. 1; 29 April 1949, signatures, “Vernehmungsniederschrift.”, (interrogation
of Mr. Martin Schétzl senior), SAM STAW 28793, p. 1. Schétzl not a potential sexual
partner: 25 February 1929, Ernst Rohm, La Paz, Bolivia, to Dr. Heimsoth, Klotz, Drei
Briefe, BAK Sammlung Schumacher 402, p. 8.
4. The Cap Polonio sailed on 14 December: 14 December 1928, “Schiffsbewegungen”,
Hamburger Echo, Nr. 346. On the journey from Hamburg to Buenos Aires: 14
December 1928, Ernst R6hm, Cap Polonio, to Emilie R6hm and Eleonore Lippert,
Rohm family papers, p. 4; 15 December 1928, Ernst Rohm, Boulogne am Cap
Polonio, to Emilie Rohm, R6hm family papers, p. 1; 17 December 1928, Ernst Rohm,
Vigo-Lissabon am Cap Polonio, to Emilie R6hm, R6hm family papers, p. 1; 27
December 1928, Ernst R6hm am Cap Polonio to Emilie Rohm, R6hm family papers,
p- 1; 31 December 1928, Ernst R6hm am Cap Polonio to Emilie R6hm, R6hm family
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papers, p. 1. The Hamburg-Stidamerikanische Dampfschiffahrtsgesellschaft: Stefan
Rinke, “Der letzte freie Kontinent”: Deutsche Lateinamerikapolitik im Zeichen
internationaler Beziehungen, 1918-1933 Teilband 1 (Verlag Hans-Dieter Heinz,
Stuttgart, 1996), pp. 152, 154. The Cap Polonio reached Buenos Aires: 2 January
1929, “Schiffsbewegungen”, Hamburger Echo, Nr. 2. On the journey from Buenos
Aires to La Paz: 5 January 1929, Ernst R6hm, La Paz, Bolivia to Emilie R6hm, R6hm
family papers, p. 1; 5 January 1929, “Seccion Sociales”, El Diario, p. 5.

5. Bolivia in 1929 had an area: Ernst Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters (5.
Auflage, Volksaufgabe, Eher Verlag, Munich, 1934), p. 357. Population: 21
December 1928, John R. Thomas, Jr., Colonel, General Staff, Military Attaché,
“Report No. 237457, “BOLIVIA (MILITARY), Subject: Military Strength”, “6020.”,
NA 2005-35/2. Ninety percent of its population lived on the Altiplano: Reinhard
Wolff and Harmut Fréschle, “Die Deutschen in Bolivien” in Harmut Froschle (ed.),
Die Deutschen in Lateinamerika: Schicksal und Leistung (Horst Erdmann Verlag,
Tiibingen, 1979), p. 146. Some 5 percent were European: 14 February 1928, R. C.
Michell to Rt. Hon. Sir Austen Chamberlain, “CONFIDENTIAL. (13410) BOLIVIA
Annual Report, 19277, TNA FO 371/12741, p. 21. They and the mixed race Cholos
dominated politics: Wolff and Froschle, “Die Deutschen in Bolivien”, p. 146; Herbert
S. Klein, Parties and Political Change in Bolivia 1880-1952 (Cambridge University
Press, Cambridge, 1969), p. 167. Germans were the largest group of more recent
European immigrants: Wolff and Froschle, “Die Deutschen in Bolivien”, pp. 146.

6. Most of the population worked in subsistence agriculture: Klein, Parties and Political

Change in Bolivia 1880-1952, pp. 160-161. Bolivia produced 23 percent of the
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world”s tin in 1920: James Dunkerley, “The politics of the Bolivian Army:
Institutional Development to 1935”, (University of Oxford doctoral thesis, 1979), p.
104. Bolivia hit by steep decline in price of tin beginning in 1929: Mariano Baptista
Gumucio, Historia contemporanea de Bolivia 1930-1976 (volume II, Gisbert & Cia.,
La Paz, 1976), p. 396.

7. Government resorted to heavy borrowing: Dunkerley, “The politics of the Bolivian
Army”, pp. 163-164. 1929 budget: Klein, Parties and Political Change in Bolivia
1880-1952, p. 108.

8. Bolivian political system: Klein, Parties and Political Change in Bolivia 1880-1952,
pp- 19, 24. Literacy tests meant there were 70,000 eligible voters in 1926: Klein,
Parties and Political Change in Bolivia 1880-1952, pp. 167-8. Army interventions in
politics only to uphold constitution: Marten Willem Brienen, “The Liberal Crisis and
Military Socialism in Bolivia: Bolivian History from 1930 to 1939”, Vakgroep Talen
en Culturen van Latijns Amerika, Faculteit der Letteren, Rijksuniversiteit Leiden, 26
August 1996, p. 18. Officers generally accepted the ethos of military professionalism:
Dunkerley, “Politics of the Bolivian Army”, p. 157.

9. Bolivian Army had 500 officers and 20,000 men on active duty: 28 June 1929, C.J.
Allen, Major, G.S., M.A. Peru, “Report No. 3590, “BOLIVIA (Combat) Subject:
Distribution of Troops.”, NA 2005-35 3, pp. 1-2. Accounts of the size of the army
vary. In 1925 the US Legation reported the standing army as being 6-7000 men
supplemented by 3000 conscripts: 7 December 1925, Jesse S. Cottrell, Legation of
the United States of America, La Paz, Bolivia, to the Secretary of State, “No. 908.”,

NA 644/14 Roll 14, p. 2. In 1927 Major Guillermo Kaiser described the army as
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comprising about 10,000 men in three divisions: K., “Abschrift zu Ill M S 627.”,
“Die bolivianische Armee.”, pp. 1-4, attached to 27 January 1927, Marckwald,
Deutsche Gesandtschaft, La Paz, to the Auswiartiges Amt, Berlin, “Geheim!”, “B.
177, PA AA R 78893. The structure of the army is given as set out in: 28 June 1929,
C.J. Allen, Major, G.S., M.A. Peru, “Report No. 35907, “BOLIVIA (Combat)
Subject: Distribution of Troops.”, NA 2005-35 3, pp. 1-2; but by June 1930 there were
only five divisions and the regiments had changed in number: 12 June 1930, C.J.
Allen, Major, G.S., M.A. Bolivia, “Report No. 3692, “BOLIVIA (Combat) Subject:
Organization of the Divisions of the Bolivian Army.”, NA 2005-35 4, pp. 1-2.
Difference between theory and practice on conscription: between 1915 and 1918 only
2900 men of an estimated 25,000 men reaching military age per year were called up
annually: 29 July 1919, H.E., “SUBJECT Information concerning the Army of
Bolivia.”, NA 2005-3, p. 3. De facto the army was racially divided: Dunkerley,
“Politics of the Bolivian Army”, p. 157.
10. Brienen, “The Liberal Crisis and Military Socialism in Bolivia: Bolivian History from
1930 to 19397, p. 24; James Dunkerley, Origenes del poder militar: Historia politica
¢ institucional del ejército boliviano hasta 1935 (Quipus, La Paz, 1987), p. 127. On
the Gran Chaco and the territorial dispute between Bolivia and Paraguay: Waltraud
Q. Morales, A Brief History of Bolivia (Facts on File, Inc., New York, 2003), pp. 99-
103.
11. Léon E. Bieber, “La politica militar alemana en Bolivia, 1900-1935”, Latin American
Research Review, 29/1, 1994, p. 88; Dunkerley, “Politics of the Bolivian Army”, pp.
131, 132-133; Dunkerley, Origenes del poder militar, pp. 94-96.
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12. Bolivia and Article 179 of the Treaty of Versailles: Rinke, “Der letzte freie
Kontinent”, Teilband 1 and 2, pp. 170, 177 and p. 577 respectively. Many German
officers sought overseas positions: 7 May 1929, Ernst Rohm, La Paz, to Emilie
Rohm, Rohm family papers, p. 2. Kundt’s resumed employment and attitudes of
Bolivia to French protests: Rinke, “Der letzte freie Kontinent”, Teilband 2, p. 620.
US & UK governments saw Kundt’s return as an assurance of discipline: Dunkerley,
Origenes del poder militar, p. 115. British diplomats saw Kundt as more Bolivian
than German: 1 August [1929], R.R. Craigie, note on 4 April 1929, “Activities of
General Hans Kundt, Commander-in-Chief of Bolivian Army.”, TNA FO 371/13465,
p. 3; signature (W. Burberry?), FO “Memorandum”, TNA FO 371/13465, pp. 1-2.
13. The return of other members of the pre-war mission and isolated hiring of
individuals: Rinke, “Der letzte freie Kontinent, Teilband 2, pp. 621-622. On the 1926
“Danzig mission”: 3 July 1928, Marckwald, Deutsche Gesandtschaft in Bolivien, to
the Auswartiges Amt, Berlin, “B. 130. Betrifft: Deutsche Instrukteure fiir Bolivien.”,
PA AA R 78893, pp. 1-8. On the diplomatic protests: 14 February 1928, R.C. Michell
to Sir Austen Chamberlain, “CONFIDENTIAL (13410) BOLIVIA. Annual Report,
1927.”, TNAFO 371/12741, p. 5. The espionage scandal Rinke, “Der letzte freie
Kontinent”, Teilband 2, p. 628. The Bolivian Government told the German
Ambassador that he had no standing to assist the three sergeants, as they were from
Danzig. The British Embassy had to intervene to provide consular assistance. The
British Embassy’s ensuing report was very hostile to the Bolivian Government: 12

July 1928, R.C. Michell to Rt. Hon. Sir Austen Chamberlain, TNA FO 126/37, pp. 1-
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4. By September 1929 only seven members remained in Bolivia: Rinke, “Der letzte
freie Kontinent”, Teilband 2, note 170 p. 630.
14. Saavedra appointed Kundt and placed him on the same footing as the Minister of
War: Rinke, “Der letzte freie Kontinent”, Teilband 2, pp. 620, 622. Successive
presidents used him to protect them against opposition and he operated a system of
espionage within the army: 12 August 1922, Jesse S. Cottrell, La Paz, Bolivia to
Secretary of State, Washington, “No. 68.”, NA 644/14 Roll 14, p. 4; Bieber, “La
politica militar alemana en Bolivia, 1900-1935”, pp. 88-89; Dunkerley, “Politics of
the Bolivian Army”, p. 172; Dunkerley, Origenes del poder militar, p. 116. Hostility
to Kundt in the officer corps: 12 November 1926, Marckwald, Deutsche
Gesandtschaft, La Paz, to the Auswértiges Amt, Berlin, “B. 184.”, “Betrifft: Deutsche
Militérinstrukteure im bolivianischen Heere.”, PA AA R 78893, p. 2. Marckwald’s
report noted that Kundt was also unpopular with his fellow German officers. Siles
sent Kundt overseas in 1926: “BOLIVIA. Annual Report, 1927.”, TNA FO
371/12941, p. 21; Dunkerley, Origenes del poder militar, p. 125. Kundt’s recall and
reasons for it: 1 February 1929, R.C. Michell to Sir Austen Chamberlain,
“CONFIDENTIAL. (13543) Bolivia Annual Report, 1928.”, “Enclosure. Annual
Report on Bolivia for 1928.”, TNA FO 371/13466, p. 26, Dunkerley, Origenes del
poder militar, p. 127. Kundt earned 12,000 bolivianos a year plus an additional
allowance of 1000 bolivianos a month and 500 bolivianos a month for housing,
making an annual total of 30,000 bolivianos: January 1929, Kundt and Martinez
Vargas, one page renewal of contract, Archivo Militar — Legajo No. 1 52

Organizacion del Estado Mayor General. By June 1930 under this contract he had
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been paid 48,000 bolivianos: 3 June 1931, “EXTRACTO de presupuestos de haberes
pagados por el Tesoro Nacional, al sefior General H. Kundt en su caracter de jefe del
E.M.G., es como sigue:”, Archivo Militar—Legajo No. 1 52 Organizacién del Estado
Mayor General, pp. 3-4.

15. The conditions of R6hm’s employment are set out in: F. Osorio, Ayudante General,
Teniente Coronel Ernst Roehm, “COPIA LEGALIZADA” attachment, pp. 1-3, to 12
April 1929, signature, Ayudante General, Ministro de Guerra to Ministro de Estado

en el Despacho de Relaciones Exteriores y Culto, Archivo Ministerio de Relaciones
Exteriores MIN-1-72. Comparison to the salaries of Kundt and a Bolivian lieutenant-
colonel: Dunkerley, Origenes del poder militar, note 21 p. 235.

16. Ernst Rohm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters (fifth edition), p. 363. The third edition
on which later editions were based was written at the beginning of 1933: Bennecke,
“Die Memoiren des Ernst Rohm: Ein Vergleich der verschiedenen Ausgaben und
Auflagen”, p. 181. To Crown Prince Rupprecht R6hm stated that he wanted to be a
soldier: 7 February 1929, Ernst R6hm, La Paz, Bolivia, to Crown Prince Rupprecht,
BHSA/III Geh. Hausarchiv Nachlall Kronprinz Rupprecht (1 1955) 822, p. 1.
Financial motives played a part: 1 February 1929, Ernst Rohm, La Paz, Bolivia, to
Adolf Hitler, BAR 62 KA 1/51/1, p. 1; 19 March 1929, Ernst R6hm, La Paz, Bolivia
to Mrs Emilie Rohm, R6hm family papers, p. 2; 29 April 1929, Ernst R6hm, La Paz,
Bolivia to Mrs Emilie R6hm, Rohm family papers, p. 2. Grateful to have

employment: September 19[29], Ernst Rohm to Heinrich Himmler, BAR NS

19/2668, p. 1.
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17. 3 July 1928, Marckwald, Deutsche Gesandtschaft, La Paz, “B. 1307, to the
Auswirtiges Amt, Berlin, “Betr.: Deutsche Instrukteure fiir Bolivien.”, AA PAR
78893, p. 7. Marckwald had changed his mind on the role of German officers in
Bolivia: 3 July 1928, Marckwald, Deutsche Gesandtschaft, La Paz, “B. 1307, to the
Auswirtiges Amt, Berlin, “Betrifft: Deutsche Instrukteure fiir Bolivien.”, AA PAR
78893, pp. 1-8. On Marckwald: see his personal files, PAAAR 2351, R 2351l and R
235 G; 18 February 1928, “CONFIDENTIAL.”, R.C. Michell, La Paz to Rt. Hon. Sir
Austen Chamberlain, No. 1, “Enclosure in No. 1 Report on Heads of Mission at La
Paz in December of 1927.”, TNA FO 371/12741, p. 4.
18. The Chilean and Argentinian military attachés saw R6hm as dangerous: 2 November
1929, Ernst Rohm, Oruro, Bolivia to Emilie R6hm, R6hm family papers, p. 1. R6hm
and Marckwald were aware of French protests: 23 April 1929, Ernst Rohm, La Paz,
Bolivia to Emilie R6hm, R6hm family papers, p. 1; 11 April 1929, Marckwald to
Auswirtiges Amt, “Inhalt: Franzdsischer Protest wegen Anstellung des Hauptmann
Rohms im bolivianischen Heere.”, AA PA R 78893. Le Mallier’s repeated protests:
28 March 1929, A. le Mallier, Légation de la République Frangaise en Bolivie to the
Ministére des Relations Extérieures, a la Paz, “Note verbale.”, Archivo Ministerio de
Relaciones Exteriores LE-3-R-132, pp. 1-2; 20 April 1929, A. le Mallier, Légation de
la République Francaise en Bolivie note to M. Tomas Elio, Ministre de Relations
Extérieures, a la Paz, Archivo Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores LE-3-R-132, pp.
1-2; 14 May 1929, A. le Mallier, Légation de la République Francgaise en Bolivie to
the Ministére des Relations Extérieures, a la Paz, Archivo Ministerio de Relaciones

Exteriores LE-3-R-132, pp. 1-2; 21 May 1929, A. le Mallier, Légation de la
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République Francgaise en Bolivie to the Ministére des Relations Extérieures, a la Paz,
Archivo Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores LE-3-R-132. The Bolivian
Government’s response: 2 May 1929, note from Bolivian Ministry of External
Relations to Mr. André le Mallier, Ambassador of France, Archivo Ministerio de
Relaciones Exteriores LE-3-E-37. See also 6 June 1929, note from Bolivian Ministry
of External Relations to Mr. André le Mallier, Ambassador of France, Archivo
Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores LE-3-E-37. The wider issues le Mallier raised: 20
April 1929, A. le Mallier, Légation de la République Frangaise en Bolivie note to M.
Tomas Elio, Ministre de Relations Extérieures, a la Paz, Archivo Ministerio de
Relaciones Exteriores LE-3-R-132, p. 2. Le Mallier expressed France’s regret: 14
May 1929, A. le Mallier, Légation de la République Francaise en Bolivie to M.
Tomas Elio, the Ministére des Relations Extérieures, a la Paz, Archivo Ministerio de
Relaciones Exteriores LE-3-R-132, pp. 1-2. The British ambassador noted that
Bolivia had little respect for the Treaty of Versailles: 12 March 1930, R.C. Michell to
Rt. Hon. A. Henderson M.P., TNA FO 126/54, p. 1.
19. He learnt Spanish quickly: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, 5. Auflage, p.
360; 23 April 1929, Ernst Rohm, La Paz, Bolivia to Emilie Rohm, R6hm family
papers, p. 1; 7 May 1929, Ernst R6hm, La Paz, Bolivia to Emilie Rohm, R6hm family
papers, p. 1. R6hm found the Bolivian Army easy to adjust to: R6hm, Geschichte
eines Hochverriters, 5. Auflage, p. 360. By June 1929 he was capable of independent
command: 1 June 1929, Ermnst R6hm, La Paz, Bolivia to Martin Schéitzl, SAM STAW
28792, p. 1.
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20. 14 August 1929, Ernst R6hm, Uyuni, Bolivia to Dr. Heimsoth, Klotz, Drei Briefe,
BAK Sammlung Schumacher 402, p. 15. The memoirs of Waldo Alvarez Espaiia, a
Bolivian labour leader, claim that Rohm found a sexual partner among the soldiers of
his regiment, but this claim is based on hearsay, and must therefore be regarded as
unproven: Waldo Alvarez Espafa, Memorias del primer ministro obrero (Historia del
movimiento sindical y politico boliviano) 1916-1952 (Imprenta “Renovacion” Ltd.,
La Paz, 1986), p. 25. Initially Rohm and Schétzl lived in the home of José Manuel del
Carpio: Crespo Rodas, Hernando Siles, el poder y su angustia, p. 241. Population of
La Paz in 1929: Oficina Nacional de Estadistica Financiera, Sinopsis estadistica de la
Républica de Bolivia (10 July 1930, La Paz), p. 1. Rohm was homesick and he and
Schatzl were dependent on each other: 25 February 1929, Ernst R6hm, La Paz,
Bolivia to Dr. Heimsoth, Klotz, Drei Briefe, BAK Sammlung Schumacher 402, p. 8.
Initially he found no homosexual life in La Paz: 25 February 1929, Ernst Rohm, La
Paz, Bolivia to Dr. Heimsoth, Klotz, Drei Briefe, BAK Sammlung Schumacher 402,
pp- 8-9.
21. 1 February 1929, Ernst R6hm, La Paz, Bolivia to Adolf Hitler, BAR 62 KA1/51/1, p.
1. He continued his efforts to win the Crown Prince to the National Socialist cause: 7
February 1929, Ernst Rohm, La Paz, Bolivia, to Crown Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III
Geh. Hausarchiv Nachla3 Kronprinz Rupprecht (1 1955) 822, p. 2; 13 April 1929,
Carl Anton Reichel to Crown Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III Geh. Hausarchiv Nachlaf3
Kronprinz Rupprecht (1 1955) 820, p. 1. Du Moulin-Eckart advised him: 9 April

1929, Ernst Rohm, La Paz, Bolivia to Emilie Rohm, R6hm family papers, p. 2.
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22. R6hm accompanied Kundt on his inspections of recruits: 5 April 1929, Ernst R6hm,
La Paz, Bolivia to Emilie R6hm, R6hm family papers, p. 2. In June 1929 R6hm
became an inspector of troops in Sucre: 1 June 1929, Ernst Rohm, La Paz, Bolivia to
Martin Schétzl, SAM STAW 28792, p. 1. R6hm in Sucre from 18 June to 25 July
1929: 18 June 1929, Ernst Rohm, Sucre, Bolivia to Emilie Rohm, R6hm family
papers; 24 July 1929, Ernst Rohm, Sucre, Bolivia to Emilie R6hm, R6hm family
papers, p. 1. He travelled to Uyuni via La Paz: 24 July 1929, Ernst R6hm, Sucre,
Bolivia to Emilie R6hm, R6hm family papers, p. 1. He returned to La Paz at the
beginning of September: 20 September 1929, Ernst Rohm, Oruro, Bolivia to Emilie
Rohm, R6hm family papers, p. 1.
23. Rohm appointed Chief of Staff in Oruro: 7 September 1929, H. Kundt, el general,
Jefe del Estado Mayor General, “ORDEN GENERAL NO. 238”, Archivo Militar Ordenes
Generales del Ejército 1928-1929; 14 September 1929, Ernst Rohm, La Paz, Bolivia
to Emilie R6hm, R6hm family papers, pp. 1-2. Arteaga Aranibar has R6hm taking up
this appointment in November 1929. His source is Major Alfons Arana Gandarillas:
30 June 1984, Miguel Arteaga Aranibar, “Ernst Roehm”, (unpublished paper, 30 June
1984), p. 6 and footnote 8. R6hm’s letters to his mother and documents in Bolivia”s
Archivo Militar make it clear that he took up this position in September. His
apartment: 20 September 1929, Ernst R6hm, Oruro, Bolivia to Emilie R6hm, Rohm
family papers, p. 1. His proficiency in Spanish: see for example the few surviving
memoranda under his signature, 19 December 1929, Ten. Cor. R6hm, por Orden del
comandante de la div, Comandancia de la primera division, Oruro, to Sefior General

Jefe del Estado Mayor General, La Paz, “Objeto: Enviar recorte prensa.”, pp. 1-2,
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and 24 December 1929, ten. cor. Rohm, T.R. Comandancia de la Primera Division,
Ejército Nacional, Oruro to Sefior General, Jefe del Estado Mayor General, La Paz,
“Objeto: Enviar diario”, both in Archivo Militar A-148 C-027 Elevacion de Recortes
de Prensa-Impresos 1929-1930, 1932. He inspected the garrisons at Challapata,
Uyuni and Potosi: 20 September 1929, signature to Sefior General Jefe del Estado
Mayor General, La Paz, “Objeto: solicitar autorizacion para inspeccion regimientos.”,
and attachment, 20 September 1929, tencl Ernst R6hm, El Jefe de Estado Mayor Div.,
“ITINERARIO A SEGUIR EN LA INSPECCION DE LOS REGIMIENTOS DE LA PRIMERA

DIVISION CON MOTIVO DE LAS MANIOBRAS QUE DEBEN EFECTUARSE EN OCTUBRE
DEL

PRESENTE ANO.”, Archivo Militar A-154 C-028 1929. Chief of Command of the
victorious Blue Division in the war games: see the reports on the manoeuvres in El
Diario: 20 October 1929, “Dos Divisiones de Nuestro Ejército encuéntranse en
Campaiia”, El Diario, p. 5; 25 October 1929, “Se desarrollen en una forma
interesante las maniobras militares”, El Diario, p. 7; 26 October 1929, “Las Tropas
Azules Entraron victoriosamente a Nazacara”, El Diario, p. 6; 29 October 1929, “Con
un magnifico desfile de parada concluyeron las maniobras”, El Diario, p. 6; 5
November 1929, Jests de Machaca, “Maniobras Militares de la Primavera de 19297,
El Diario, p. 7; 6 November 1929, Mario LeGrand, “Maniobras Militares de la
Primavera de 1929”, El Diario, p. 7; 7 November 1929, Mario LeGrand, “Maniobras
Militares de la Primavera de 19297, El Diario, p. 9 ; 8 November 1929, Mario
LeGrand, “Maniobras Militares de la Primavera de 19297, El Diario, p. 4.

24. His holiday in Chile: 5 December 1929, Ernst Rohm, Hotel Londres, Antofagasta,

Chile to Emilie Rohm, R6hm family papers, pp. 1-2. His interview to E1 Mercurio: 20
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December 1929, “ ‘El Mercurio’ de Antofagasta Entrevisto a un Alto Jefe del Ejército
Boliviano”, El Diario, p. 7.
25. Quoted in Crespo Rodas, Hernando Siles, el poder y su angustia, p. 241.
26. Quoted in Crespo Rodas, Hernando Siles, el poder y su angustia, p. 241. Saavedra
attributed R6hm’s presence in the country incorrectly to membership of the Danzig
mission and Crespo Rodas repeated this error: Crespo Rodas, Hernando Siles, el
poder y su angustia, p. 240.
27. To begin with R6hm believed he was getting on well with Kundt: 1 February 1929,
Ernst Rohm, La Paz, Bolivia to Adolf Hitler, BAR 62 KA 1/51/1, p. 2. By April 1930
he confided to the Crown Prince: 9 April 1930, Ernst R6hm, Oruro, Bolivia, to Crown
Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III Geh. Hausarchiv Nachlal Kronprinz Rupprecht ( 1955)
822, p. 4.
28. Rohm trained recruits in January 1930: 15 January 1930, Ernst R6hm, Oruro, Bolivia
to Emilie R6hm, R6hm family papers. In May he led the division: 7 May 1930, Ermnst
R6hm, Oruro, Bolivia to Emilie Rohm, R6hm family papers, p. 1. In June he
participated in war games: 3 June 1930, Ernst Rohm, Oruro, Bolivia, to Emilie R6hm,
Rohm family papers. He and Schétzl shared an apartment: 15 January 1930, Ernst
R6hm, Oruro, Bolivia to Emilie Rohm, R6hm family papers, p. 1. He was elected
second president of the German Club in January 1930: 25 January 1930, Ernst R6hm,
Oruro, Bolivia to Emilie R6hm, R6hm family papers, p. 2. He attended its executive
meetings until early July 1930. These meetings were mainly concerned with
organizing the club”s social life and policies on access to club facilities:

“Vorstandssitzung vom 18. Januar 1930.”, p. 1; “Vorstandssitzung vom 23. Januar
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1930.”, pp. 1-2; “Vorstandssitzung vom 1. Febr. 1930.”; “Vorstandssitzung vom 22.
Febr. 1930.”, p. 1; “Vorstandssitzung vom 21. Mérz 1930.”, pp. 1-2;
“Vorstandssitzung vom 24. April 1930.”; “Vorstandssitzung vom 26. Mai 1930.”, pp.
1-2; “Vorstandssitzung am 3. Juli 1930.”, p. 1; all in “Geschiftsjahr 1930.”, Libro de
actas del Club Alemén en Oruro desde 1928-1974. He claimed that a purely
Nationalist board was elected that did not please the Jewish and half-Jewish
members: 25 January 1930, Ernst Rohm, Oruro, Bolivia to Emilie Ro6hm, R6hm
family papers, pp. 1-2.
29. 9 April 1930, Ernst R6hm, Oruro, Bolivia, to Crown Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III
Geh. Hausarchiv Nachla3 Kronprinz Rupprecht (T 1955) 822, p. 2. He hoped for a
German resurrection because he believed Germany had reached its lowest point:
Ernst Rohm, Oruro, Bolivia, to Crown Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III Geh. Hausarchiv
Nachlafl Kronprinz Rupprecht (1 1955) 822, p. 1.
30. R6hm did not intend to stay in Bolivia: 9 April 1930, Ernst R6hm, Oruro, Bolivia, to
Crown Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III Geh. Hausarchiv Nachla3 Kronprinz Rupprecht
(1 1955) 822, pp. 3-4. Refused offer to stand for Reichstag: 2 August 1930, Ernst
Rohm, La Paz , Bolivia to Emilie R6hm, R6hm family papers, pp. 1-2. See also 22
August 1930, Ernst R6hm, La Paz, Bolivia, to Crown Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III
Geh. Hausarchiv Nachla3 Kronprinz Rupprecht (1 1955) 822, p. 1.
31. 9 April 1930, Ernst R6hm, Oruro, Bolivia, to Crown Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III
Geh. Hausarchiv NachlaB3 Kronprinz Rupprecht (1 1955) 822, p. 3.
32. 9 April 1930, Ernst R6hm, Oruro, Bolivia, to Crown Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III
Geh. Hausarchiv Nachla3 Kronprinz Rupprecht (1 1955) 822, pp. 3-4. The
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interpretation that Rohm planned the June 1930 coup is based on claims by another
German officer in Bolivia: Adolph Répnack, “B. Im Wirrwarr von Politik und
Wirtschaft. Blanco Galindo.”, extract from his unpublished memoirs in BHSA/KA
OP 32380, pp. 1-3. The full memoir is entitled Viva Bolivia! Ein exotisches Buch,
typescript, 1953. I am grateful to Mrs. Natascha E. Lara Bisch for allowing me to see
a copy of the full manuscript. The interpretation is set out in Charles W. Arnade,
“German Military Missions and Advisers to Bolivia”, Escenas y episodios de la
historia: Estudios Bolivianos, 1953-1999 (Los Amigos del Libro, La Paz, 2004), p.
204; Robert Brockmann, “Libro 1. Soldado, rebelde, marica: Ernst R6hm en Bolivia”,
(unpublished manuscript,[La Paz], 2006), pp. 43-45; Luis F. Sanchez Guzman, Hans
Kundt Luces y sombras (La Paz, 2006), p. 139; Robert Brockmann, El general y sus
presidentes: Vida y tiempos de Hans Kundt, Ernst R6hm y siete presidentes en la
historia de Bolivia, 1911-1939 (second edition, Plural Editores, La Paz, 2008), pp.
152, 425-6, 462-6.

33. Siles’ term due to end in August 1930: 10 December 1929, R.C. Michell to Rt. Hon.
A. Henderson, MP, TNA FO 371/14197, p. 3. Kundt began by opposing any
unconstitutional extension: 27 March 1930, R.C. Michell to Rt. Hon. A. Henderson,
MP, TNA FO 371/14197, pp. 1-2. Michell’s report arose from a lunch he had with
Kudt and Marckwald. In the AA files there is no report by Marckwald of the lunch or
of the suspicion he voiced during it that the German diplomatic bag was being
tampered with. On 28 May 1930 Siles turned over power to a Council of Ministers: 2
July 1930, R.C. Michell to Rt. Hon. A. Henderson, MP, TNA FO 371/14197, p. 1, 29
May 1930, Marckwald, La Paz, Telegram Nr. 10, PA AA R 78889. The Council of
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Ministers called for elections: Dunkerley, Origenes del poder militar, p. 129. There
was much opposition in the officer corps: 24 June 1930, R.C. Michell to Rt. Hon. A.
Henderson, MP, TNA FO 371/14197, p. 3. Student demonstrations began on 12 June:
Klein, Parties and Political Change in Bolivia 1880-1952, p. 111. On 24 June the
garrison at Oruro proclaimed itself in revolt: 25 June 1930, telegram from Michell, La
Paz, TNA FO 371/14197. Coordinated uprisings in various cities: Klein, Parties and
Political Change in Bolivia 1880-1952, p. 111. On 25 June cadets at the Colegio
Militar led an uprising: 27 June 1930, telegram from Michell, La Paz and 28 June
1930, telegram from Michell, La Paz, TNA FO 371/14197. The Council of Ministers
resigned and a military junta was formed. The dates given for the creation of the junta
varied: 28 June 1930, Marckwald, La Paz, Telegram Nr. 17, PA AA R 78883. Siles,
Kundt and others took refuge in embassies: 28 June 1930, Marckwald, La Paz,
Telegram Nr. 17, PA AA R 78883; 30 June 1930 telegram from Michell, La Paz,
TNA FO 371/14197; 28 June 1930, Hibbard, telegram to Secretary of State, NA 11
Department of State 824.00/507, pp. 2-3.
34. Public anger focussed on Kundt’s role: 2 July 1930, R.C. Michell to Rt. Hon. A.
Henderson, MP, TNA FO 371/14197, p. 6. Kundt blamed for the order to fire on the
cadets: Rinke, “Der letzte freie Kontinent”, Teilband 2, p. 631. Threatening crowds
gather around the legations: 28 June 1930, Marckwald, La Paz, Telegramm Nr. 17,
PA AA R 78883; 30 June 1930, Marckwald, Telegramm Nr. 18, AA PA 78883; 30
June 1930, telegram from Michell, La Paz, TNA FO 371/14197; 11 July 1930, R.C.
Michell to Rt. Hon. A. Henderson, MP, TNA FO 371/14197, pp. 1-2. Strong anti-

German feeling expressed: 23 July 1930, Marckwald, Deutsche Gesandschaft in
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Bolivien, an das Auswiértige Amt, Berlin, “Betr.: Bolivianische Revolution und
Deutschtum.”, AA PA R 78883, p. 1. German businessmen feel compelled to publish
a statement of loyalty to Bolivia: 23 July 1930, Marckwald, Deutsche Gesandschaft in
Bolivien, an das Auswiértige Amt, Berlin, “Betr.: Bolivianische Revolution und
Deutschtum.”, AA PA R 78883, p. 1. Kundt unable to leave the country until 28 July:
3 July 1930, Marckwald, Deutsche Gesandtschaft in Bolivien, note to Sefior General
Carlos Blanco Galindo, Presidente del Consejo de Ministros, Ministerio de
Relaciones Exteriores LE-3-R-134, pp. 1-5; 29 July 1930, R.C. Michell to Rt. Hon.
A. Henderson, MP, TNA FO 371/14198, pp. 1-3.
35. Dunkerley, “Politics of the Bolivian Army”, p. 213; Klein, Parties and Political
Change in Bolivia 1880-1952, pp. 114, 127; James Dunkerley, Origenes del poder
militar, pp. 132-137.
36. 23 July 1930, Marckwald, Deutsche Gesandschaft in Bolivien, an das Auswértige
Amt Berlin, “Betr.: Bolivianische Revolution und Deutschtum.”, AA PA R 78883,
pp. 4-5. The new government publicized Bolivia’s poor budgetary position and
allowed the press to draw attention to the generous salaries of the German officers: 25
July 1930, Sargento Primo, “Una Economia Efectiva en el Ejército”, El Diario, p. 4.
The budgetary crisis was genuine: 22 August 1930, Ernst Rohm, La Paz, Bolivia, to
Crown Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III Geh. Hausarchiv Nachla3 Kronprinz Rupprecht
( 1955) 822, p. 2. Marckwald considered the official influence of Germans in the
government had collapsed, and all Germans employed in the civil service would be
dismissed immediately: 23 July 1930, Marckwald, Deutsche Gesandschaft in

Bolivien, an das Auswiértige Amt Berlin, “Betr.: Bolivianische Revolution und
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Deutschtum.”, PA AA R 78883, p. 2. It was not clear if this would apply to the
officers: 23 July 1930, Marckwald, Deutsche Gesandschaft in Bolivien, an das
Auswirtige Amt Berlin, “Betr.: Bolivianische Revolution und Deutschtum.”, PA AA
R 78883, p. 4.
37. 15 August 1930, “Ha Sido Nombrado un Asesor Técnico del Estado Mayor Gral.”, El
Diario, p. 7. R6hm claimed officers of the Oruro garrison offered to put him in charge
of the uprising: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, (fifth edition), p. 361. He
was a friend of Colonel Osorio: 5 July 1930, Ernst Rohm, Oruro, Bolivia to Emilie
Rohm, R6hm family papers, p. 2; see also 22 August 1930, Ernst R6hm, La Paz,
Bolivia, to Crown Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III Geh. Hausarchiv Nachla3 Kronprinz
Rupprecht (1 1955) 822, p. 2. Recalled on 3 July to the General Staff: 5 July 1930,
Ernst Rohm, Oruro, Bolivia to Emilie R6hm, R6hm family papers, pp. 1-2; R6hm,
Geschichte eines Hochverriters, (fifth edition), p. 362; 3 July 1930, signature, el
General de Brigada, Jefe del Estado Mayor General, “ORDEN GENERAL No 257.”,
Archivo Militar — Ordenes Generales del Ejército 1930-1931, pp. 1-2;
“Vorstandssitzung vom 12. Juli 19307, “Geschéftsjahr 1930.”, Libro de actas del
Club Aleman en Oruro desde 1928-1974, pp. 1-2 .
38. Arteaga Aranibar, “Emst Roehm”, p. 6. Arteaga Aranibar was drawing on the
memories of General Hugo Ballivian. While Ballivian remembered R6hm as an
admirer of Beethoven and Bagger of Wagner, all other sources, including R6hm
himself, suggest that R6hm was above all an admirer of Wagner. Ballivian had
probably confused the two men’s preferences in his memory: Arteaga Aranibar,

“Ernst Roehm”, p. 6. Bagger’s name is variously spelled Baeger and Bager in various
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sources. Rohm referred to him as Bagger: 9 July 1930, Ernst R6hm, La Paz, to Emilie
Rohm, R6hm family papers.

39. 27 August 1930, Ernst Rohm, La Paz, Bolivia, to Heinrich Himmler, BAK NS
19/2668, p. 2. Comments to Crown Prince: 22 August 1930, Ernst R6hm, La Paz,
Bolivia, to Crown Prince Rupprecht, BHSA/III Geh. Hausarchiv Nachla3 Kronprinz
Rupprecht (F 1955) 822, pp. 1-2.

40. Undated telegram, received in Munich on 27 September 1930, R6hm to Hiihnlein,
BAR NS 26/1258.

41. 16 October 1930, Marckwald to Auswértiges Amt, “B. 2307, “Betr. Deutsche
Offiziere in der bolivianischen Armee.”, PA AA R 78893, pp. 3-4.

42. Rohm claimed three things attracted him to Bolivia: Rohm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriaters, (fifth edition), p. 359. Lochner on R6hm: Louis P. Lochner, What
about Germany? (Hodder and Stoughton, London, 1943), p. 79. Political views of
Germans in Bolivia: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverriters, (fifth edition), pp. 359-
360. Other sources substantiate this impression: 2 November 1922, von Stengel,
“K.182 Inhalt: Bericht des Gesandten iiber seine Dienstreise.”, PAAA R 78901, p.

15; Stefan Rinke, “Der letzte freie Kontinent”, Teilband 1, pp. 368-9, 379.

43. R6hm maintained his links with the Bolivian Embassy in Berlin: 23 October 1933,
signature (Carlos Anze Soria), Ministro de Bolivia, Berlin to Sr. Doctor Don
Demetrio Canelas, Ministro de Relaciones Exteriores y Culto, La Paz, No. 91,
“ASUNTO: El Teniente Coronel Ernst R6hm.”, Archivo Ministerio Relaciones
Exteriores ALEM-1-R-11; Frederico Nielsen Reyes quoted in Crespo Rodas,

Hernando Siles, el poder y su angustia, p. 245. R6hm noted in his memoirs that he
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remained an active officer of the Bolivian Army: R6hm, Geschichte eines
Hochverriters, (fifth edition), p. 362. R6hm’s insignia as Chief of Staff of the SA: Jill
Halcomb, The SA: A Historical Perspective (Crown Agincourt, Overland Park, 1985),
pp. 105, 107. Rohm advised the Bolivian Embassy that he could not return to Bolivia:
11 February 1931, signature for Ministro Rafael Ballivian to Ministro de Estado en el
Despacho de Guerra, “Numero: 36”, “Asunto: Teniente Coronel R6hme.”, Archivo
Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores MIN-2-53; 12 January 1931, signature (Carlos
Anze Soria), Legacion de Bolivia, Berlin to Sr. Coronel Filiberto Osorio, Ministro
Encargado del Despacho de Relaciones Exteriores y Culto, La Paz, No. 101, “Asunto:
Teniente Coronel Rohme.”, Archivo Ministerio Relaciones Exteriores ALEM-1-R-
11; 12 January 1932, signature (Carlos Anze Soria), Ministro de Bolivia, Berlin to Sr.
Dr. Julio Gutiérrez, Ministro de Relaciones Exteriores y Culto, La Paz, No. 4,
“Asunto: Teniente Coronel Rohm.”, Archivo Ministerio Relaciones Exteriores
ALEM-1-R-11. Possible abortive attempt to recall him: 10 February 1932, “Stabschef
R6hm und Bolivien.”, N.S. Kurier Nr. 33, press clipping in BHSA Slg P 3653; 17
February 1932, signature (Julio Gutiérrez?), Seccion Diplomatica, to Ministro de
Estado en el Despacho de Guerra, “Asunto: Teniente Coronel Ernst Rohm.”,
Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores MIN-2-53; 20 February 1932, signature (J.L.
Lazo?), Ministerio de Guerra, Bolivia, to Ministro de Estado en el Despacho de
Relaciones Exteriores, Archivo Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores MIN-1-78. R6hm
and Nazi publicists were prone to exaggerate his role: 23 November 1930,
“Deutschland von Aullen.”, Frankischer Kurier, Nr. 325, and undated, “Rohm und

Esser im Kolosseum.”, (1930), Der Stiirmer, press clippings in BHSA/V Slg P 3653.
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Neither of these reports carried the claim that Rohm was offered the position of Chief
of the General Staff, which must have been in other press reports of the meeting,
since the Auswartiges Amt requested the embassy”s comments on these claims: 14
January 1931, signature, Deutsche Gesandtschaft, La Paz, “B. 9. Vertraulich”, “Betr.:
Deutsche Instrukteure fiir die bolivianische Armee.”, AA PAR 78894, p. 1. Rohm’s
achievements in Bolivia were publicized when he was under attack in Germany: 19
August 1932, Diplomaticus, “Bolivien ehrt Rohm: “Ich griile Deutschland!” Eine
Unterredung mit seiner Exzellenz Dr. Carlos Anza-Soria, Gesandten von Bolivien.”,
Der Angriff, press clipping, PA AA R 78862, 2 pp. Rohm claimed that he had warned
against war with Paraguay: 24 May 1934, R6hm, der Stabschef, Politisches Amt, Der
Oberste SA-Fiihrer, to the Auswértiges Amt, Berlin, “Geheim”, “Betr.
Sympathickundgebung fiir Bolivien.” PA AA R 79816, p. 1. He made known his
personal support for Bolivia’s cause in the Chaco War despite official German
neutrality: 23 October 1933, signature (Carlos Anze Soria), Ministro de Bolivia,
Berlin to Sr. Doctor Don Demetrio Canelas, Ministro de Relaciones Exteriores y
Culto, La Paz, No. 91, “ASUNTO: El Teniente Coronel Ernst Rohm.”, Archivo
Ministerio Relaciones Exteriores ALEM-1-R-11; 8 April 1934, Frederico Nielsen
Reyes, “Un Saludo Para el Ejército de Bolivia”, El Diario, final page; 24 May 1934,
Rohm, der Stabschef, Politisches Amt, Der Oberste SA-Fiihrer, to the Auswartiges
Amt, Berlin, “Geheim”, “Betr. Sympathiekundgebung fiir Bolivien.”, PAAAR
79816, pp. 1-2.
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44. 16 October 1930, Marckwald, Deutsche Gesandtschaft in Bolivien, to Auswartiges
Amt, “B. 2307, “Betr. Deutsche Offiziere in der bolivianischen Armee.”, AAPAR
78893, p. 4.
45. 8 November 1932, “Hauptmann R6hms Riickkehr nach Deutschland”, Volkischer
Beobachter, Nr. 266, press clipping, BHSA/V Slg P 3653. R6hm’s autobiography
claimed that they left in November: R6hm, Geschichte eines Hochverréters, (fifth
edition), p. 362. It is unclear why he made this claim. Schatzl”’s exhibition: 27
September 1930, “Hoy, a las 11, Inaugra Su Exposicon de Pintura el Maestro Aleman
Martin Schaetzl, en un Salén del C. Bancerio”, El Diario, p. 7; 3 October 1930,
“Comentarios sobre la exposicion del pintor aleman Martin Schaetzl”, El Diario, p. 6.
Aboard the Hamburg-Amerika Line”’s Sachsen: 14 October 1930, Martin Schétzl,
Sachsen, to Frau Kéte Schitzl, SAM STAW 28792, p. 1. The exact port at which
Rohm and Schétzl disembarked is not known. Schétzl wrote to his mother that they
planned to disembark either in Antwerp or Dunkirk and go by train to Munich: 14
October 1930, Martin Schitzl, Sachsen, to Frau Kéite Schitzl, SAM STAW 28792, p.
1. Since R6hm was in Munich by 10 November, they disembarked before the ship
docked in Hamburg on the same day. The Sachsen reached Dunkirk on 4 November
and Hamburg on 10 November: 5 November 1930, “Schiffsbewegungen”,
Hamburger Echo, Nr. 306; 11 November 1930, “Schiffsbewegungen”, Hamburger
Echo, Nr. 312.
CHAPTER 11: CHIEF OF STAFF OF THE SA 1931-3
1. R6hm quoted in 30 June 1933, “Die Zehnte des bayerischen Konigsregiments und ihr

Feldhauptmann R6hm. Die Wiedersehensfeier der Thiaumont-Stiirmer in Miinchen
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2. “Auszug aus dem P.N.D. — Bericht vom 17.11.30 Nr. 715. Geheim!”,
“Zusammenkunft der Wehrpolitischen Vereinigung am 10.11.30 im Restaurant
Bauerngirgl.”, SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 10020. He spoke at Nuremberg with
Hermann Esser: undated press clipping, “Réhm und Esser im Kolosseum”, Der
Stiirmer, (1930) press clipping in BHSA/V Slg P 3653. SA leaders’ conference:
“PN.D.”, “Fiihrerbesprechung der S.A. am 29. und 30.11.30 in Miinchen.”, SAM
Pol. Dir. Miinchen Nr. 6809, p. 1. Announcement of R6hm’s appointment: 1 January
1931, Emst R6hm, “Kameraden der S.A.”, Volkischer Beobachter, press clipping,
SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 6805.

3. Richard Evans, The Coming of the Third Reich (Allen Lane, London, 2003), pp. 233-
237, 247-252.

4. Dietrich Orlow, The History of the Nazi Party 1919-1933 (University of Pittsburgh
Press, Pittsburgh, 1969), pp. 132-186.

5. On the SA under von Pfeffer: Bennecke, Hitler und die SA, pp. 119-142, 145-149. SA
leaders’ understanding of their role: 19 September 1930, Osaf Stellv. Siid [August
Schneidhuber], “Stellungnahme zur vorgesehenen Um-Organisation der SA-
Fiihrung.”, BAK Slg Schumacher/403, pp. 1-10; Longerich, Die braunen Bataillone,
pp. 56, 107-8. Hitler may have offered the SA leadership in private: K.D. Bracher et
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did, though some reports confused Karl Ernst and R6hm’s roles: “CINEMA: Bergner
banned”, Time, 19 March 1934, p. 21. German press reports: 10 March 1934,
“Emigranten sollen nichts an uns verdienen!” Wie es zum Verbot des Emigranten-
Films “Katharina der Grof3e” kam”, Der Deutsche, Nr. 58, p. 14; 9 March 1934,
“Lebhafter Protest gegen den Film “Katharina der Grof3e” *“, Berliner Borsen-Zeitung,
Nr. 115 Morgenausgabe, p. 1; 9 March 1934, F.O., “Emigrantenfilm im Capitol.”,
Berliner Borsen-Zeitung, Nr. 116 Abendausgabe, p. 9; 10 March 1934, “Lebhafter
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Protest gegen den Film “Katharina der GroBe” ““, Volkischer Beobachter, Nr. 69, p. 2;
10 March 1934, ““ “Katharina der Grof3e” abgesetzt”, Vossische Zeitung, Nr. 59, p. 7.
26. Goring paid a private visit to Yugoslavia and Greece: see papers on PA/AA 73123.
Rohm was on leave from 30 March to 12 April 1934: 31 March 1934, Rohm, der
Stabschef der Oberste SA-Fiihrer, “Ch. No. 7080/34. Betreff: Urlaub.”, BAK NS 23
neu/8. R6hm’s trips to Italy and Yugoslavia: see papers on PA/AA 73123; 5 April
1934, “Minister Rohm in Siidslawien”, Kdlnische Ztg., Nr. 170, press clipping in
BHSA/V Slg P 3653. Rohm’s visit seen by Yugoslav and foreign observers: 5 April
1934, signature [Kopke?], St S.,” Aufzeichnung.”, PA/AA R 73123, p. 4; 12 April
1934, signature [von Heeren?], “J. Nr. 740/34 Po 2 Inhalt: Der Empfang des
Reichministers Rohm in Dubrovnik.”, PA/AA R 73123; 7 April 1934, Pierre
Dominique, “Le Fait du Jour L”Allemagne en Roumanie”, La République, press
clipping, PA/AA R 73123; 18 April 1934, signature, German Embassy, Budapest, “A.
Nr. 121-P.37. Inhalt: “Nemzeti Ujsag” zum deutsch-jugoslawischen Verhiltnis.”,
PA/AA R 73123. On this trip see also John L. Heineman, Hitler’s First Foreign
Minister: Constantin Freiherr von Neurath, Diplomat and Statesman (University of
California Press, Berkeley, 1979), p. 79 and note 36 p. 274.
27. Rohm’s Politika interview: 8 April 1934, “Wachsendes Versténdnis fiir Deutschland
in Jugoslawien”, Der Deutsche, press clipping in PA/AA R 73123. R6hm’s return:
12 April 1934, “Der Stabschef wieder in Miinchen”, Volkischer Beobachter, Nr. 102,
press clipping, Stadtarchiv Miinchen, Zeitungsauschnitte Personen R6hm.
28. Hitler and R6hm appear to have met: 12 April 1934, Brigadefiihrer Marxer, der Chef

des Personalamts der Oberste SA.-Fithrer Munich to Kanzlei des Fiihrers, Berlin,
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“Betrifft: Bericht iiber Uberfille in Bremen”, BAK NS 23 neu/8. Party treasurer
announced: 4 April 1934, Schwarz, Reichsschatzmeister, Reichsleitung, NSDAP,
“Rundschreiben an die Gauschatzmeister der NSDAP. Betreff: Friithjahrsparade der
SA in Berlin.”, BAR NS 1/8. Rohm’s leave order: 12 April 1934, R6hm, der
Stabschef der Oberste SA-Fiihrer, “Ch/P Nr. 8393. Betr.: Urlaub.”, “Verfiigung.”,
BAK NS 23 neu/8.
29. Elisabetta Cerruti, Ambassador’s Wife, (George Allen and Unwin, London, 1953), p.
146. In her memoirs Cerruti dated the dinner as taking place in winter 1933-4:
Cerruti, Ambassador’s Wife, pp. 146-147. Since she also wrote that it took place
immediately before the Hitler-Mussolini meeting in Venice was known, this suggests
that the dinner was either held in April 1934 when the meeting was proposed or as
late as early June, when the meeting was announced: 3 April 1934, Hassell, “No. 377
Memorandum by the Ambassador in Italy”, “SECRET”, Documents on German
Foreign Policy 1918-1945 Series C (1933-1937), Volume II, p. 704. The meeting was
officially announced on 13 June: Binder, Dollfuss und Hitler, p. 266. The balance of
probability is that the dinner was held in April 1934,
30. Cerruti, Ambassador’s Wife, p. 146. For other testimony of R6hm’s loyalty to Hitler:
28 June 1949, Wilhelm Stolzle to Staatsanwalt Karl Weiss, Generalstaatsanwaltschaft
Munich, “Betr. Ihr Nummer 3263 Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934, Gritschneder
Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 4a, p. 16; Luetgebrune reported in Ernst von Salomon,
The”Fragebogen”, p. 272. R6hm’s serious illnesses of April 1934: 14 May 1949,
Robert Bergmann, Altdorf to the Generalstaatsanwaltschaft Miinchen zu Handen des

Herrn Staatsanwaltes Weiss, SAM STAW 28793, p. 2.
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31. Rohm spoke at the annual meeting of the Society of the Friends of the Ibero
American Institute: 16 April 1934, “Jahresversammlung der Gesellschaft der Freunde
des Ibero-Amerikanischen Instituts”, Volkischer Beobachter, Nr. 116, press clipping
in BHSA/V Slg P 3653. Witness at Ernst’s wedding: 19 April 1934, “Trauung des
Gruppenfiihrers Ernst Ministerprasident Goring und Stabschef R6hm als
Trauzeugen”, Volkischer Beobachter, press clipping, BAR R 8034111/113. He
attended a large SS concert: 19 April 1934, Gotthard Heinrici, Berlin, to “Liebe
Eltern und Liebe Mutter Alice!” BA MA N 265/149, p. 2.
32. 19 April 1934, “No. 38 Sir E. Phipps to Sir John Simon.”, TNA FO 408/64, pp. 56-
58.
33. Rohm’s March visits: 14 March 1934, R6hm, Der Stabschef, Der Oberste SA-Fiihrer,
“Ch. Nr. 5558/34 Betr.: SA-Appell Essen SA-Aufmarsch Dresden.”, BAR NS 23
neu/8, pp. 1-2. Journey in Odenwald area: 27 March 1934 R6hm, der Stabschef der
Oberste SA-Fiihrer “Ch. Nr. 6855 Betreft: Friihjahrsreise”, BAK NS 23 neu/S.
Inspection in Regensburg: 8 May 1934, “Das Neueste aus Ingolstadt dem
Amtsberzirk und Umgebung”, ISA Ingolstiddter Tagblatt, 75/105, p. 2. Inspections in
Franconia, Stettin and Pomerania: 27 March 1934, Réhm, Der Stabschef, Der Oberste
SA-Fiihrer, “F 2 Nr. 6907 Betreff: Besichtigungen.”, BAR NS 23 neu/8; 21 April
1934, R6hm, Der Stabschef, Der Oberste SA-Fiihrer, “F Nr. 9243. Betreft:
Besichtigungsplan des Stabschefs.”, BAK NS 23 neu/8; 26 May 1934, Heinz Wulff,
“Der Stabschef besichtigt Frankens S.A.”, Der S.A. — Mann, 3/21, pp. 1-2, 4. The
need to keep the SA occupied: Bracher et al, Die nationalsozialistische

Machtergreifung, p. 937. Later interpreted as preparations for a putsch: Bessel,
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Political Violence and the Rise of Nazism, p. 130. Cult of R6hm: 8 September 1933,
Seydel, I.A. Der Chef des Stabes, “Z.Nr. 1498/33. Betrifft: Ansichtskarten des
Stabschefs”, BAR NS 23 neu/5.
34. Quoted in 7 May 1934, “Stabschef R6hm in Ingolstadt Gewaltige Beteiligung aus
Stadt und Land”, ISA Ingolstédter Zeitung, 75/104, p. 2. Decision of Ingolstadt Town
Council in June 1933: 22 June 1933, Listl, Oberbiirgermeister, Stadtrat Ingolstadt,
“Geheim! BeschluBausfertigung. Betreff: Verleihung des Ehrenbiirgerrechts.”, ISA A
I1I/6d. R6hm’s reception in Ingolstadt: 7 May 1934, “Festtage in Ingolstadt”,
Miinch.N.N., Nr. 123, press clipping in BHSA/V Slg P 3653. Costs of the 10th
company reunion paid by the Ingolstadt Town Council: 26 April 1934, Listl,
Oberbiirgermeister, Stadtrat Ingolstadt, “BeschluBBausfertigung Betreff: Besuch des
Herrn Stabschef Rohm.”, ISA Alll/6g; and 28 April 1934, Dr Listl to Angehdrigen
der 10. Kompagnie des ehem K. Bayer. 10. Inf. Regt “Ko6nig”, ISA Alll/6g. Other
correspondence on the same file covers the considerable preparations for the visit.
The rumours in Ingolstadt and the absence of evidence to support them: see
correspondence on ISA A I11/6i. R6hm”’s political ideas far from socialist: Bracher et
al, Die nationalsozialistische Machtergreifung, pp. 882-884. For a further example
see Rohm’s speech at the 1933 commemoration of the 1923 Putsch: 18 November
1934, Heinz Wulff, “Die Zehnjahresfeier der nationalsozialistischen Bluttaufe”, Der
S.A.-Mann, 2/46, p. 4.
35. 28 June 1949, Wilhelm Stolzle to Staatsanwalt Karl Weiss, Generalstaatsanwaltschaft
Munich, “Betr. Ihr Nummer 3263 Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934”, Gritschneder
Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 4a, p. 26. Reception on 17 May: 19 May 1934,
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“Diplomatischer Empfangsabend beim Stabschef”, Volkischer Beobachter, Nr. 139,
press clipping in BHSA/V Slg P 3653. Army officer described: “Niederschrift iiber
eine Unterredung zwischen Herrn General a.D. Horst von Mellenthin, Miinchen 38,
Wallhallastr. 7, und Dr. Krausnick von Institut fiir Zeitgeschichte, Miinchen, in
Miinchen am....... ”, 1fZ ZS105, p. 9.
36. “No. 129 The Ambassador in France to the Foreign Ministry.”, 27 July 1934, Késter,
Paris, “SECRET No. 3241 Subject: Francois-Poncet’s relations with General von
Schleicher and R6hm.”, Documents on German Foreign Policy 1918-1945 Series C
(1933-1937), Volume 111, p. 263. Dinner with André Frangois-Poncet: 2 July 1934,
Dr. Regendanz to Oberstaatsanwaltschaftsrat Brendler, Geheime Staatspolizei, Berlin,
William E Dodd Papers, Box 45 General Correspondence 1934 — R, p. 10. Fest’s
argument that Rohm’s illness was feigned: Fest, Hitler, pp. 456, 458.
37. The aim was to have 240,000 men trained for the army and 7,300 for the navy: 24
May 1934, Der Reichsverteidigungsminister, v. Blomberg “TA Nr. 300/34 g. Kdos. T
4 1IT a.”, “Geheime Kommandosache.”, “Richtlinien fiir die Erziechung und
Ertiichtigung der mannlichen Deutschen ausserhalb der Wehrmacht.”, BA MA RH
53-7/v.1324, pp. 1-20. Care taken to conceal this cooperation: 18 May 1934, [.A.,
Reichsverteidigungsminister “A. Nr. 9. 34 g.kdos.T 2 IV” “Geheime
Kommandosache” with attachment, “Vorschlag fiir die Zusammenarbeit zwischen
den obersten Behordenstellen der Wehrmacht und der Oberster SA-Fiihrung.”, BA
MA RH 53-7/v.1324, pp. 1-4. Fritsch called on Wehrkreis commanders to report SA
breaches: von Fallois, Kalkiil und Illusion, pp. 125, 129; O”Neill, The German Army

and the Nazi Party, 1933-1939, pp. 44-45. Rohm’s alleged continued efforts to arm
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the SA aroused Reichswehr suspicions: von Fallois, Kalkiil und Illusion, p. 124.
Jiittner’s claim: 8 May 1952, Dr. Freiherr von Siegler, “Niederschrift der Unterredung
des fritheren SA-Obergruppenfiihrers Max Jiittner, geb. am 11. Januar 1888,
wohnhaft in Miinchen-Solln, Josefinenstr. 15, durchgefiihrt am 2. April 1952 in
Miinchen mit Dr. Freiherrn v. Siegler im Auftrag und in den Rdumen des Instituts fiir
Zeitgeschichte.”, IfZ ZS 251 Bd. I, pp. 3-4.
38. 20 February 1953, Dr. Freiherr von Siegler, “Niederschrift der Unterredung des Herrn
Franz von Pfeffer, geb. am 19. Februar 1888, wohnhaft in Miinchen 13, Caracciolastr.
42, durchgefiihrt am 20. Februar 1953 in Miinchen mit Dr. H. Krausnick und Dr.
Freiherr von Siegler im Auftrag des Instituts fiir Zeitgeschichte Miinchen.”, IfZ ZS
177 Bd. 1, p. 7. See also Bracher et al, Die nationalsozialistische Machtergreifung, p.
932. SA’s aggressive rhetoric a product of growing tensions and frustration: Bessel,
Political Violence and the Rise of Nazism, pp. 126, 129, 131-132; Jamin, “Das Ende
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der ‘Machtergreifung’ ”, Michalka (ed.) Die nationalsozialistische Machtergreifung,
p. 208. Lack of a specific SA intelligence service: Browder, Foundations of the Nazi
Police State, pp. 30-31. R6hm’s order to collect information on hostility against the
SA: 16 May 1934, R6hm, der Stabschef, Der Oberster SA-Fiihrer, “P. 1455.”,
“Vertraulich!”, BAK Slg Schumacher/403; reports on BAR NS 23 neu/9. See also the
report on hostility to the SA in the Reichswehr and on the part of Schleicher: 12 June
1934, Herrmann Hoéfle to Spreti, enclosing a report for R6hm, pp. 1-5, BAR NS
26/328. In May Rohm told Bergmann: 14 May 1949, Robert Bergmann, Altdorf to

the Generalstaatsanwaltschaft Miinchen zu Handen des Herrn Staatsanwaltes Weiss,

SAM STAW 28793, p. 3.
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39. 30 May 1934, No. 433 Telegram Sir E. Phipps (Berlin) to Sir R. Vansittart,
Documents on British Foreign Policy 1919-1939, Second Series Volume VI 1933-34,
p- 715.
40. Tschirschky’s claim: “Niederschrift {iber eine Unterredung zwischen Herrn Fritz
Giinther von Tschirschky und Dr. H. Krausnick am 3. Oktober 1954 in Miinchen.”,
IfZ ZS 568/1, p.5; and 2 November 1956, Fritz Giinther von Tschirschky, “Wie ich
den 30, Juni erlebte”, IfZ ZS 568/11, pp. 23-24. Tschirschky’s second account was
more colourful than his first. Lammers described the meetings as including “difficult
arguments”: 5 June 1953, Dusseldorf, “Niederschrift aufgenommen vor dem
Untersuchungsrichter beim Amtsgericht Diisseldorf in dem Untersuchungsverfahren
Sepp Dietrich u.A. wegen Totschlags bzw. Mordes.”, Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-
Akten Band 57, p. 1. Hitler himself did not describe the meeting as involving a
quarrel: Bracher et al, Die nationalsozialistische Machtergreifung, p. 952. Speaking
to his staff the next day, R6hm also did not describe the meeting as heated: 28 June
1949, Wilhelm Stolzle to Staatsanwalt Karl Weiss, Generalstaatsanwaltschaft
Munich, “Betr. Ihr Nummer 3263 Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934”, Gritschneder
Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 4a, p. 26. Hitler’s testimony that R6hm agreed to stop any
activity that might be suspicious: see the extracts from Hitler’s speech to the
Reichstag on 13 July 1934, Domarus, Hitler Speeches and Proclamations 1932-1945
Volume One, p. 495.
41. R6hm’s announcement of 8 June: 9 June 1934, “Die SA bleibt das Schicksal
Deutschlands Ein Befehl des Stabschefs Rohm.”, ISA Ingolstadter Tagblatt, 75/130,

p. 1; Anlage 1, Bennecke, Die Reichswehr und der “Réhm-Putsch”, p. 81. The post-
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war Munich court trying Dietrich and Lippert for murders on 30 June and 1 July 1934
saw the failure to append “Heil Hitler” to the order as suspicious. The fact that this
order did not have Heil Hitler appended to it was neither unusual nor a sign of
disloyalty. Internal SA orders, which R6hm modelled on military orders, never used
Heil Hitler. In the Dietrich-Lippert trial in May 1957, the Munich Schwurgericht gave
more weight to this than it should: Drs Graf, Bartsch, Schlicker, das Schwurgericht
beim Landgericht Miinchen I “in der Strafsache gegen Dietrich Josef und Lippert
Michael wegen Beihilfe zum Totschlag”, “Urteil:”, May 1957, Gritschneder Papiere
Rohm-Akten Band 13, p. 73.
42. Bergmann quoted in 9 May 1957, “Das Verbrechen des 30. Juni 1934 vor Gericht
‘Rohms Miliz-Pline hétten den Weltkrieg verhindern kénnen!” ”, 8 Uhr-Blatt, press
clipping in BHSA/KA HS 2656. lodine cure: 4 July 1956, Weil3, Erster Staatsanwalt,
Im Auftrag, Der Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen
I, “VIII 3324/55” to the 5. Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “Betreft:
Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen Beihilfe zum Mord
(Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934).”, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 10, p.
56. R6hm was under medical care. Dr. von Dessauer in Bad Wiessee presented a bill
to R6hm”s estate: 10 July 1934, signature, Aerztliche Verrechnungsstelle e.V.,
Gauting-Miinchen to Nachlassgericht beim Amtsgericht Miinchen, SAM Amtsgericht
Miinchen Nr. 1934/1767. Rohm’s illnesses: 14 May 1949, Robert Bergmann, Altdorf
to the Generalstaatsanwaltschaft Miinchen zu Hianden des Herrn Staatsanwaltes
Weiss, SAM STAW 28793, p. 2. Cerruti remembered his being treated for neuritis:
Cerruti, Ambassador’s Wife, p. 146.



390
43. 8 June 1934, Sir E. Phipps (Berlin) to Sir. J. Simon, no. 447, Documents on British
Foreign Policy 1919-1939, Second Series Volume VI, 1933-34, p. 742.
44. Rohm spent his time in Bad Wiessee: M.H., “30. Juni 1934 — “R6hm-Putsch” in Bad
Wiessee. Tod eines Badegastes”, handout from Bad Wiessee Biicherei, p. 17. Local
SA instructed to take no notice of him: undated, “Bericht liber die R6hmrevolte in
Bad Wiessee von Truppfiihrer Benedikt Nieder.”, IfZ MS 200/170, p. 1. Reports
Hitler attempted to visit unannounced on 25 June: 1 February 1949, Altdorf,
signatures, Landpolizei Ober- u. Mittelfranken Kriminalaussenstelle,
“Vernehmungsniederschrift.”, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 29, p. 3.
Bergmann, who was not present, claimed that Hitler missed seeing R6hm because
R6hm was on a walk on the Schwarze Tann. This visit is also reported in M.H., “30.
Juni 1934 — “Réhm-Putsch” in Bad Wiessee. Tod eines Badegastes”, handout from
Bad Wiessee Biicherei, pp. 16-17. This account is based on the notes of the Bad
Wiessee teacher Maria Kam. Both sources from contemporary eyewitnesses in Bad
Wiessee reproduce hearsay as well as evidence, but make it clear that R6hm spent his
time there peacefully taking the cure: M.H., “30. Juni 1934 — “R6hm-Putsch” in Bad
Wiessee. Tod eines Badegastes”, handout from Bad Wiessee Biicherei, p. 17;
undated, “Bericht tiber die R6hmrevolte in Bad Wiessee von Truppfiithrer Benedikt
Nieder.”, IfZ MS 200/170, p. 1. Schreyer visited on 26 June: 27 May 1949, Karl
Schreyer, Munich to Polizeiprasidium Miinchen, “Betreff: Vorgeschichte und
Ereignisse um den 30. Juni 1934.”, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm Akten Band 57, pp. 3-
4. Schreyer’s testimony was not always accurate in details. He claimed that Seydel

and Ketterer told Rohm that day that he would be removed as Stabschef and replaced
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by Lutze. Bergmann visited on 28 June and was asked to stay on: 1 February 1949,
Altdorf, signatures, Landpolizei Ober- u. Mittelfranken Kriminalaussenstelle,
“Vernehmungsniederschrift.”, Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-Akten Band 29, p. 2.
Epp’s visit: entry for 28 June 1934, von Epp diary, BHSA/II RS 65, p. 33; 3 January
1950, Ferdinand Paul, Prinz v. Ysenburg, “Betreff: Mordaktion vom 30.VI1.34.”,
Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Bd 2 [IfZ Fa 442/5 11], pp. 2-3; 1 February 1949,
Altdorf, signatures, Landpolizei Ober- u. Mittelfranken Kriminalaussenstelle,
“Vernehmungsniederschrift.”, Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-Akten Band 29, p. 3.
Ysenburg incorrectly dated Epp’s visit as on 29 June.
45. 1 February 1949, Altdorf, signatures, Landpolizei Ober- u. Mittelfranken
Kriminalaussenstelle, “Vernechmungsniederschrift.”, Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-
Akten Band 29, p. 4. The course of Friday 29 June and R6hm’s mood: 1 February
1949, Altdorf, signatures, Landpolizei Ober- u. Mittelfranken Kriminalaussenstelle,
“Vernehmungsniederschrift.”, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 29, p. 4.
Heines and his adjutant arrived: 17 May 1949, Munich, K. 7B, signatures,
“Vernehmungsniederschift.”, (interrogation of Wilhelm von Grolmann), SAM STAW
28793, p. 6. Heines may have voiced his concerns: there is indirect evidence for this
in 17 May 1949, Munich, K. 7B, signatures, “Vernehmungsniederschift.”,
(interrogation of Wilhelm von Grolmann), SAM STAW 28793, p. 7.
CHAPTER 15: THE REVOLUTION DEVOURS ITS CHILDREN-30 JUNE-2
JULY 1934
1. Testimony of Schaub quoted in 8 May 1957, “Ein Beweis fiir den R6hm-Putsch”,
Miinchner Merkur, press clipping, BHSA/KA HS 2656. Arrival of Hitler and his
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entourage: undated handwritten report, “Der 30. Juni 19347, IfZ MS 200/170, pp. 3-5.
Hitler entered R6hm’s room: Drs. Graf, Bartsch, Schlicker, judgement of the
Schwurgericht beim Landgericht Miinchen I in “der Strafsache gegen Dietrich Josef
und Lippert Michael wegen Beihilfe zum Totschlag”, May 1957, Gritschneder
Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 13, p. 77.
2.9 May 1957, Rudolf Hiinerfeld, Bad Wiessee, “Der Oberkellner klopfte an R6hms
Tiir Wie Adolf Hitler am 30. Juni 1934 in Bad Wiessee seinen Stabschef und Edmund
Heines verhaftete”, Miinchner Merkur, press clipping, BHSA/KA HS 2656, p. 3.
3. Hitler tore off Bergmann’s insignia: 14 May 1949, Robert Bergmann, Altdorf to the
Generalstaatsanwaltschaft Miinchen zu Hinden des Herrn Staatsanwaltes Weiss,
SAM STAW 28793, p. 4. Nazi accounts claimed: entry for 7 July 1934, Hans-
Giinther Seraphim (ed.), Das politische Tagebuch Alfred Rosenbergs aus den Jahren
1934/35 und 1939/40 (Musterschmidt Verlag, Goéttingen, 1956), pp. 33-34. Twelve
men imprisoned and R6hm in the hall: 9 May 1957, Rudolf Hiinerfeld, Bad Wiessee,
“Der Oberkellner klopfte an Rohms Tiir Wie Adolf Hitler am 30. Juni 1934 in Bad
Wiessee seinen Stabschef und Edmund Heines verhaftete”, Miinchner Merkur, press
clipping, BHSA/KA HS 2656, p. 3. According to Mabire: Mabire, R6hm 1”’homme
qui inventa Hitler, p. 392. Mabire gives no source for this claim. Prisoners
transported while SA bodyguard arrived: 9 May 1957, Rudolf Hiinerfeld, Bad
Wiessee, “Der Oberkellner klopfte an Rohms Tiir Wie Adolf Hitler am 30. Juni 1934
in Bad Wiessee seinen Stabschef und Edmund Heines verhaftete”, Miinchner Merkur,
press clipping in BHSA/KA HS 2656, p. 3. Both R6hm and Hitler had served in

Stadelheim: undated handout, “100 Jahre Justizvollzugsanstalt Miinchen”, obtained
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from Stadelheim Prison Director Kronziicker on 8 September 1997, p. 1. R6hm taken
to Munich by car: 9 May 1957, Rudolf Hiinerfeld, Bad Wiessee, “Der Oberkellner
klopfte an R6hms Tiir Wie Adolf Hitler am 30. Juni 1934 in Bad Wiessee seinen
Stabschef und Edmund Heines verhaftete”, Miinchner Merkur, press clipping,
BHSA/KA HS 2656, p. 3.

4. Prisoners and their arrival times: 2 July 1934, Dr. Koch, Direktion des
Strafsvollstreckungsgefangnisses, “Eingeliefert und aufgenommen wurden hier am
30. Juni 1934”, SAM St. Anw. 28792, pp. 1-2. Rohm entered as prisoner 4034:
unheaded page copied from 1934 register of inmates, Grundbuch v. 2.6.1934 b.
25.4.1935, Verzeichnis der in Verwahrung genommenen Sache der Gefangenen,
obtained from Stadelheim Prison Director Kronziicker in September 1997. Prisoners
held in cells: 1997, Direktion des Vollstreckungsgefiangnisses Miinchen, unheaded
page, Stadelheim prison records. Claim that R6hm held in the same cell as 1923: 4
September 1934, Siegel, “Das letzte Kapitel zu dem Buch R6hm”s “Aus dem Leben
eines Hochverriters”, SAM STAW 28793, p. 3. Stadelheim prison records no longer
allow confirmation of this claim: discussion with prison director, Mr. Kronziicker,
Stadelheim prison, 8 September 1997.

5. 27 May 1949, Karl Schreyer, Munich to Polizeipriasidium Miinchen, “Betreff:
Vorgeschichte und Ereignisse um den 30. Juni 1934.”, Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-
Akten Band 57, p. 5. See also Drs. Graf, Bartsch, Schlicker, das Schwurgericht beim
Landgericht Miinchen I “in der Strafsache gegen Dietrich Josef und Lippert Michael
wegen Beihilfe zum Totschlag”, “Urteil:”, May 1957, Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-

Akten Band 13, p. 79. Hitler”’s order announcing Lutze’s appointment as chief of
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staft: Adolf Hitler, “Abschrift! (Sondernummer des Volkischen Beob. V. 1.7.34)”,
BAK Slg Schumacher/407, pp. 1-3; text of the party press statement in: 30 June
1934, Sir E. Phipps to Sir John Simon, by telephone, TNA FO 408/64, pp. 2-3.
Prehistory of moves against Rohm: Hohne, Mordsache R6hm, Chs 4-6; von Fallois,
Kalkiil und Illusion, Chapters C and D. For a view of the crisis from the point of view of
the SS, suggesting Himmler changed sides in April 1934: “Niederschrift zu
Unterredungen des ehem. SS-Obergruppenfiihrers und Generals der Waffen-SS, Karl
Friedrich Otto Wolff, geb. 13.5.1900, Biiroadresse: K6ln, Deichmannhaus,
Universalanzeigesgeschift, Familienadresse: Kempfenhausen 27, Post Percha bei
Starnberg mit Herrn Dr. Hermann Mau, Generalsekretér des Instituts fiir Zeitgeschichte
Miinchen. Die Unterredungen fanden am 7./8. Sept. 1952 in Kampen/Sylt statt.”, IfZ ZS
317/1, pp. 3-4. On Himmler’s role: Peter Longerich, Heinrich Himmler: Biographie
(second edition, Siedler, Munich, 2008), pp. 183-184.
6. Hohne, Mordsache R6hm, p. 215. On these problems and the “crisis of the regime”
more generally: Frei, The Fiihrer State 1933-1945, Ch 1.
7. Army leadership collecting evidence: von Fallois, Kalkiil und Illusion, pp. 125-126.
Goring collecting evidence: such as for example 17 February 1934, signature, Der
Inspekteur der Geheimen Staatspolizei Berlin to Staatssekretir Lammers, Berlin,
with attachment, “Zusammenstellung, tiber politische Vorkommnisse die zur Tétung
oder Verletzung von Personen gefiihrt haben”, BAR R 43v 11/1202, pp. 1-3. April
1934 Goring transferred the Geheime Staatspolizei to Himmler: Browder,
Foundations of the Nazi Police State, pp. 128-131. By early June Munich SS

preparing arrest lists: “Niederschrift zu Unterredungen des ehem. SS-
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Obergruppenfiihrers und Generals der Waffen-SS, Karl Friedrich Otto Wolff, geb.
13.5.1900, Biiroadresse: Koln, Deichmannhaus, Universalanzeigesgeschéft,
Familienadresse: Kempfenhausen 27, Post Percha bei Starnberg mit Herrn Dr.
Hermann Mau, Generalsekretir des Instituts fiir Zeitgeschichte Miinchen. Die
Unterredungen fanden am 7./8. Sept. 1952 in Kampen/Sylt statt.”, IfZ ZS 317/1, p.
4; 4 July 1956, Weil3, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag, Der Generalstaatsanwalt, an
die Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII 3324/55” to the 5. Strafkammer
des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “Betreff: Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und
Michael Lippert wegen Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934).”,
Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 46, pp. 49-50.
8. Steps of the army leadership: von Fallois, Kalkiil und Illusion, pp. 106-112, 125-127;
Bracher et al, Die nationalsozialistische Machtergreifung, pp. 917-920. Bennecke
believed: Bennecke, Die Reichswehr und der “Rohm-Putsch”, pp. 46-47.
9. Hindenburg left for Neudeck: 5 June 1934, Berger, Biiro des Reichsprésidenten to
Ministerialdirektor, Stellvertreter des Reichskanzlers, BAK R 53/45. Intrigues of von
Papen’s entourage: 27 February 1959, Edmund Forschbach, “Bericht des
Rechtsanwalts E. Forschbach, Koln iiber die Zeit vom 30.1.33 — 30.6.34.”, IfZ ZS
321, pp. 1-9; Frei, The Fiihrer State 1933-1945, pp. 15-16.
10. Von Papen’s Marburg speech: “Rede des Vizekanzlers von Papen vor dem
Universitdtsbund, Marburg, 17.6.34.”, BHSA/II RS 51, pp. 1-8. The moves of the
circle around von Papen: “Niederschrift iber eine Unterredung zwischen Herrn Fritz

Giinther von Tschirschky und Dr. H. Krausnick am 3. Oktober 1954 in Miinchen.”,
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IfZ ZS 568/1, pp. 4-7; Frei, The Fiihrer State 1933-1945, pp. 17-18. Hitler met
Blomberg at Neudeck: Evans, The Third Reich in Power 1933-1939, p. 30.
11. He gave this justification to Elsa Schmidt according to her testimony in the Dietrich-
Lippert trial: 14 May 1957, “Die deutsche Barthlomausnacht”, Deutsche Tagespost,
press clipping, Stadtarchiv Miinchen ZA Pers R6hm; see also Bracher et al, Die
nationalsozialistische Machtergreifung, pp. 910-913 and Lothar Machtan, Der
Kaisersohn bei Hitler. Prinz August Wilhelm im Hexenkessel der deutschen
Geschichte (Hoffmann und Campe, Hamburg, 2006). I am grateful to Professor
Machtan for giving me access to his manuscript ahead of publication.
12. Hitler told Lutze: Hohne, Mordsache Rohm, pp. 242, 246. Other observers expected
R6hm would no longer be Chief of Staff: 23 June 1934, Gotthard Heinrici to “Liebe
Eltern, liebe Mutter Alice”, BA MA N 265/149, p. 2; 29 June 1934, signature, der
Fiihrer der S.A.-Standarte 76, Hamburg to SA Brigade 12 (Hamburg), “Betr.
Gertichte von ehemaligen Stahlhelmern”, BAK Slg Schumacher 402, pp. 1-2.
13. Fritsch’s steps: von Fallois, Kalkiil und Illusion, pp. 134-135. Himmler set the
machinery of the purge into action: Browder, Foundations of the Nazi Police State,
p. 14; 4 July 1956, Weil}, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag, Der Generalstaatsanwalt,
an die Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII 3324/55” to the 5.
Stratkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “Betreff: Strafverfahren gegen Josef
Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni
1934).”, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 46, p. 49. SD and SS leaders were
notified of the need to counter an imminent SA putsch on 24-25 June: Bracher et al,

Die nationalsozialistische Machtergreifung, p. 955.
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14. Various senior army leaders were shown lists: 16 April 1957, Hermann Foertsch,
General d.Inf .a.D. to the Generalstaatsanwalt beim Oberlandesgericht Miinchen,
“Betr.: Mordaktion vom 30.6.34”, Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-Akten Band 57; 16
April 1957, Hans-Henning von Holtzendorff, Generalmajor a.D., to the
Generalstaatsanwalt beim Oberlandesgericht Miinchen”, “Betr.: Mordaktion vom
30.6.34”, BAMA N 264/14, p. 2. Rohm’s office expected him to be on leave in July:
29 June 1934, formal note on behalf of the Stabschef der SA, Berlin to US
Ambassador Dodd, Library of Congress William E. Dodd Papers Box 45 General
Correspondence 1934-R .
15. Edgar Jung arrested in Berlin: Hohne, Mordsache R6hm, p. 247. Some sources give
26 June as the date for Jung’s arrest: Bracher et al, Die nationalsozialistische
Machtergreifung, p. 955. Hess’s speech warning Nazis not to think they knew how to
make a revolution better than Hitler: text of the speech in “Kd&lner Rede (Gau Essen)
am 25.6.1934.”, BAR NS 6/70, pp. 1-17; 4 July 1956, WeiB3, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im
Auftrag, Der Generalstaatsanwalt, “VIII 3324/55” to the 5. Stratkammer des
Landgerichts Miinchen I, “Betreff: Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und Michael
Lippert wegen Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934).”, Gritschneder
Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 46, p. 54. R6hm”s alleged order of 26 June: testimony of
von Patzig in Drs Graf, Bartsch, Schlicker, das Schwurgericht beim Landgericht
Miinchen I in der Strafsache gegen Dietrich Josef und Lippert Michael wegen
Beihilfe zum Totschlag, “Urteil:”, May 1957, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten
Band 13, p. 69.
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16. Hitler left Berlin on 28 June: Hohne, Mordsache R6hm, p. 246. Fritsch ordered
barracks to hold ammunition ready: von Fallois, Kalkiil und Illusion, p. 135. Defence
Ministry agreed to give SS access to army weapons: von Fallois, Kalkiil und Illusion,
p. 136. Hitler called R6hm from Essen: 3 January 1950, Ferdinand Paul, Prinz v.
Ysenburg, “Betreff: Mordaktion vom 30.V1.34.”, Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-Akten
Bd 2, pp. 2-3; 1 February 1949, Altdorf, signatures, Landpolizei Ober- u.
Mittelfranken Kriminalaussenstelle, “Vernechmungsniederschrift.”, Gritschneder
Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 29, p. 3. Hindenburg”s health such that Fritsch found:
“Niederschrift iiber eine Unterredung zwischen Herrn General a.D. Horst von
Mellenthin, Miinchen 38, Wallhallastr. 7, und Dr. Krausnick von Institut fiir
Zeitgeschichte, Miinchen, in Miinchen am....... ” 1fZ ZS105, p. 11. Papen and his
staff met with Oskar von Hindenburg: 9 November 1959, Fritz Giinther von
Tschirschky to Dr. Krausnick, IfZ ZS 568/11, p. 3.
17. Quoted in 17 May 1949, Munich, K. 7B, signatures, ‘“Vernehmungsniederschift.”,
(interrogation of Wilhelm von Grolmann), SAM STAW 28793, p. 5. The Kleist-
Heines’ conversation and its results: Anlage 4, Bennecke, Die Reichswehr und der
“Réhm-Putsch”, p. 85; O”Neill, The German Army and the Nazi Party, 1933-1939,
pp. 47-8. Karl Ernst had called on Daluege and Heines had warned Goéring: 12
October 1949, Weil}, Der Generalstaatsanwalt, Munich, unheaded statement of
Wilhlem Ott, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 2, p. 2; Bracher et al, Die
nationalsozialistische Machtergreifung, pp. 957-958.
18. The results of the Kleist-Heines’ conversation: O”Neill, The German Army and the
Nazi Party, 1933-1939, pp. 47-8; 12 October 1949, Weil, Der Generalstaatsanwalt,
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Munich, unheaded statement of Wilhlem Ott, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten
Band 2, p. 3. Indirect evidence that Heines intended to raise his concerns with R6hm:
17 May 1949, Munich, K. 7B, signatures, “Vernehmungsniederschrift.”,
(interrogation of Wilhelm von Grolmann), SAM STAW 28793, p. 7.
19. Anlage 4, Bennecke, Die Reichswehr und der “Rohm-Putsch”, p. 85. Another senior
officer suggested Heines’ word of honor was worthless: 11 April 1957, Patzig,
Admiral a.D., “Betrifft: Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934”, SAM STAW 28794, p. 2.
Kleist reported to Fritsch: O’Neill, The German Army and the Nazi Party, 1933-
1939, p. 47.
20. 29 June 1934, Reichswehrminister Generaloberst von Blomberg, “Die Wehrmacht im
Dritten Reich”, Volkischer Beobachter, press clipping, BAR 62 Sta 1/1230. Genuine
belief of many army officers in threat from SA: 3 June 1946, testimony of Jodl,
Internationaler Militargerichtshof Niirnberg, Der Prozess gegen die
Hauptkriegsverbrecher vor dem Internationalen Militérgerichtshof Niirnberg 14.
November 1945 — 1. Oktober 1946, (original edition Nuremberg, 1947, reprinted
Delphin Verlag, Munich, 1984), Vol. 15, p. 336; 7 July 1934, Gotthard Heinrici to
“Liebe Eltern, liebe Mutter Alice!”, BAMA N 265/149, pp. 1-7; Gotthard Heinrici,
“Der 30. Juni 1934.”, BA MA N 465/v. 4, pp. 1-6; 10 May 1957, “Das Verbrechen
des 30. Juni 1934 vor Gericht Generile hatten an finsteren Pline der SA keinen
Zweifel”, 8 Uhr-Blatt, press clipping, Stadtarchiv Miinchen ZA Pers R6hm.
Involvement of Fritsch, Blomberg and Reichenau in moves against SA: von Fallois,
Kalkiil und Illusion, pp. 84, 134-5. The claim that R6hm was expelled from various

retired officers’ organizations at the end of June seems to have originated in a story
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in the Austrian newspaper, Die Wiener Zeitung, as reported by the Swiss paper, Der
Bund: 7 July 1934, “Die Vorgidnge im Reich”, Der Bund, Nr. 310, press clipping,
BAR R 8034 I11/9255, p. 1.

21. Steps taken to ensure tension did not relax, including alleged SA murder lists and
“SA officer” appearing at Wehrkreiskommando VI: Hohne, Mordsache R6hm, p.
245. SA brought onto streets in Munich and Stuttgart: 23 June 1956, KD2 Munich,
“Vernehmungsniederschrift” (interrogation of Heinrich Kief3ling), SAM STAW
28794, pp. 1-3; 4 July 1956, Weil}, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag, Der
Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII
3324/55” to the 5. Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “Betreft:
Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen Beihilfe zum Mord
(Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934).”, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 46, pp.
58-59. Hohne suggests that some SA units alarmed by the steps being taken against
them took isolated action in self-defence, but that this was not known to those
directing the overall moves against the SA: Héhne, Mordsache Ro6hm, pp. 260-263.
Munich SA sent back to quarters: 6-10 May 1957, 13-14 May 1957, “PROTOKOLL
gefiihrt in 6ffentlicher Sitzung der 4. Tagung des Schwurgerichts beim Landgericht
Miinchen I in dem Strafverfahren gegen Dietrich Josef und Lippert Michael wegen
Beihilfe zum Totschlag”, SAM STAW 29791, p. 18. Schmid and Schneidhuber were
able to prove: 12 August 1949, Mrs. Martina Schmid, Nassenbeuren, to Staatsanwalt,
“Betrifft: Rohm-Revolte”, Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-Akten Band 2, pp. 1-4.
“Evidence” intended to force Hitler to act: Hohne, Mordsache R6hm, pp. 227, 239-240.

Hitler had told Lutze he would replace R6hm and Blomberg he would arrest R6hm:
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Hohne, Mordsache R6hm, pp. 239, 245-246. He allegedly told Ritter von Krausser: 27
May 1949, Karl Schreyer, Munich to Polizeiprasidium Miinchen, “Betreff: Vorgeschichte
und Ereignisse um den 30. Juni 1934.”, Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-Akten Band 57, pp.
7-8. Schreyer claimed Krausser told him this while they were in Columbia Prison in
Berlin together before Krausser’s execution. According to Schreyer, Krausser told him he
had met Hitler in Berlin on 28 June. Hitler had assured him that all differences with the
SA would be reconciled at the meeting in Bad Wiessee. Hitler was however already in
the Rhineland at the time of this reported meeting. Mrs. von Krausser on the other hand
remembered the conversation as taking place on 27 June, before Hitler left for the
Rhineland. She quoted Hitler as telling Krausser that he was the only one on whom he
could rely: “2. April 1935.”, (briefing note), BAR R 22/603, p. 5. On 29 June Hitler
called Goebbels to Bad Godesberg and revealed that he would be taking action against
R6hm on Saturday 30 June: Peter Longerich, Joseph Goebbels: Biographie (Siedler,
Munich, 2010), p. 267.
22. SA largely leaderless and defenceless: 4 July 1956, Weil3, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im
Auftrag, Der Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I,
“VIII 3324/55” to the 5. Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “Betreft:
Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen Beihilfe zum Mord
(Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934).”, Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-Akten Band 46, p.
56; 14 May 1949, Robert Bergmann, Altdorf to the Generalstaatsanwaltschaft
Miinchen zu Hianden des Herrn Staatsanwaltes Weiss, SAM STAW 28793, p. 5.
23. Hitler flew to Munich: 4 July 1956, Weil3, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag, Der

Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII
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3324/55” to the 5. Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “Betreft:
Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen Beihilfe zum Mord
(Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934).”, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 46, pp.
60-61. The orders issued relating to 30 June were ordered to be destroyed. Some
police orders survive in the files of the Landespolizeiinspektion Siidwest, BA MA
RH 57/9, and BHSA/KA Landespolizei Miinchen Bd. 1, and the military measures
ordered on 30 June can be traced in BA MA RH 26-7/397a. The account of the
arrests and executions across the country is taken from Héhne, Mordsache R6hm,
passim; Otto Gritschneder, “Der Fiihrer hat Sie zum Tode verurteilt . . .”. Hitlers
“Réhm-Putsch”-Morde vor Gericht (C. H. Beck, Munich, 1993), passim. For the
purge in Saxony, see Andreas Wagner, Mutschmann gegen von Killinger:
Konfliktlinien zwischen Gauleiter und SA-Fiihrer wiahrend des Aufstiegs der NSDAP
und der »Machtergreifung« im Freistaat Sachsen (Sax-Verlag Beucha, Beucha,
2001), pp. 133-8, and Bert Wawrzinek, Manfred von Killinger: ein politischer Soldat
zwischen Freikorps und Auswértigem Amt (Deutsche Verlagsgesellschaft, Preussisch
Oldendorf, 2003), pp. 200-7. On Crown Prince Rupprecht, and General von Lossow,
see respectively: 26 June 1934, comment written [presumably by von Epp] on 19
June 1934, Lammers to von Epp, “St.S. Nr. 1531/34. Personlich!”, BHSA/II RS 788,
pp. 1-2; Weip, Kronprinz Rupprecht von Bayern (1869-1955), pp. 285-286; Endres,
memoirs, BHSA/KA HS 925, p. 71.
24. 10 October 1949, Hermann Esser, “Eidesstattliche Erklarung”, SAM STAW 28793,

p. 2.
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25. 10 October 1949, Hermann Esser, “Fidesstattliche Erklarung”, SAM STAW 28793,
p. 2.
26. Epp’s intervention with Hitler and Hitler’s promise: undated handwritten paper by
Prince von Ysenburg, “Betreff: Mordaktion vom 30.VIL.34.”, Gritschneder Papiere
Rohm-Akten Band 2, pp. 2, 4-7. Ysenburg described Hitler as emerging from the
meeting literally “with riven colour” (“mit zerrissener Farbe”). Epp”’s official diary
recorded that he met Hitler at 10 a.m. on 30 June and farewelled Hitler at the airport
at 6.00 p.m.: entry for 30 June 1934, 1934 Tagebuch, BHSA/II RS 65, pp. 33-34.
Sparing R6hm for the sake of his mother: 10 October 1949, Hermann Esser,
“Eidesstattliche Erklarung”, SAM STAW 28793, p. 3. On Hitler’s concern for
Rohm’s mother, see also: 5 July 1934, signature (Siebert), Bayerische
Ministerprasident, unheaded note, BHSA/II MA 107579. Epp also telephoned Hitler
on 30 June to protest: 18 August 1949, Walter Kurreck, Dusseldorf, “Betr.: R6hm
Putsch.”, SAM STAW 28793, p. 2. General Hans Doerr claimed that Epp had evaded
Munich army commander General Adam’s attempts to contact him on 29 June out of
a desire not to be caught on the wrong side: 15 June 1954, Hans Doerr, Madrid, to
Dr. Krausnick, IfZ ZS 28, p. 1. Epp protested to Frick at the excesses: 4 July 1934,
von Epp, handwritten “R.In.Mi Dr. Frick vorgetragen E”, BDC 402 R6hm
Roéhmputsch Reichstagsbrand, pp. i-iv.
27. This account of developments inside Stadelheim on the evening of 30 June 1934 is
taken from 30 June 1934, Koch, Direktion der Strafvollstreckungsgefangnisses,
“Niederschrift.”, Stadelheim prison records; 18 January 1949, signature,

Oberregierungsrat, der Vorstand der Strafanstalten Miinchen to Staatsanwalt Dr.
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Worle, “Mit 20 Beilagen: Abschriften an dem Geheimakt: Besondere Vorkommnisse
im Strafvollstreckungsgefingnis Miinchen am 30.6.u.1.7. (Sduberungsaktion
Rohm).”, Beilage 1, “Geheim!”, 30 June 1934, Koch, Wagner, “Abschrift”,
Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 1; 4 July 1956, WeiB, Erster Staatsanwalt,
Im Auftrag, Der Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des Landgerichts
Miinchen I, “VIII 3324/55(4) Betreff: Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und
Michael Lippert wegen Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934).
Schwurgerichtsanklage”, Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-Akten Band 10, pp. 68-69.
See also 25 January 1949, Dr. Robert Koch, “laJs 68/49.”,
“Vernehmungsniederschrift.”, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 15, p. 3; 1
June 1949, Friedrich Dbig, Oberlandesgerichtsrat Niirnberg to Herrn
Generalstaatsanwalt bei dem Oberlandesgericht Miinchen, “Betreff: Mordaktion vom
30. Juni 1934.”, SAM STAW 28793, pp. 1-4.
28. Quoted in Fest, Face of the Third Reich, p. 224. Weiss considered that Frank would
not have had the time to see Rohm: 4 July 1956, Weil3, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im
Auftrag, Der Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I,
“VIII 3324/55(4) Betreff: Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und Michael Lippert
wegen Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934).
Schwurgerichtsanklage”, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 10 (IfZ Fa 442/5
X), p. 68 note 1; 1 June 1949, Friedrich Dobig, Oberlandesgerichtsrat Niirnberg to
Herrn Generalstaastanwalt bei dem Oberlandesgericht Miinchen, “Betreft:

Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934.”, SAM STAW 28793, p. 2.
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29. The executions at Stadelheim that evening: 4 July 1956, Weil3, Erster Staatsanwalt,
Im Auftrag, Der Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des Landgerichts
Miinchen I, “VIII 3324/55(4) Betreff: Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und
Michael Lippert wegen Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934).
Schwurgerichtsanklage”, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 10 (IfZ Fa 442/5
X), pp. 68-69. Selig speculates that Spreti’s execution was Walter Buch’s revenge
for the failure of the Horn-Danzeisen plot in 1932 and Spreti’s role in putting a stop
to it: Wolfram Selig, “Ermordert im Namen des Fiihrers. Die Opfer des R6hm-
Putsches in Miinchen”, Sonderdruck aus Staat, Kultur, Politik — Beitrdge zur
Geschichte Bayerns und des Katholizismus Festschrift zum 65. Geburtstag von
Dieter Albrecht (Verlag Michael LaBleben, Kallmiinz/Opf., 1992), p. 344. Spreti had
reassured conservatives SA had no putsch plans: Joachim Petzold, Franz von Papen:
Ein deutsches Verhdngnis (Buchverlag Union, Munich, 1995), p. 289.
30. Quoted in 4 July 1956, Weil3, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag, Der
Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII
3324/55(4) Betreff: Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen
Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934). Schwurgerichtsanklage”,
Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 10 (IfZ Fa 442/5 X), p. 69. Spreti’s note
was received by his family: Wolfram Selig, “Ermordert im Namen des Fiihrers. Die
Opfer des Rohm-Putsches in Miinchen”, Staat, Kultur, Politik, p. 344.
31. Details of the executions and the subsequent interment: 4 July 1956, Weil3, Erster
Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag, Der Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des

Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII 3324/55(4) Betreff: Strafverfahren gegen Josef
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Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni
1934). Schwurgerichtsanklage”, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 10 (IfZ Fa
442/5 X), pp. 69-70; 1997, Direktion des Vollstreckungsgefangnis Miinchen,
unheaded page, Stadelheim prison records.
32. Emilie R6hm may have rung Karl Zehnter who visited her: 14 June 1949, signatures,
unheaded report of statement of Maria Weinmayer, geb. Witt, SAM Pol.Dir.
Miinchen 10007, p. 1. Zehnter was shot on the street from Schwabenhausen to
Dachau, probably by members of the SS special commando of the Austrian Legion:
4 July 1956, WeiB3, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag Der Generalstaatsanwalt, an die
5. Stratkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII 3324/55 (GenStA) Betreff:
Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich, Michael Lippert, Dr. Werner Best und Karl
Albrecht Oberg wegen Beihilfe zum Totschlag (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934).”,
Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 10, p. 3. Marie Epp visited Emilie R6hm
and Lore Lippert on 1 July: 7 May 1949, Eleonore Lippert, Grolgmain to the
Generalstaatsanwalt Miinchen, Herr Staatsanwalt Weiss, SAM STAW 28793, p. 1.
33. Goring and Himmler persuaded Hitler to break his promise to Epp: Drs Graf, Bartsch,
Schlicker, das Schwurgericht beim Landgericht Miinchen I in der Strafsache gegen
Dietrich Josef und Lippert Michael wegen Beihilfe zum Totschlag, “Urteil:”, May
1957, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 13, p. 61; Kershaw, Hitler, p. 516;
Hohne, Mordsache R6hm, pp. 292-294. R6hm’s day on 1 July 1934: 6-10 May 1957,
13-14 May 1957, “PROTOKOLL gefiihrt in offentlicher Sitzung der 4. Tagung des
Schwurgerichts beim Landgericht Miinchen I in dem Strafverfahren gegen Dietrich

Josef und Lippert Michael wegen Beihilfe zum Totschlag”, Gritschneder Papiere
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Rohm-Akten Band 12, pp. 10-11. Lore Lippert visited R6hm’s cell: 25 January 1949,
Dr. Robert Koch, “1 a Js 68/49.”, “Vernechmungsniederschrift.”, Gritschneder
Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 1, p. 7. Lore Lippert learnt R6hm asked to speak to Hitler
and see her: Walther, Zum anderen Ufer, p. 526. Rohm tried unsuccessfully to cheer
up his fellow prisoners: 6-10 May 1957, 13-14 May 1957, “PROTOKOLL gefiihrt in
offentlicher Sitzung der 4. Tagung des Schwurgerichts beim Landgericht Miinchen I
in dem Strafverfahren gegen Dietrich Josef und Lippert Michael wegen Beihilfe zum
Totschlag”, SAM STAW 29791, p. 11; 4 September 1934, Siegel, “Das letzte
Kapitel zu dem Buch R6hm”s “Aus dem Leben eines Hochverréters”, SAM STAW
28793, pp. 4-5. Bergmann and Rohm’s mimed exchange: 14 May 1949, Robert
Bergmann, Altdorf to the Generalstaatsanwaltschaft Miinchen zu Héanden des Herrn
Staatsanwaltes Weiss, SAM STAW 28793, p. 8.
34. R6hm’s request and supper on 1 July 1934: 12 April 1957, Landerer, KK.,
Kriminalpolizei KD2, Polizeiprésidium Miinchen and Jakob Schlicher,
“Vernehmungsniederschrift”’, SAM STAW 28794 p. 1. Landespolizei surveillance
and orders: 4 July 1956, Weil3, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag, Der
Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII
3324/55(4) Betreff: Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen
Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934). Schwurgerichtsanklage”,
Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 10, p. 77. Eicke, Lippert and Schnausser
appeared and Eicke told Koch of his orders from Hitler: 1 July 1934, signature
(Koch), Direktion des Strafvollstreckungsgefangnisses, “Niederschrift.”, Stadelheim

prison records, pp. 1-2.



408
35. Koch'’s resistance overcome and events in Rohm”s cell: 4 July 1956, Weil3, Erster
Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag, Der Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des
Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII 3324/55(4) Betreff: Strafverfahren gegen Josef
Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni
1934). Schwurgerichtsanklage”, Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-Akten Band 10, p. 79.
Claim that slip of paper in cell: 7 March 1949, Walter Kopp, Sonthofen to the
Staatsanwaltschaft Miinchen I, BHSA/KA HS 2656.
36. 4 July 1956, Weil3, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag, Der Generalstaatsanwalt, an die
Stratkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII 3324/55(4) Betreff: Strafverfahren
gegen Josef Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion
vom 30. Juni 1934). Schwurgerichtsanklage”, Gritschneder Papiere RGhm-Akten
Band 10, p. 81 note 3; 22 June 1953, “Niederschrift aufgenommen vor dem
Untersuchungsrichter beim Landgericht Miinchen I in dem Untersuchungsverfahren
gegen Dietrich Josef und 3 A. wegen Verbrechens des Totschlags u.a.”, Gritschneder
Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 57, pp. 1-4. R6hm’s family believed he refused to
commit suicide because this would have implied an admission of guilt: Library of
Congress Recorded Sound Section RYH 8616 John Toland Collection Interview with
Robert and Annalies R6hm on 14 October 1971 at Socking.
37. 8 May 1957, “In der Todeszelle 474 Zeugen sagen aus: so wurde R6hm erschossen”,
Bild-Zeitung, press clipping in BHSA/KA HS 2656. See also the eyewitness account
of Kopp in 27 May 1953, “Niederschrift aufgenommen vor dem
Untersuchungsrichter beim Landgericht Miinchen I in dem Untersuchungsverfahren

gegen Sepp Dietrich u.A. wegen Totschlags bzw. Mordes.”, Gritschneder Papiere
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Rohm-Akten Band 6, pp. 1-4; 4 July 1956, WeiB3, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag,
Der Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII
3324/55(4) Betreff: Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen
Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934). Schwurgerichtsanklage”,
Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-Akten Band 10, p. 81 note 3.
38. Testimony of Johann Miihlbauer, who was a Landespolizei witness of the killing, at
the 1957 trial: quoted in 14 May 1957, ““ “ErschieBungen sind unangenchm, aber sie
miissen sein” Lippert am Schlufitag des R6hm-Prozesses schwer belastet”,
Stiddeutsche Zeitung, Nr. 115, press clipping, Stadtarchiv Miinchen ZA Pers. R6hm.
One SS officer entered the room and shot Rohm again: 4 July 1956, Weil3, Erster
Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag, Der Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des
Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII 3324/55(4) Betreff: Strafverfahren gegen Josef
Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni
1934). Schwurgerichtsanklage”, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 10, p. 81.
Rohm’s corpse had three shots: 4 July 1956, WeiB3, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag,
Der Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII
3324/55(4) Betreff: Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen
Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934). Schwurgerichtsanklage”,
Gritschneder Papiere R6hm-Akten Band 10, p. 82. Eicke forbade medical help for
Rohm and Eicke and the SS left taking prisoners to Dachau. The four prisoners (SA-
Standartenfiihrer Hans Schweighardt, SA-Obersturmfiihrer Max Vogel, SA-
Obertruppfiihrer Erich Schieweck and SA- Rottenfiihrer Edmund Neumayer) were

shot the same night: 4 July 1956, Weil, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag, Der
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Generalstaatsanwalt, an die Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII
3324/55(4) Betreff: Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen
Beihilfe zum Mord (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934). Schwurgerichtsanklage”,
Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 10, pp. 81-82. Prison records recorded 6.00
p-m. on 1 July: undated, Strafvollstreckungsgeféangnis Miinchen, “Betreff:
Sauberungsaktion.”, SAM St Anw 28792, p. 2. His body was put in a coffin and
buried: 4 July 1956, Weil}, Erster Staatsanwalt, Im Auftrag, Der Generalstaatsanwalt,
an die Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII 3324/55(4) Betreff:
Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und Michael Lippert wegen Beihilfe zum Mord
(Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934). Schwurgerichtsanklage”, Gritschneder Papiere
Roéhm-Akten Band 10 p. 82; 1997, Direktion des Vollstreckungsgefangnis Miinchen,
unheaded page, Stadelheim prison records.
39. Hitler promised Hindenburg: 27 May 1949, Karl Schreyer, Munich to
Polizeiprasidium Miinchen, “Betreff: Vorgeschichte und Ereignisse um den 30. Juni
1934.”, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 57, p. 10. Wolff claimed that Hitler
originated the stop order: “Niederschrift zu Unterredungen des ehem. SS-
Obergruppenfiihrers und Generals der Waffen-SS, Karl Friedrich Otto Wolff, geb.
13.5.1900, Biiroadresse: Koln, Deichmannhaus, Universalanzeigesgeschéft,
Familienadresse: Kempfenhausen 27, Post Percha bei Starnberg mit Herrn Dr.
Hermann Mau, Generalsekretir des Instituts fiir Zeitgeschichte Miinchen. Die
Unterredungen fanden am 7./8. Sept. 1952 in Kampen/Sylt statt.”, IfZ ZS 317/1, p.
10. Schreyer’s life was saved: 27 May 1949, Karl Schreyer, Munich to

Polizeiprédsidium Miinchen, “Betreff: Vorgeschichte und Ereignisse um den 30. Juni
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1934.”, Gritschneder Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 57, p. 10. Dachau records back-
dated the deaths: 7 June 1949, Schwarzmann, Biirgermeister, Prittlbach, to the
Stadtrat Miinchen Polizeiprasidium Kriminaluntersuchungsabteilung, “Betreff:
30.6.1934 (R6hmputsch);”, SAM Pol.Dir. Miinchen 10007, pp 1-3. Stadelheim
records indicate: 18 January 1949, signature, Oberregierungsrat, der Vorstand der
Strafanstalten Miinchen to Staatsanwalt Dr. Worle, Beilage 7, “Abschrift
Strafvollstreckungsgefiangnis Miinchen. Betreff: Sduberungsaktion.”, Gritschneder
Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 1, p. 2. The men were transferred at 3.30 a.m. on 2 July,
which was after the last execution in Berlin. They were then killed in Dachau: 4 July
1956, WeiB, Erster Staatsanwalt, i.A. Auftrag, Der Generalstaatsanwalt, an die 5
Strafkammer des Landgerichts Miinchen I, “VIII 3324/55(GenStA) Betreft:
Strafverfahren gegen Josef Dietrich und Michael Lippert, Dr. Werner Best und Karl
Albrecht Oberg wegen Totschlags (Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934).”, Gritschneder
Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 46, note 1 p. 82. Siegel”s evidence also indicates that the
men were not transferred until 2 July: 4 September 1934, Siegel, “Das letzte Kapitel
zu dem Buch R6hm’s “Aus dem Leben eines Hochverriters”, SAM STAW 28793, p.
11.
40. Money and goods returned to their relatives: see for example 18 July 1934, signature
(A? Schneidhuber), “Empfangsbestitigung”, SAM Pol.Dir. Miinchen 8547. R6hm
left behind: 5 July 1934, signature, “Empfangsbescheinigung iiber 5 groBe
Couvertpackungen.”, SAM Pol.Dir. Miinchen 8547.
41. Wagner’s order of 10 July: 19 July 1934, signature i.V., Polizeidirektion, “I.
Vormerkung”, SAM Pol.Dir. Miinchen 8547, pp. 1-2. The details of the release of
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Rohm’s ashes, the burial and the surveillance of the grave are all based on private
information from the R6hm family. The burial took place on 21 July 1934: 13
September 1997, Richter, 1.V. Evang. Luth. Kirchengemeindeamt Miinchen, letter to
the author.
42. 16 July 1934, “Todes-Anzeige”, SAM Amtsgericht Miinchen Nr. 1934/1767. He died
without a will and left an estate: 16 July 1934, Dr. Erich O. Trotter to the
Amtsgericht Miinchen Nachlassgericht, SAM Amtsgericht Miinchen Nr. 1934/1767,
p. 2; and Frau R6hm’s answers, undated, are on 9 July 1934, Amtsgericht Miinchen
Vormundschafts- und NachlaBgericht to Frau Emilie Henr. R6hm, Munich, SAM
Amtsgericht Miinchen Nr. 1934/1767, pp 1-2; 1 November 1935, Robert Rohm, “I.
BeschluB3”, SAM Amtsgericht Miinchen Nr. 1934/1767, pp. 1-2. On page 1 of this
document the estate is listed as RM 40,000. On R6hm’s estate, see also papers on
BHSA/II MA 107579. Initially his entire estate was confiscated: 16 July 1934, Dr.
Erich O. Trotter to the Amtsgericht Miinchen Nachlassgericht, SAM Amtsgericht
Miinchen Nr. 1934/1767, p. 1. Books removed from circulation: 30 August 1934,
telegram from Bayer. Polit. Polizei to Geheime Staatspolizeiamt Berlin, and other
papers all in BAR R 58/935.
43. Quoted in Library of Congress Recorded Sound Section RYH 8616 John Toland
Collection Interview with Robert and Annalies R6hm on 14 October 1971 at
Socking. The Amtsgericht ruling: 1 February 1935, Amtsgericht Miinchen als
Nachlafigericht, “Erbschein”, SAM Amtsgericht Miinchen Nr. 1934/1767, p. 1.
Emilie Rohm died on 6 January 1935: “Todes Anzeige”, SAM AG-Nr. Miinchen Nr.

1935/115, p. 1; 13 September 1997, “Wortwortlicher Auszug aus dem
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Beerdigungsbuch der Evang.-Luth. Pfarrei St Matthdus, Miinchen aus dem Jahre
1935 Seite 226 Nr. 4 Nr. 230/97/RN”; 2 April 1935, “Roéhms Mutter gestorben”,
Prester Lloyd, Nr. 75, press clipping in BHSA/V Slg P 3653. Emilie R6hm’s heart
trouble, medical treatment and death: private information from the R6hm family. The
family fell under suspicion: Library of Congress Recorded Sound Section RYH 8616
John Toland Collection Interview with Robert and Annalies R6hm on 14 October
1971 at Socking.
44. In his Reichstag speech Hitler spoke of a plot in connection with a foreign power:
Hitler’s speech to the Reichstag on 13 July 1934, Domarus, Hitler Speeches and
Proclamations, Volume One, pp. 495-6; Library of Congress Recorded Sound
section, John Toland, interview with André Francois-Poncet. Hitler’s comments to
the Cabinet on 3 July: Dr. Thomsen, “Niederschrift {iber die Ministerbesprechung am
3. Juli 1934 vorm. 10 Uhr.”, BAR R 431/1469, pp. 2-3. See also Hitler’s later
comments on R6hm in a speech to Kreisleiter in Vogelsang, 29 April 1937, quoted in
Domarus, Hitler Speeches and Proclamations 1932-1945 Volume One, p. 501 and
note 177 p. 606.
45. Von Salomon, The “Fragebogen”, p. 271. Hitler’s claims: Dr. Thomsen,
“Niederschrift iiber die Ministerbesprechung am 3. Juli 1934 vorm. 10 Uhr.”, BAR
R 431/1469, pp. 4-6. The incoherence and contradictions of the various explanations
of the move against the SA are noted in Bracher et al, Die nationalsozialistische
Machtergreifung, pp. 945-6.
46. Dr. Thomsen, “Niederschrift iiber die Ministerbesprechung am 3. Juli 1934 vorm. 10
Uhr.”, BAR R 431/1469, pp. 4-6.
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47. Dr. Thomsen, “Niederschrift iiber die Ministerbesprechung am 3. Juli 1934 vorm. 10
Uhr.”, BAR R 431/1469, p. 5. Hitler may have felt the pressure from R6hm for a
continuing role for the SA as a form of blackmail: Bracher et al, Die
nationalsozialistische Machtergreifung, p. 947. Machtan’s claim that R6hm and
those around him may have been blackmailing Hitler privately: Machtan, Hitlers
Geheimnis, p. 248. On this theory: 25 November 2001, Geoffrey J. Giles, “Fuehrer
Fantasy” (review of Lothar Machtan, The Hidden Hitler), The Washington Post, pp.
4-5; Hans Mommsen, “Viel Larm um nichts”, Die Zeit, 42, 2001, pp. 1-4, accessed at
http://zeus.zeit.de/text/archiv/2001/42/200142_p-mommsen.xml 2/10/2005.
48. Dr. Thomsen, “Niederschrift iiber die Ministerbesprechung am 3. Juli 1934 vorm. 10
Uhr”, BAR R 431/1469, p. 8. Hindenburg’s telegram of congratulations to Hitler: 2
July 1934, Hindenburg to Hitler, BAR R 43 11/1202.
49. Initial National Socialist press reporting emphasized the SA leaders’ homosexuality
rather than the putsch plans and treason stressed by Hitler in his Reichstag speech on
13 July: Jamin, “Das Ende der “Machtergreifung” “, in Michalka (ed.) Die
nationalsozialistische Machtergreifung, pp. 210-212. Du Moulin-Eckart was arrested
in the evening of 30 June 1934 in Wiesbaden but an accident delayed his arrival in
Berlin until 2 July: Graf Carl Léon Du Moulin-Eckart, “Mein Lebenslauf 1921 bis
1946.”, IfZ Sp. 2/1, pp. 4-5; 7 October 1947, Karl Mandl, Munich, to the
Offentlichen Kliger bei der Spruchkammer Neuburg/a.d.D., “Betrifft: Dr. jur. Carl
Léon Graf Du Moulin-Eckart auf Bertoldsheim Schlof3 Bertolsheim-/Post
Rennertshofen. geb. 11.1.1900, wegen Verf.n.d. Befr.geb.”, IfZ Sp. 2/1, p. 2. He was

acquitted of charges of procuring for Rohm in the trial of Granninger, Prosch and
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others: papers in SAM Pol. Dir. Miinchen 11998. Du Moulin-Eckart was imprisoned
in Dachau concentration camp until December 1936 and was under constant
surveillance until 1945: H.H. (Heinrich Himmler), “Geheim”, Fiihrer vorgetragen am
6.V1.1936.”, BAK NS 19/882; Graf Carl Léon Du Moulin-Eckart, “Mein Lebenslauf
1921 bis 1946.”, IfZ Sp. 2/1, pp. 5-7. In some cases senior SS leaders deliberately
delayed the transfer of SA prisoners and thereby saved their lives: Gritschneder,
“Der Fiihrer hat Sie zum Tode verurteilt . . .”, p. 108. Tightening of laws against
male homosexuality and increased SS and police persecution of male homosexuals:
see papers on BAR R 22/973, 854 and 865; Evans, The Third Reich in Power 1933-
1939, pp. 531-535; Jellonnek, Homosexuelle unter dem Hakenkreuz, section 6.1.3
passim.

50. SS officer killed as a result of SS feud: Héhne, Mordsache R6hm, pp. 284-5. Some
SS men were executed for offences against SS discipline: Hohne, Mordsache R6hm,
pp- 286-7. Karl Wolff recalled that Reiner and Bergmann’s lives were protected
because they were in the SS: “Niederschrift zu Unterredungen des ehem. SS-
Obergruppenfiihrers und Generals der Waffen-SS, Karl Friedrich Otto Wolff, geb.
13.5.1900, Biiroadresse: Koln, Deichmannhaus, Universalanzeigesgeschéft,
Familienadresse: Kempfenhausen 27, Post Percha bei Starnberg mit Herrn Dr.
Hermann Mau, Generalsekretir des Instituts fiir Zeitgeschichte Miinchen. Die
Unterredungen fanden am 7./8. Sept. 1952 in Kampen/Sylt statt.”, IfZ ZS 317/1, p.
10. Bergmann himself was aware of this: 14 May 1949, Robert Bergmann, Altdorf to
the Generalstaatsanwaltschaft Miinchen zu Handen des Herrn Staatsanwaltes Weiss,

SAM STAW 28793, p. 8. On the subsequent fates of the two see papers in BAR
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ehem. BDC SSO I Bergmann Robert 5.5.86; BAR ehem. BDC SSO II Bergmann
Robert 5.5.86; BAR ehem. BDC SL 67 Reiner, Rolf 2.1.99; BAR ehem. BDC SSO
Reiner, Rolf 2.1.99; undated unsigned note, “SS-Gruppenfiihrer Reiner”, BAK NS
23 alt/739.

51. Quoted in Orlow, The History of the Nazi Party 1919-1933, note 160 p. 218. On the
Nazi paranoid view and the way this worked to convince other members of the
leadership R6hm was plotting: Browder, Foundations of the Nazi Police State, pp.
140, 142-143. SA bluster and wild talk: Bessel, Political Violence and the Rise of
Nazism, pp. 131-132, 145-146. Generaldirektor Neubacher, leader of the Deutsch-
Osterreichischer Volksbund, believed Habicht blocked the Austrian SA from

advising R6hm accurately about developments in Austria: 18 June 1934, “No. 17

The Inspector of the National Socialist Party in Austria, Habicht, to Counsellor of
Legation Hiiffer”, Documents on German Foreign Policy 1918-1945 Series C
(1933-1937) The Third Reich: First Phase Volume III June 14, 1934-March 31, 1935
(Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, London, 1959), p. 47. See also 19 June 1934,
“Geheim!”, unheaded paper beginning “Ueber die Lage in Oesterreich erhalte ich
nachstehende Berichte:”, BA MA RW 5/ v. 419. p. 1. R6hm’s entertaining: 28 June
1949, Wilhelm Stolzle to Staatsanwalt Karl Weiss, Generalstaatsanwaltschaft
Munich, “Betr. Ihr Nummer 3263 Mordaktion vom 30. Juni 1934, Gritschneder
Papiere Rohm-Akten Band 4a, pp. 5-8. Biilow urged R6hm to attend a diplomatic
dinner: 26 January 1934, “No. 220 Memorandum by the State Secretary”, Documents
on German Foreign Policy 1918-1945 Series C (1933-1937) The Third Reich: First
Phase Volume III June 14, 1934-March 31, 1935, p. 422. The Neurath-Frangois-



417
Poncet exchange: 5 July 1934, von Neurath, “No. 64 Memorandum by the Foreign
Minister”, Documents on German Foreign Policy 1918-1945 Series C (1933-1937)
The Third Reich: First Phase Volume III June 14, 1934-March 31, 1935 (Her
Majesty’s Stationery Office, London, 1959), pp. 134-135.
52. Positive public response inside Germany: 5 July 1934, Dr. Nockemann,
Staatspolizeistelle fiir den Regierungsbezirk Aachen an das Geheime
Staatspolizeiamt in Berlin, “Betrifft: Lagebericht.”, BAR R 58/660, p. 1-3; “[Nr. 3]
Juni/Juli 1934, Deutschland-Berichte der Sozialdemokratischen Partei
Deutschlands (Sopade) 1934-1940 Erster Jahrgang 1934 (Verlag Petra Nettelbeck,
Salzhausen, 1980), pp. 191-204, 248-267; Jamin, “Das Ende der “Machtergreifung”
“, Michalka (ed.), Die nationalsozialistische Machtergreifung, pp. 207-219. The
purge also carried the message of the regime’s willingness to stay in power:
“Ansprache des Reichsfiihrers-SS vor den Beamten und Angestellten des Geheimen
Polizeiamtes am 11. Oktober 1934.”, BAK NS 19/4002, p. 1; Jamin, “Das Ende der
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“Machtergreifung” “, Michalka (ed.) Die nationalsozialistische Machtergreifung, p.
210. Foreign opinion more reserved: 23 July 1934, von Hassell to von Neurath, BAR
R0901/60952, pp. 2, 3; 19 July 1934, von Bergen, Deutsche Botschaft beim Heiligen
Stuhl an das Auswértige Amt, Berlin, “Nr. 301 Betrifft: “Avvenire d”’Italia” {iber die
Rede des Herrn Reichskanzlers.”, BAR R4311/1448, pp. 1, 2; 19 July 1934, Graf
Adelmann to das Auswirtige Amt, Berlin, “A. Nr. 241 Inhalt: Pressestimmen zur
Reichskanzlerrede.”, BAR R4311/1426, p. 1; 8 August 1934, von Hassell, Deutsche
Botschaft, Rome, “I. 934. Politischer Bericht. Inhalt: Die Entwicklung der deutsch-

italienischen Beziehungen und das osterreichische Problem.”, BAR R4311/1448, pp.
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4, 10-11; Phipps diary entries for 2 July 1934, 4 July 1934, 11 July 1934 and 17 July
1934, Our Man in Berlin, pp.61-2, 62-4, 65-6, 66-8, respectively.
53. Disarmament of the SA: “Liste der bis 21.8.34 als abgeliefert gemeldeten Waffen.”;
11 December 1934, signature, Niirnberg, “Empfangs-Schein”; “Aus Beschlagnahme
der Standarte R/37 WeiBBenburg”: 8 December 1934, signature, Oberwachtmeister
d.L.P., Niirnberg, , “Empfangsschein”, all in BHSA/KA Landespolizei Niirnberg-
Fiirth Bund 2; 28 August 1934, signature, Artl. Fiihrer (Bayer.) VII an das Wkdo
VII, “Betr.: Ablieferung d. Waffen der SA-Obergruppe 117, BA MA RH 26-7/377,
pp. 1-2; papers on BA MA RH 57/9, BHSA/II MA 107579 and M Inn 72426. Large
numbers disciplined and reduction in numbers: Longerich, Die braunen Bataillone,
pp. 222-223. SA ministerial and political offices dissolved: 14 July 1934, Lutze, Der
Chef des Stabes, Der Oberste SA-Fiihrer, “Ch. Nr. 17909 Betrifft: Auflésung von
Amtern der Obersten SA- Fiihrung.”, BAK Slg Schumacher/403. By January 1935
the Chef des Ausbildungswesens organization was being wound up: 24 January
1935, Adolf Hitler, der Fiihrer und Reichskanzler, to Oberrgruppenfiihrer Kriiger,
“Nr. 279/35 g.k.Ls I.a.”, BAR ehem. BDC O 421 SA — Chef A.W. A-H. Special
representatives and plenipotentiaries abolished: 10 July 1934, Lutze, Der Chef des
Stabes, Der Oberste SA-Fiihrer, “Ch/P Nr. 17432 Betr.: Sonderbevollméchtigte der
Obersten SA- Fiihrung.”, BHSA/II MA 105256. SA acquitted as a criminal
organization at Nuremberg: 28 August 1946, Dr. Bohm, defence attorney for the SA,
Der Prozess gegen die Hauptkriegsverbrecher vor dem Internationalen
Militargerichtshof Niirnberg 14. November 1945 — 1. Oktober 1946 , Vol. 22, p. 160;
judgement of the International Military Tribunal on the SA, 1 October 1946, Der
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Prozess gegen die Hauptkriegsverbrecher vor dem Internationalen
Militargerichtshof Niirnberg 14. November 1945 — 1. Oktober 1946, Vol. 1, pp. 307-
309. Lutze’s resentment; 21 August 1935, signatures, Stettin, “Bericht!”, BAK Slg
Schumacher/402, pp. 1-6; 29 July 1935, signatures, SS-Standartenfiihrer,
Polizeibehérde Hamburg to Geheime Staatspolizeiamt Hamburg, z.Hd.d. SS-
Gruppenfiihrer Heydrich, “Geheim! Personlich!”, BAK Slg Schumacher/402. SS
filled roles: Bracher et al, Die nationalsozialistische Machtergreifung, p. 686.
54. Austrian SA only involved in periphery of planning for putsch: Jagschitz, Der Putsch,
pp. 84-5. Historians’ disagreements about whether Hitler knew of the putsch ahead
of time: Gerhard L. Weinberg, “Die deutsche AuBenpolitik und Osterreich 1937/38”,
and “Diskussion zu den Beitragen Weinberg, Kindermann”, in Gerald Stourzh and
Birgitta Zaar (eds), Osterreich, Deutschland und die Michte: Internationale und
Osterreichische Aspekte des “Anschlusses” vom Mirz 1938 (Verlag der
Osterreichischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, Vienna, 1990), pp. 62-63 and 97-
110 respectively. An entry in Goebbels’ diary suggests the putsch attempt had
support from the Nazi regime: Longerich, Joseph Goebbels: Biographie, p. 270.
Schaussberger claims the Austrian SA leader Reschny told Hitler at the beginning of
June that the plan would not work: Norbert Schaussberger, Der Griff nach
Osterreich: Der Anschluss (Jugend und Volk, Vienna, 1978), pp. 287-288. Ross
writes of a SA boycott of the putsch: Ross, Hitler und Dollful3, p. 216. The Austrian
SA in Vienna sat out the putsch: Evans, The Third Reich in Power 1933-1939, p.
621. SA involved in uprisings in the provinces: Gottfried-Karl Kindermann, Hitlers

Niederlage in Osterreich: Bewaffneter NS-Putsch, Kanzlermord und Osterreichs
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Abwehrsieg von 1934 (Hoffmann und Campe, Hamburg, 1984), pp. 159-166, 254-
256.
55. Evans, The Third Reich in Power 1933-1939, pp. 42-43, 110-117; Karl Otmar
Freiherr von Aretin, “Der Eid auf Hitler: eine Studie zum moralischen Verfall des
Offizierkorps der Reichswehr”, Kunz and Vogt (eds), Nation, Staat und Demokratie
in Deutschland, pp. 175-194.
56. 10 March 1953, von Pfeffer, Munich to Institut fiir Zeitgeschichte, IfZ ZS 177 Bd 1,
p. 1. See also von Pfeffer’s hand-written comments in IfZ ZS 1777 Bd. II. Stennes
too saw Hitler as the driving force behind the moves against Rohm: 12 November
1956, Stennes to Krausnick, Institut fiir Zeitgeschichte, IfZ ZS 1147 1, p. 4.
57. Kershaw, Hitler, p. 530.
CHAPTER" 16: CONCLUSION: ROHM AND THE MYTH OF ROHM
1. Walther, Zum anderen Ufer, p. 511. This account of Gerda Walther’s visions of
Rohm and her contacts with his family is based on Walther, Zum anderen Ufer, pp.
509-537. The R6hm family confirmed the contacts to me.
2. Walther, Zum anderen Ufer, p. 529. The practice continued in the Third Reich even
though the grave was under surveillance: information from the R6hm family.
3. The SA as the first resistance to Nazism: see 2 August 1946, Nuremberg, former SA-
Brigadefiihrer Adolf Freund to Rechtsanwalt Dr. B6hm, “Betr.: Aktiver Widerstand
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